PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA

IGBE, MICHAEL ADIKPE

MATRICULATION NUMBER: 155096

MARCH, 2012

PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA

BY

IGBE, MICHAEL ADIKPE

B.Sc. Zoology (JOS), M.Sc. Applied Entomology & Parasitology (JOS)

Matriculation Number: 155096

A dissertation in the Department of Surgery

Submitted to the Faculty of Clinical Sciences, College of Medicine,

in partial fulfilment of the requirements

For the award of degree of

Masters of Science in Bioethics

of the

UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN, NIGERIA.

MARCH, 2012

PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA

A DISSERTATION IN THE DEPARTMENT OF SURGERY SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, COLLEGE OF MEDICINE,

UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN, NIGERIA.

IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE AWARD OF DEGREE OF

MASTERS OF SCIENCE IN BIOETHICS

BY

IGBE, MICHAEL ADIKPE

UNIVERSITY OF IBADAN, NIGERIA

FEBRUARY, 2012



Supervisor

Professor Clement Adebamowo

BM ChB Hons., FWACS, FACS, D.Sc.

Chairman, National Health Research Ethics Committee (NHREC),

Director, Center for Bioethics, Ibadan, Nigeria

Professor V.O. Adegboye, FMCS, FWACS.

Head of Department

ABSTRACT

Biological samples—such as tissues, blood and cells—are an increasingly important tool for research into human diseases and their genetic and physiological causes. To ease their storage and access, many of these samples are now stored in biobanks. Biobank has just been set up in Nigeria to collect samples for non-communicable diseases research and future researches.

This increased use of biobanking raises several ethical questions which have not been previously adequately explored in Nigeria. Against this backdrop, It became pertinent to get the perspectives of Nigerians on informed consent, confidentiality, secondary use of samples and data over time, return of results and feedback for non-communicable disease research and future research and specimens and data sharing with other biobanks. The use of this specimens and data was described in the consent form so that prospective participants can make informed decisions on how they wish to participate and how their body biological samples as well as data will be used in this research. The specific objectives are to assess Nigerians' public knowledge, attitude and willingness to participate in biobanking research in Nigeria; to explore the understanding of Nigerian public on modern informed consent and perception of the types of consent procedures that is required for biobanking research in Nigeria and the factors that influence it; to determine the public perspectives on secondary use of samples and data, access to medical records, attitude to sharing biospecimens with commercial and non commercial entities, return of result.

The principle of respect for persons would require that biobank policies be informed by the opinions of those for whom the guidelines are being established. This is the first study on prospective research participation perspectives on the collection, storage and use of blood samples for biobank research in Nigeria which elicited the perspectives of a diverse group of individuals.

This study used qualitative research methods, and conducted 16 Focus Group Discussions and Key Informant Interviews with members of the general public, including people from major and minority ethnic groups, and from people of wideranging ages, socio-economic groups in Kano, Enugu, Oyo States and the FCT using topic guides and prompt statements that outline general issues on biobanking of biospecimens. The principle was to explore unprompted knowledge and understanding, then elicit response to facts spelled out in the prompt material. Purposive sampling method was used to select the key informant interview participants. It is often used in qualitative studies to identify groups of people with specific characteristics or circumstances. The purposive sample size was determined on the basis of theoretical saturation, when new data no longer bring additional insights to the research topic. The FGD participants were selected by contact persons in the states.

The results showed that majority of the participants had limited knowledge of biobanking research, but had good knowledge of non-communicable diseases and were willing to donate their specimens for it. A majority of the participants were however, not aware of the risks that may be associated with biobank research. Majority of the discussants supported giving broad consent for the use of their blood and tissue samples for the research. A few participants were particular on the proper observance of the country's law on material transfer agreement to protect their interest as specimens are shared with commercial and non commercial entities and would like a feedback of such collaborations.

The majority view of the participants is to be given general feedback and individual

results even if something serious were discovered about their health. A few participants

would want the biobank to specify the future uses of their samples as they entertained

the fear that research that may be inimical to donors' religious beliefs and research into

the production of biological weapon or strains of viruses that could be used to destroy

human beings and for cloning or stem cells research may be carried out.

A few participants expressed concern on the possible loss of confidentiality, privacy

and information and would like their anonymity. A large proportion of the respondents

expressed their desire to let their spouses know before they participate, and those that

were not married mentioned their parents, brothers, sisters and relations. A few

participants would like to know the benefits or personal gains that will accrue to them

from the biobank. They rarely want money in return, but care. Many view participation

as a duty, as a chance to help. A few participants would like to get some clarification

on ownership and commercial interests issues surrounding the biobank resources.

The overall lesson from this findings.

Respondents in this study demonstrated low levels of awareness of biobanking and its

risks but were willing to give broad consent provided researchers were virtuous and did

not use samples for morally objectionable research. Most also saw an important role for

government, particularly in safeguarding their interest when samples are shipped and

shared with commercial and non commercial entities.

KEYWORDS: Biobanking, Public perspectives, Nigeria.

vi

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Immense thanks go to Professor Clement Adebamowo of the West African Bioethics Training Programme, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Clinical Sciences, University of Ibadan, Nigeria and the Institute of Human Virology Nigeria, for his inestimable supervision during this study and for his critical reading of the thesis. Thanks also go to Ms. H. Rasheed for her contributions.

This research which forms part of the requirement for my Masters degree in Bioethics at the University of Ibadan was made possible by Grant Number D43 TW007091 and 3R25TW007091-06S2 from the United States' National Institutes of Health's Fogarty International Centre and the National Human Genome Research Institute. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the awarding office of the NIH/Fogarty International Centre.

I acknowledge support of staff and faculty of West African Bioethics Training Programme, University of Ibadan.

I would also like to thank the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria, a number of friends and colleagues and associates too numerous to mention for their help both directly and indirectly in getting this project together.

CERTIFICATION PAGE

I certify that this work was carried out by Mr. Michael A. Igbe in the Department of Surgery, University of Ibadan



Supervisor

Professor Clement Adebamowo

BM ChB Hons., FWACS, FACS, D.Sc.

Chairman, National Health Research Ethics Committee (NHREC),

Director, Center for Bioethics, Ibadan, Nigeria.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the Almighty God

and

My family

GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS

CDBI - Canadian Design-Build Institute

DNA - Deoxyribonucleic acid

FCT - Federal Capital Territory

FGD - Focus Group Discussion

H3Africa - Human Heredity for Health in Africa

HIPAA - Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

ICGC - International Cancer Genome Consortium

IHVN - Institute of Human Virology, Nigeria

IRB - Institutional Review Board

KII - Key Informant Interview

MRC - Medical Research Council

NBAC - The US National Bioethics Advisory Commission

NCD - Non Communicable Disease

NCI - National Cancer Institute

NHGRI - National Human Genome Research Institute

NIH - National Institute of Health

PaCT - Partnership for Cohort Research and Training

RNA - Ribonucleic acid

UK - United Kingdom

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	vii
CERTIFICATION PAGE	viii
DEDICATION	ix
GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF APPENDIXES	XV
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.0 BACKGROUND TO THE RESEARCH	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Ethical problems	2
1.3 Consent for biobank research	3
1.4 Biobank guidelines	3
1.5 Research problems	5
1.6 Research questions	6
1.7 Justification for the research	6
1.8 Aim of Study	7
1.9 Objectives of the Research	7
1.10 Study Limitation	7
GLOSSARY	8
CHAPTER TWO	10
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	10
2.1 Definition of Biobanks	10
2.2 Uses of Biobanks	11
2.3 Types of biobanks	12
2.4 Informed consent	14
2.5 Informed Consent for Biobanks	16
2.6 Types of consent for biobanks	17
2.7 Contributions of informed consent	24
2.8 Dissemination of results, risks and stigmatisation	38
2.9 Ethical and Legal Frameworks	40
2.10 Non-communicable disease research	42
CHAPTER THREE	43
3.0 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	43
3.1 Research Design	43

3.2 Research Setting - the research was carried out in Enugu, Kano, Oyo and the Federal Capital Territory	
3.3 Methodology	47
3.4 Consequences and benefits of the study for the local community, environment and participants	55
3.5 Risk/Harm	56
3.6 Justice and Fairness	56
3.7 Responsibility/Litigation	56
3.8 Method of Data Analysis	56
3.9 Dissemination of Result of Study	57
3.10 Ethical approval	57
CHAPTER FOUR	58
4.0 FINDINGS	58
4.1 Key Informant Interview demographic characteristics	58
4.2 Attitude of the Key Informant Interviewees to biobank and other relaissues	
4.3 The Focus Group Discussant Demographic Characteristics	118
4.4 Attitude of the Focus Group Discussants to biobank and other related	
CHAPTER FIVE	150
5.0 DISCUSSION	150
5.1 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	156
REFERENCES:	159
ADDENDIVES	177

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Perspectives on Consent for Biobanks
Table 3.1: Matrix of FGD participants' selection among the males general population
in 2 LGAs each of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT64
Table 3.2: Matrix of FGD participants' selection among the females general
population in 2 LGAs each of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT65
Table 3.3: Matrix of KII participants' selection among the general population in 2
LGAs each of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT68
Table 3.4: Matrix of KII participants' selection among the middle and upper level
income population and health professionals in one Urban LGAs of Enugu, Kano, Oyo
States and FCT69
Table 3.5: Matrix of KII participants' selection considering educational levels in the
population in one Urban LGAs of Kano, Oyo Enugu States and Federal Capital
Territory

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Map of Nigeria showing the sampled states and the FCT 62

LIST OF APPENDIXES

Appendix 1: Samples specification
Appendix 2: Focus Group Discussion for public perspectives on biobanking in Nigeri
- topic guide
Appendix 3: Focus Group Discussion for public perspectives on biobanking in Nigeri
- consent form
Appendix 4 : Public perspectives on biobanking in Nigeria - guide for key informar
interview for the general population, the middle and upper level income population i
2 LGAs of FCT, Kano, Oyo and Enugu States
Appendix 5: Key Informant Interview for public perspectives on biobanking in Nigeri
- informed consent template211

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 BACKGROUND TO THE RESEARCH

1.1 Background

Biological samples—such as tissues, blood and cells—are an increasingly important tool for research into human diseases and their genetic and physiological causes (Elger & Caplan, 2006). To ease their storage and access, many of these samples are now stored in biobanks. The number of human biological samples in such collections amounted to several hundred million in 1999 in the USA alone—about one sample per US citizen (Eiseman, 2000; Azarow et al., 2003)—and is increasing rapidly (Elger & Caplan, 2006).

The science of biobanking is rapidly changing the face and pace of biomedicine (Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research, 2009). Biobanks can support an unlimited number of future research studies and provide the vast amount of annotated data necessary to tease apart important contributors to complex diseases (Murphy et al., 2009).

Biobanks could help screen for serious but treatable diseases, feeding information into an efficient public health system where results could help individuals, physicians, and policymakers make more informed health decisions (Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research, 2009).

Typical research projects that make use of these biobanks will use DNA from blood or other tissues, data from the participants' present and future medical records, and data from screening questionnaires or physical and laboratory examinations. This is combined with information about lifestyle and environmental factors that can be regularly updated by sending participants new questionnaires (Elger & Caplan, 2006).

Biobanks compile health, environment, and lifestyle information and collect biological specimens from large numbers of individuals, who are often followed for long periods of time (Murphy et al., 2009).

1.2 Ethical problems

Ethical questions are different for prospective biobanks as compared with existing biobanks, which contain samples stored before the discussions on ethical issues started. A characteristic of most prospective biobanks is that samples and data are collected for long-term future use, not just for a single project. Typical examples are the UK Biobank and the Marshfield Clinic's Personalized Medicine Research Project in Wisconsin, USA, both of which are used to study gene—environment interactions (Elger & Caplan, 2006). The potential differences in Nigerian donor expectations and attitudes towards biobank research is unknown and there's obligation on researchers to respect the wishes of participants.

When establishing the collections of samples and related data, it is often impossible to anticipate what studies might emerge, which leaves the matter of participants' consent to such future studies very much in the air (Elger & Caplan, 2006). Indeed, a major ethical problem for prospective biobanks is how to assure participants' consent when it is not known what they are consenting to in terms of future research. The question of the importance and meaning of informed consent is one main reason why international guidelines on biobanks lack any consensus (Elger & Caplan, 2006).

Unlike clinical research, in which the risks primarily involve physical harm, the risks in biobank research are principally those that may follow from a loss of privacy (Ursin, 2008).

1.3 Consent for biobank research

Many biobanks ask participants to provide broad or "blanket" consent at enrolment (UK Biobank, 2009; NUgene Project, 2009; Kaiser, 2009). This approach has been adopted because requesting consent each time a research project seeks to obtain access to samples or information from a biobank poses financial and logistical barriers to researchers and may be overly burdensome to participants. According to the World Health Organization, "blanket informed consent - is the most efficient and economical approach, avoiding costly re-contact before each new research project" (World Health Organization, 2009).

1.4 Biobank guidelines

The creation of new biobanks and the expansion of existing repositories have spawned new guidelines. Some examples are guidelines from the UK Medical Research Council (MRC, 2001), the US National Bioethics Advisory Commission (NBAC, 1999a), the Council of Europe Committee of Ministers (COE, 2006), OHRP (2004) and the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (1999).

Various scientific associations put together their own guidelines about DNA and tissue banking, and the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences, recognizing the importance of biobanks for epidemiological research, revised its guidelines to integrate relevant issues from the biobank debate (CIOMS, 2005). The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (Paris, France) adopted the International Declaration on Human Genetic Data in October 2003 (UNESCO, 2003), and France, Germany, Canada and Switzerland have all issued their own guidelines for biobanks or genetic databases (CCNE, 2003; Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004; Commission de l'Éthique de la Science et de la Technologie, 2003; Schweizer Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften, 2006).

These guidelines contain clearly divergent recommendations in important areas, which interfere with international collaboration. Not only do different systems exist for the collection of data and the processing of samples, but also the guidelines reflect fundamentally different ethical frameworks (Knoppers, 2005b).

1.5 Research problems

In Nigeria, a biobank and repository has just been set up at the Institute of Human Virology, Abuja Nigeria (IHVN) and will be depending on the available high-quality biospecimens from participants for non-communicable diseases research and for unknown future research projects. It is pertinent to get the perspectives of Nigerians on informed consent, confidentiality, secondary use of samples and data over time, return of results and feedback, specimens and data sharing for the collection of samples for the biobanking research for non-communicable disease research and future research. Precedence suggest that these issues need to be given careful consideration in order to avoid past mistakes as seen in recent controversy surrounding the use of banked biological samples from the Havasupai tribe in Arizona by Arizona State University researchers (Mello & Wolf, 2010), of which tribal members who provided biospecimens for diabetes research sued the university and the researchers when they discovered that their biospecimens had also been used for schizophrenia and ancestry studies.

The existing guidelines and legal frameworks on informed consent, re-consent and when or whether to provide feedback of research results are marked by significant variations in the rules researches are supposed to follow (Bauer et al., 2004; Gassner, 2007; Gibbons, 2008; Kapp, 2006; Kaye, 2007), and the resulting difficulties for researchers engaged in international collaboration have prompted several attempts of harmonization (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007; Gibbons et al., 2007; Knoppers & Saginur, 2005; Knoppers et al., 2006). The principle of respect for persons would require that such policies be informed by the opinions of those for whom the guidelines are being established.

1.6 Research questions

- What is the Nigerians' public knowledge and attitude and willingness to participate in biobanking research in Nigeria.
- 2. What is the understanding of Nigerian public on modern informed consent and perception of the types of consent procedures that is required for biobanking research in Nigeria and the factors that influence it?
- 3. What is the public perspectives on secondary use of samples and data, access to medical records, attitude to sharing biospecimens with commercial and non commercial entities, return of result?

1.7 Justification for the research

Modern non-communicable disease research require the collection of wide variety of biological samples from large number of people and banking these until they can be processed efficiently with new and emerging technologies (Salvaterra et al., 2008; Boyle & Levin, 2008).

Several reports exist on the perspective of Western populations on informed consent, confidentiality, secondary use of samples and data over time, return of results and feedback, specimens and data sharing for the collection of samples for the biobanking research for non-communicable disease research and future research. But, there is limited empirical research on the perspectives of individuals from developing countries towards biobanking (Wendler et al., 2005), including Nigeria.

The limited number of studies of attitude of the population to donation of samples to biobanks in developing country setting like Nigeria is the main justification for this study.

1.8 Aim of Study

The overall aim of this study is to assess public knowledge, attitude and perspectives on biobanking and on collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research and future researches.

1.9 Objectives of the Research

- 1. To assess Nigerians' public knowledge, attitude and willingness to participate in biobanking research in Nigeria.
- To explore the understanding of Nigerian public on modern informed consent and perception of the types of consent procedures that is required for biobanking research in Nigeria and the factors that influence it.
- To determine the public perspectives on secondary use of samples and data, access to medical records, attitude to sharing biospecimens with commercial and non commercial entities, return of result.

1.10 Study Limitation

The number of participants of this study was relatively small. The reason for this was the time limit of the project since it is a research for the award of M.Sc. in Bioethics.

The findings from this study are enlightening and useful, but should be treated as a snapshot of current opinion of Nigerian public on biobanking.

GLOSSARY

Beneficence - Doing good.

Bioethics - Ethics of biological research especially of medical techniques

Biobank - Biobanks are repositories that compile health, environment, and lifestyle information and collect biological specimens from large numbers of individuals, who are often followed for long periods of time.

Commercialization - To do, exploit, or make chiefly for financial gain.

Harm - Physical or psychological injury or damage.

Anonymization - A process that removes or replaces identity information from a communication or record.

Biomedical - Study life processes to gain an understanding of health and the methods for diagnosing, analysing and treating disease.

Clinician - A doctor or one who has direct access to a sick person.

Consent - Voluntary agreement

Culture - The custom, belief, art, way of life and social organization of a people

Focus group - It is a form of qualitative research in which a group of people are asked about their perceptions, opinions, beliefs and attitudes towards a study or work.

Interview - An interview is a conversation between two or more people (the interviewer and the interviewee) where questions are asked by the interviewer to obtain information.

Justice - to act or treat a person(s) or matter justly or fairly.

Fairness - free from favouritism, self-interest, or preference in judgment

Dissemination -the act of spreading widely

Key informant - A key informant interview is a loosely structured conversation with people who have specialized knowledge about the topic you wish to understand

Morality - The quality of being in accord with standards of right or good conduct.

Non-maleficence - Do no harm.

Obligation - A moral or legal requirement; duty

Participant - A person who takes part in something.

Respect - To feel or show deferential regard for; esteem.

Privacy - The state of being concealed; secrecy.

Risks - The possibility of suffering harm or loss; danger.

Property rights - the legal right of ownership.

Commodification - the inappropriate treatment of something as if it can be acquired or marketed like other commodities

Biotechnology - Refers to the use of microorganisms such as bacteria or biological substances such as enzymes, to perform industrial or manufacturing processes.

Benefit sharing - is the action of giving a portion of advantages/profits to others

Research - Can be defined as the search for knowledge, or as any systematic investigation, with an open mind, to establish novel facts, usually using a scientific method

Supervisor - A person who supervises workers or students on their work or project.

Trust - Firm reliance on the integrity, ability, or character of a person or thing.

Withdrawal - detachment, as from social or emotional involvement.

Stigmatization - the act of disapproving or condemning

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Definition of Biobanks

The term biobank is relatively new. It appeared in PubMed for the first time in 1996 (Loft & Poulsen, 1996) but was not used with any frequency until 2000. Although the term is used to describe various biological repositories, it originally referred to large population banks of human tissue and related data (Elger & Caplan, 2006).

Biobanks have become an essential part of modern biomedical research. They are repositories that link clinical and family history data with human tissues for medical research (Andrews, 2005). They enable interdisciplinary researches that leverage large datasets for genomic and other types of research.

The large number of human samples (organs, tissues, cells, blood, and other body fluids plus related information) provides biobank users with essential raw materials necessary for advancing biotechnology and human health in the post-genomic era (Frazier et al., 2008).

Biobank research shares an important characteristic with register research and the like, namely that of being a public endeavour to promote the common good (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

The Swedish Act on Biobanks defines the concept 'biobank' as 'biological material from one or several human beings collected and stored indefinitely or for a specified time and whose origin can be traced to the human or humans from whom it originates' (The Swedish National Biobank Program, 2011).

2.2 Uses of Biobanks

Biobanks are used for many purposes including screening for diseases, feeding information into an efficient public health system where results could help individuals, physicians, and policymakers make more informed health decisions (Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research, 2009).

With the human genome available, biobank repositories of DNA samples (preferably combined with health-history data) play a crucial role in the identification of genetic elements associated with complex disorders (Hagen & Carlstedt-Duke, 2004).

During the past few years, interest in biorepositories and biospecimen science has grown tremendously fuelled by several important national and international initiatives (Vaught, 2006). Such recognition has led to exponential growth in the banking of specimens for research purposes (Vaught, 2006).

The science of biobanking is rapidly changing the face and pace of biomedicine. The popular press (*Time Magazine*) christened biobanks as one of 2009's top 10 ideas changing the world today (Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research, 2009). This increased use of biobanking raises several ethical questions which have not been previously adequately explored in the African population (O'Brien, 2009).

A book published by RAND in 1999 (Eiseman & Haga, 1999) surveyed clinics, laboratories, and commercial and government biorepositories in the United States and concluded that more than 300 million biospecimens were being stored for research and patient care. Biospecimen collections were estimated to be growing at a rate of more than 20 million specimens each year.

2.3 Types of biobanks

Biobanks are developed in relation to a research question having its own strategy and specific demands on quality and annotation of the collected samples, resulting in a very heterogeneous concept in Biobanking. Even considering exclusively human samples-related banks for research, there are multiple designs according to the different possible goals (Riegman et al., 2008). In a brief summary, human-driven biobanks include the following types:

2.3.1 Population banks: Their primary goal is to obtain biomarkers of susceptibility and population identity, and their operational substrate is germinal-line DNA from a huge number of healthy donors, representative of a concrete country/region or ethnic cohort (Riegman et al., 2008).

The UK Biobank, launched in 2006, was one of the first large-scale, population-based biobanks. It announced that it reached its goal of obtaining biospecimens from 500,000 Britons aged forty to sixty nine years for "a diverse range of research intended to improve the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness, and the promotion of health throughout society" (UK Biobank, 2003).

Similar biobanks have emerged in the United States, including the Personal Genome Project, the NuGene Project, Mayo Clinic Biobank and Kaiser Permanente's Research Program on Genes, Environment and Health (Maschke, 2010). Population-based collections have long existed in the fields of genetic anthropology and history of world populations, although these are also usually small and have been used for academic research (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).

- **2.3.2 Disease-oriented banks for epidemiology:** Their activity is focused on biomarkers of exposure, using a huge number of samples, usually following a healthy exposed cohort/case—control design, and studying germinal-line DNA or serum markers and a great amount of specifically designed and collected data (Riegman et al., 2008).
- 2.3.3 Disease-oriented general biobanks: (i.e. tumour banks). Their goals correspond to biomarkers of disease through prospective and/or retrospective collections of tumour and no-tumour samples and their derivates (DNA/RNA/proteins), usually associated to clinical data and sometimes associated to clinical trials. Those data are usually not collected for a concrete research project, except in case of clinical trials, but from the healthcare clinical records. The amount of clinical data linked to the sample determines the availability and biological value of the sample (Riegman et al., 2008).

The samples are used for informing diagnosis and for clinical or therapeutic follow up. Pathology departments, in particular, have collected huge numbers of tissue sections over the years. Transplantations using cells, tissues or organs from unrelated donors have also led to the development of tissue and cell banks for therapeutic use.

The tumour tissue samples are generally obtained immediately after excision, prior to fixation, to ensure optimal preservation of proteins and nucleic acids. It is possible for surgeons or athologists to collect fresh tissue prospectively during their routine dissection procedures. Most tissue banks are "project-driven" tumour banks, which are specialized collections of tumour samples on which their research is based. Systematic collection of all available tumour tissue is much rarer (Yu & Zhu, 2010).

Many tumour tissue banks have been constructed in the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, France and many other countries (Mager et al., 2007; Whyte, 2003).

Biobanks also vary according to the scientific sector in which the samples were collected.

- **2.3.4 Medical and academic research:** Medical genetic studies of disease (especially if rare) have motivated collections that usually consist of small case-or family-based repositories (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).
- **2.3.5 Biotechnology domain:** Collections of reference cell lines that are well characterized for several relevant characteristics (such as cancer cell lines or antibody-producing cell lines), and stem cell lines of various origin, are mainly used in biotechnology research and development (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).
- **2.3.6 Judiciary domain:** This sector hosts huge collections of different sources of biological material, data and DNA fingerprints, which have very restricted uses (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).

Biobanking in Africa is new with biobanks existing in The Gambia (MRC Laboratories), Nigeria (IHVN), Zimbabwe and possibly other countries.

2.4 Informed consent

The concept of informed consent in research ethics evolved gradually over the years, typically in response to major instances of research ethics violations. For example the Nuremberg Code followed the inhuman research experimentations carried out by Nazi doctors during the Second World War. More recently; the foundations of informed consent are being laid by philosophical reflection and empirical research without instances of research misconduct. The principle of informed consent is largely recognised and considered a pillar in the practice of bioethics (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007). Informed consent defines the "moral contract" between researchers and the

study participants and setting the framework for the allowable use of biospecimens and data (Elger & Caplan, 2006).

Consent of participants is a core issue (Uranga et al., 2005) since two interests are perceived as being at odds; 1) the protection of data, considering informatic technologies and 2) the importance of data sharing and access by the scientific community. Indeed, "informed consent is one part of honouring the contribution that the person is making to [the] advancement of knowledge" (Clayton, 2005). Informed consent to research includes information about the purpose, methods, risks and benefits of the study (Lipworth et al., 2006), security and access policies, future uses and commercialization.

The Declaration of Helsinki requires that consent be specific to a clearly defined research project. The Declaration states:

In any research on human beings, each potential subject must be adequately informed of the aims, methods, the anticipated benefits and potential risks of the study and the discomfort it may entail (World Medical Association, 2000, art. 22).

Informed consent allows individuals to exercise their right to decide whether and how their body, its parts and the associated data will be used in research (Sade, 2002). Informed consent does not seem to protect donors, but the research institution (Ducournau, 2007).

Donors rarely read, recall or use the information with which they are provided (Busby, 2006; Hoeyer, 2003; Ducournau, 2007). This type of problem with informed consent is well-known beyond the biobank issue (Sugarman et al., 1999).

True 'informed consent' is strictly defined as specific consent given for well defined uses; the participant is given adequate information about research, the possibility of

dialogue with a professional, and time to think about the implications before a decision is taken (CCNE, 2003, Caze de Montgolfier, 2002; Deschenes et al., 2001; Sade, 2002). Emmauel et al., (2000; 2004) in 2 seminal articles enumerated 7 principles viz; (1) value-enhancements of health or knowledge must be derived from the research; (2) scientific validity-the research must be methodologically rigorous; (3) fair subject selection-scientific objectives, not vulnerability or privilege, and the potential for and distribution of risks and benefits, should determine communities selected as study sites and the inclusion criteria for individual subjects; (4) favourable risk-benefit ratio-within the context of standard clinical practice and the research protocol, risks must be minimized, potential benefits enhanced, and the potential benefits to individuals and knowledge gained for society must outweigh the risks; (5) independent reviewunaffiliated individuals must review the research and approve, amend, or terminate it; (6) informed consent-individuals should be informed about the research and provide their voluntary consent; and (7) respect for enrolled subjects-subjects should have their privacy protected, the opportunity to withdraw, and their well-being monitored. Three of them are relevant to biobanking and genomic research. They are (a) favourable risk-benefit ratio of research (b) informed consent and respect for enrolled participants

risk-benefit ratio of research (b) informed consent and respect for enrolled participants (c) respect for enrolled subjects-subjects should have their privacy protected, the opportunity to withdraw, and their well-being monitored.

2.5 Informed Consent for Biobanks

Biobanking presents unique challenges to the existing paradigms of the informed consent model in biomedical research. This paradigm is challenged by the very nature of biobanks where often the specific uses that will be made of the samples donated is not known at the time the donation is made thereby precluding discussion of risks, benefits and provision of adequate information on which valid consent can be based.

In biobanking, a sample is taken at a precise moment; it is then used over a number of years with knowledge and research questions evolving over time (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007). Indeed, a major ethical problem for prospective biobanks is how to assure participants' consent when it is not known what they are consenting to in terms of future research. The question of the importance and meaning of informed consent is one main reason why international guidelines on biobanks lack any consensus (Elger & Caplan, 2006).

To understand the issues on an international level sometimes means a biobank manager needs both legal and ethical advice (Riegman et al., 2008). On a national level the rules for biobanks which require IRB approval are governed by complex evolving legislation and lack standardized procedures. Therefore, differences in decisions can be found on a local level (Riegman et al., 2008).

2.6 Types of consent for biobanks

There exist a diverse range of views and policies regarding the appropriate consent required to store biological samples and data for future research (Maschke, 2005). Most regulations agree that consent should be free and explicit, and that the requirement for consent should be waived only in exceptional cases—usually when authorized by an ethics committee—or for unidentifiable samples or data (Knoppers, 2005a).

However, the recommended nature and amount of information that should be given to a donor varies from broad or unrestricted to fully restricted or specific consent (Boggio et al., 2007; Hansson et al., 2006). Below are some of the types of informed consent models used by Biobanks:-

2.6.1 The Specific or "Narrow" or restricted Informed Consent - The specific or "narrow" informed consent enumerates all the uses that will be made of donated samples (Salvaterra et al., 2008). Italy, France and Sweden explicitly require specific informed consent (Salvaterra et al., 2008).

2.6.2 The General or "Broad" Consent - Another consent model is the general or "broad" consent which does not necessarily itemize these (Salvaterra et al., 2008). The nature of this consent and how it is obtained, vary widely (Elger & Caplan, 2006). General or broad consent is presumed as an authorization for unlimited research in the present and future unless the donor opts out or requests that their samples are not to be used again in any research (Murphy et al., 2009). In this situation, the consent forms explain that the biospecimens will be stored for researchers to use when needed for whatever type of study they are conducting (Maschke, 2010).

Some genetic research initiatives like the UK Biobank and research in the United States, such as the Personal Genome Project, the Mayo Clinic Biobank and some clinical trials that incorporate genetic studies use the general or "broad consent" approach (Murphy et al., 2009). Iceland, the UK, Switzerland, Estonia, Japan and Latvia largely recommend broad consent models (Maschke, 2005). German guidelines similarly endorse general consent (Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004), as do the recommendations of the UK Human Genetics Commission (2002) and laws in Sweden, Iceland and Estonia, in which a "broad description of the purpose is allowed" (Kaye et al., 2004).

2.6.3 Open or Blanket Consent - Another consent model which is distinguished from General or broad consent is the open or blanket consent. Open or blanket consent is given only once, but covers any use of the material at any time in the future. This is particularly important for scientific research, in which new projects or experiments might be devised years after individuals has given their consent and deposited their biological material. They may even have died in the meantime (Shancheti, 2009).

2.6.4 Tiered Consent - Another approach to consent for biobanking is the "tiered consent." Many researchers collect biospecimens for a specific purpose, which means that individuals give consent to use of their biospecimen only for that purpose. With the tiered approach, the consent form lists different levels of research for which individuals permit or restrict the use of their biospecimens (Maschke, 2010). For example, participant may give consent to use of data only, or data and biological specimen but only for current research or give consent to unrestricted use for any type of research now and in future.

2.6.5 Multi-layered Consent - The US National Bioethics Advisory Commission (NBAC) report on Research Involving Human Biological Materials is more rigorous and requires that research consent forms provide the potential subject with several options, ranging from complete refusal for the use of samples in research, through a series of limited permissions, to allow the coded use of the materials for any type of future study (NBAC, 1999b).

Other countries, such as Denmark, The Netherlands, Spain and Norway, recommend that consent should be informed, and express—but do not clarify—the type of consent that should be sought for biobank research (Knoppers, 2005b).

Some perspectives on consent for biobank are listed in table 1.1 below:

Table 2.1: Perspectives on Consent for Biobanks

Country/year	Percentage in	Author
	favour/Population	
	sampled	
In 1998, American Health Styles	43% (1122/2621)	Wang et al., 2001
Survey said they were willing to		
donate samples for genetic		
research.		
In 1998, American Health Styles	53% (1391/2621)	Wang et al., 2001
Survey said they were willing to		
donate samples for storage for		
future research.		
In the 2002 general population	40% (217/548)	Wong et al., 2004
survey in Singapore, it was found		
that they were willing to donate		
blood for genetic research and		
storage for future research.		
In a 2002 survey of British	34% (1,283)	Hapgood et al., 2004
individuals, they were willing to		
join the UK Biobank even though		
such participation implies consent		
to open-ended storage and genetic		
research.		
A survey of British dental patients	82% (82/100)	Goodson & Vernon, 2004
in 2003 found that they would		

donate excess tissue to cancer		
research if asked.		
In the 2002 Swedish study, they	78% (2220/2830)	Kettis-Lindblad et al.,
were willing to donate samples for		2006
genetic research and long-term		
storage.		
In the 2002, Icelandic public	65% (598/915)	Guqmundsdottir, 2007
survey, respondents indicated		
willingness to participate in		
genetic research in the future.		
In 2003, participants would agree	94% (853/904)	Nilstun & Hermeren,
to storage of traceable samples for		2006
future research if allowed to		
choose between various models of		
consent ranging from renewed		
consent for each purpose to		
blanket consent.		
In 2004, Irish respondents of a	74% (1703/2294)	Cousins et al., 2005
survey were willing to donate		
excess tissue for non-genetic		
research and storage for future		
research.		
In Great Britain 2005,	96% (184/191)	Bryant et al., 2008
postoperative patients in a		
teaching hospital said they would		

not object to their tissue being		
used in research.		
In 2007–2008, Americans were	60% (2818/4659)	Kaufman et al., 2008
willing to participate in a cohort		
study involving genetic research.		
general resembles		
Uganda were willing to donate	80%	Wendler et al., 2005
Oganda were winning to donate	0070	wender et al., 2003
their blood semale for future		
their blood sample for future		
1		
research.		
Egypt were willing to have their	66%	Abou-Zeid et al., 2010
linked blood samples used in		
genetic research		

2.7 Contributions of informed consent

Informed consent helped demarcate what counted as legitimate disagreements concerning the ethics of biobanks; it became the lens through which the "problem of biobanking" was viewed. Academic debate in this field is part of a complex political game (Lindblom, 1959; March & Olsen, 1976; Weiss, 1986).

An almost endless number of concerns have been uttered relating to, for example, commercial genetic research, issues relating to commodification of human tissue, benefit-sharing, risk society, eugenics, fairness, autonomy, dignity, and trust. All these problems seem, however, to have been interpreted through a particular "solution": informed consent (Hoeyer, 2008).

In 1996 two physicians established a company called deCODE Genetics. They had a plan: to establish three related databases in Iceland: 1) the Book of Icelanders containing complete genealogies of the Icelandic population from the settlement to present day, 2) the Health Sector Database (HSD) containing electronic healthcare data and medical records from 1915 onwards, and 3) a genetic database containing blood samples and extracted genetic data from everybody consenting to donate a sample (Merz et al., 2004; Potts, 2002). The analyses of deCODE Genetics that focus on the organizational shortcomings with respect to accommodation of a public health agenda, which simultaneously show that Icelanders are very well informed, fail to go beyond informed consent when looking for solutions to the predicament (Merz et al., 2004; Potts, 2002).

Informed consent seems to have served the managerially helpful role of limiting the problems biobanks are expected to address in their policies (Hoeyer, 2008). The nature of the "problem" that the consent requirement is expected to solve is perceived very differently in various articles. They include:

- **2.7.1 Respect** Either for dignity, self-determinism, or contributorship (Wendler, 2002).
- 2.7.2 Privacy Personal information is sensitive and can cause great concern and even harm if not secured (Frazier et al., 2008). The right to privacy is the right to a personal sphere, free from public attention and interference. It includes the right to keep certain facts about oneself secret. Personal integrity presupposes a certain degree of privacy as well as a certain degree of autonomy. Individuals' personal integrity is disrespected if others intrude into their private life or prevent them from making autonomous decisions about their life (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).
- 2.7.3 Risks and harm Samples used in biobank research may harm the group to which a participant belongs, and thereby harm the individuals concerned. This harm may arise, for instance, if people outside the group regard the group in a more negative way or treat people belonging to that group in a worse way than others, or by prejudice being spread or strengthened. The harm may also be due to people in the group starting to look at themselves in a different, more negative, way. Thus, a distinction can be made between external and internal harm to groups of people. External harm is connected to factors external to the group, such as changes in attitudes regarding the group. Such changes can cause economic harm, for instance more expensive insurance for group members due to expectations about their behaviour (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

 Internal harm, on the other hand, is related to internal changes resulting from the spread of information from biobank research. Loss of self-esteem is an example of internal harm, decline in social functions and bonds another (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

2.7.4 Return of research results and feedback to donors - who would like to know what? Can uncertain results be provided? What about the right not to know? What if there is no disease treatment? (Renegar et al., 2006). Mostly donors are interested in getting access to research results, particularly of relevance to their own health, but the conditions differ widely and national discrepancies also seem to be at stake (Cousins et al., 2005; Hoeyer et al., 2004). The more people feel they need medical research results; the more likely they seem to be to accept donations (Hoeyer, 2008). Policies regarding this issue vary among trials, sponsors, and even locales in which the study is being conducted. In the case of a trial with inclusion criteria requiring that a patient express a specific biomarker for eligibility, the attending physician is usually informed of the results and is responsible for relaying the results to the patient, thus confirming his or her eligibility for trial participation. In the case of a trial in which specimen collection is for correlative or exploratory use, individual results may not be shared with the treating physician or patient. Exploration of genomic or phenotypic predictors of treatment responsiveness or specific disease subsets within a trial are increasingly the examples we see in research. Study reports may include information on biomarker expression, response data, and outcomes, but this is aggregate information rather than information specific to individual participants (Baer et al., 2010).

2.7.5 Property rights - tissue can be an object of ownership and informed consent can help to define this (Charo, 2004).

- **2.7.6 Commodification** does commercialization of biobanks infringe human dignity? Does it constitute exploitation? (Rose, 2001). The commercial aspects of biobanks is recognised (Rothstein, 2002; Kaiser, 2002; Bellivier et al., 2006), despite the general principle that "biological materials should not, as such, give rise to financial gains", as recalled in the Council of Europe recommendation of (2006). Commercial access to public biobanks is accepted by a majority (Jack & Womack, 2003; Stegmayr & Asplund, 2002); nevertheless, it is viewed more as a necessary evil than as the preferred research infrastructure (Gudmundsdóttir & Nordal, 2007).
- 2.7.7 Benefit sharing should donors have a share of potential profits? How will public health goals be addressed in a commercial research infrastructure? (Simm, 2005) Psychological harm can occur, for instance, when patients wrongly form the belief that there will be personal gain from participation in research (the 'therapeutic misconception') (Appelbaum et al., 1987). When such expectations are not met, feelings of anger or hopelessness can result.
- 2.7.8 Dangers of genetic research in general will this type of research lead to eugenics? Do we want new types of risk knowledge? Are we tampering with Nature or playing God? (Chadwick, 2001; Rose, 2001). Some donors fear that genetic knowledge will be used to generate a kind of society that marginalizes or exterminates minorities; others fear that we will begin to know things that will not benefit us. Still others are mainly worried about the ability of the research agenda to address public health needs. A notion of fairness often seems to be involved, where medical research is supposed to be based on medical needs rather than consumer abilities (Hoeyer, 2008).

- **2.7.9 Trust** is it a value in itself or a means for other values? (Ashcroft, 2000; Helminski, 1994; Sutrop, 2007). It is of utmost importance to maintain a trusting relationship between participants and the biobank research team (Frazier et al., 2008), in research (National Code of Health Research Ethics, 2007).
- **2.7.10 Issues of governance** what models can accommodate the concerns listed above? What is the role of Institutional Review Boards/Research Ethics Committees and can the system be rethought to better facilitate biobank research? (Gottweis & Zatloukal, 2007; Caulfield & Outerbridge, 2002).

Intriguingly, informed consent is of little help for donors when figuring out whether a biobank is governed according to the standards and aims that they have (Hoeyer, 2008).

2.7.11 Sharing of data - While data sharing is essential to accelerating scientific discovery, it presents a number of challenges, one of which is balancing the interests of science, the scientist, and the donor. For example, when researchers want to use samples for new purposes, the onerous task of seeking re-consent from donors may slow the process of scientific discovery, yet it is critically important to maintaining public trust (Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research, 2009).

A characteristic of biobank is the potential that the resources donated to the biobank would be distributed to researchers in different parts of the world, far from where the samples were collected (Dushenes & Salle, 2005). As research has become increasingly globalised, ethical issues arise from collaborative international research in which samples are collected in developing countries and then exported for analysis to developed countries. Such international research raises concerns of exploitation, the validity of informed consent from vulnerable populations, appropriate benefit-sharing

between sponsors and participants, and guidelines for regulating types of future research (Dickenson, 2005; Dickenson, 2004; Emmanuel & Weijer, 2000; Capron et al., 2009). Many ongoing international research projects are already rich in collaboration, and they actively solicit input from the research community and generate scientific results by using readily available tools and technologies that facilitate phenotype harmonisation. As an example is a consortium of provincial tumour banks in Canada that has developed a data repository with common tools and data standards (Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research, 2009).

2.7.12 Secondary uses - Secondary uses for stored human samples are nearly always possible even though they are usually not foreseeable at the time of sampling (Steinberg et al., 2002; CCNE, 2003; Godard et al., 2003; Caze de Montgolfier, 2002; Greely, 2001; Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004; Wendler & Emanuel, 2002). The main ethical issues relate to the level of completeness of the information given, the necessity or not of obtaining a new individual consent for each use, and who is going to decide on the issue (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007). The collection, storage and use of biological samples in future research raise unique ethical and policy issues that lacked consensus among several national and international documents (Ashburn et al., 2000; Bauer et al., 2004; Maschke & Murray, 2004). Chief among these ethical issues include questions regarding confidentiality, ownership and the commercialisation of stored biological samples.

There is the existence of a diverse range of views regarding the appropriate consent required to store biological samples and data for future research (Maschke, 2005). The views ranges from denying any use, other than that initially stated, to more flexible attitudes (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004). The latter take into account the traceability or not of the individual identity, the kind of further uses that are envisaged in relation to the

original one, the implications of the research for the individual (so-called 'minimal risk' research being more easily allowed), how precisely the use was described at the time of sampling and, finally, the kind of consent that was originally granted (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).

In 2001, the European Society of Human Genetics published its recommendation on data storage and DNA banking for biomedical research, technical, social and ethical issues, which stated that;

The full benefits for which the subjects gave their samples will be realized through maximizing collaborative high quality research. Therefore, there is an ethical imperative to promote access and exchange information' (European Society of Human Genetics, 2001).

Many European guidelines take the view that general or broad consent is acceptable for "unspecified future research use" of samples (CDBI, 2006). For example, the Council of Europe's Steering Committee on Bioethics states in an explanatory memorandum that "When biological materials of human origin and personal data are collected it is best practice to ask the sources for their consent to future use, even in cases where the specifics of the future research projects are unknown" (CDBI, 2006). German guidelines similarly endorse general consent (Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004), as do the recommendations of the UK Human Genetics Commission (2002) and laws in Sweden, Iceland and Estonia, in which a "broad description of the purpose is allowed" (Kaye et al., 2004).

The Council of Europe (COE; Strasbourg, France), in its Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being, states that, "consent for using body parts for purposes other than that for which they were originally removed should be appropriate according to national laws", but declares in the Additional Protocol to the Convention that consent for such uses should be specific (COE, 1997, 2005). Similarly,

the COE recommendation about research on biological materials of human origin requires specific consent for any foreseen research use and as specific a consent form as possible for unplanned research studies (COE, 2006).

At a national level, every country has different requirements. The Common Rule in the USA calls for voluntary informed consent, and oversight of each research protocol and consent process by a local institutional review board (Merz, 2003). The US National Bioethics Advisory Commission (NBAC) report on Research Involving Human Biological Materials is more rigorous and requires that research consent forms provide the potential subject with several options, ranging from complete refusal for the use of samples in research, through a series of limited permissions, to allow the coded use of the materials for any type of future study (multi-layered consent; NBAC, 1999b). Australia states that consent to the future use of data and tissue in research might be specific, extended or unspecified (Salvaterra et al., 2008).

A model that allows specified research and related future—and often unplanned—investigations allows donors to make informed decisions about the handling of their samples and related data, and therefore respects their right to self-determination (Salvaterra et al., 2008). A common feature of all recommendations and regulations on this issue is that any unplanned use requires an authorization, with or without a new consent, following the consultation of an independent research ethics committee or institutional review board (CCNE, 2003; HUGO, 1999; Knoppers, 1997; White & Gamm, 2002; Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004). This body can itself make authoritative decisions, or can be only consultative with another administrative authority being in charge of the final decision (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).

2.7.13 Protection of the person - In the context of biobanks, protection of the person is practically synonymous with controlling access to the data and use of such data. This operation ensures that individuals or groups are not discriminated against and that medical and personal information is not disclosed to third parties (such as other family or community members, colleagues, employer or insurance companies). Absolute protection is a central issue in ethical analyses related to biobanks (CCNE, 2003; Godard, et al., 2003; UNESCO, 2003; Caze de Montgolfier, 2002; Knoppers, 1997; Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004; Anderlik & Rothstein, 2001, Nigerian National Code for Health Research Ethics (2007), and is best achieved through anonymized data (NBAC, 1999a; CCNE, 2003; Godard et al., 2003).

When information gets to wrong hands it can result in risk of various forms of non-physical harm. Non-physical harm is usually tied to sensitive information ending up in the wrong hands and being used to the disadvantage of a person. The inflicted harm may be social psychological, or economical. For instance, it has been argued that insurance companies and employers could come to use genetic information to discriminate against people with certain genetic dispositions. This would likely damage the individuals concerned, both economically and socially (Radetzki et al., 2003).

When information to be kept secret (eg regarding paternity or STDs) are communicated to relatives or partners against one's wishes, psychological harm may arise (Eriksson, 2004). Due consideration should be given, and where appropriate special protection should be afforded to human genetic data and to the biological samples. But not all genetic data have the same potential consequences for the person or its family (for example, tests for multifactorial diseases with low predictive value) (Cambon-Thomsen, 2004).

2.7.14 Withdrawal - The right to withdraw is naturally mentioned in all consent forms for clinical assays, but how this can be implemented in practice for samples that are exchanged, data that are distributed in complex databases and, sometimes, for samples that undergo transformation into cell lines that can themselves be exchanged and duplicated needs to be carefully addressed with practical and feasible procedures set up and explained, otherwise it may be a concept with no reality and significance (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007). The Declaration of Helsinki states that Medical research involving human subjects 'includes research on identifiable human material or identifiable data' and makes no distinction between research of the latter kind and experimental research when it comes to requirements regarding information and consent. For instance, according to the declaration, every research subject has the right to withdraw consent to participate at any time without reprisal, regardless of whether the research is conducted on their bodies or on their stored biological samples (World Medical Association, 2004).

2.7.14.1 Restricted right to withdraw consent -The demand for unrestricted individual rights to withdraw consent to participation in research is strongly connected to the Declaration of Helsinki from 1964. The notion of an individual's right to stop participation was already very important in the Nuremberg Code of 1947, but there it was conceived rather differently. While the Helsinki Declaration and subsequent documents have given the individual the right to withdraw regardless of reason, the Nuremberg Code conceived of research as a common good and saw experimental subjects as participants in an important humanitarian project, which led to a different view of the right to withdraw.

Clause nine of the code states:

During the course of the experiment the human subject should be at liberty to bring the experiment to an end if he has reached the physical or mental state where continuation of the experiment seems to him to be impossible (The Nuremberg Code, 1947).

There are good reasons why this notion of consent and withdrawal gave way to the view expressed later in the Helsinki Declaration, with its greater emphasis on voluntarism and freedom of choice (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005). This lends weight to the notion that there is a moral obligation to accept that one's biological samples are stored for and used in future biobank-related medical research. When you use modern medical services, you take advantage of the work done by prior generations. Why should you gain from this and not give something back to future patients? If you expect to receive the best possible treatment, you ought to contribute to the processes by which such treatment is established. If you do not, you are a free rider (Harris & Woods, 2001). This line of reasoning can be found among research participants. In Swedish biobank research, many patients express their willingness to contribute to research because they sense a duty to do so (Gustafsson et al., 2002; Hoeyer, 2003).

2.7.14.2 Anonymization as a response to request for withdrawal - According to many regulations and guidelines, there is no need to return or destroy a sample when a participant withdraws from a study, since anonymization addresses the substantial ethical problem. The European Society of Human Genetics writes that the use of 'unlinked anonymized samples' secures 'absolute confidentiality' and these samples can thus be used for new purposes without the need to obtain consent (Godard et al., 2003). The International Bioethics Committee (UNESCO) states that;

Consent to research may be withdrawn by the donor 'unless such data are irretrievably unlinked to an identifiable person' and that the data and biological samples should be dealt with in accordance with the wishes of the donor unless they are irretrievably unlinked (UNESCO, 2004).

The German Nationaler Ethikrat maintains that if samples are anonymized, then 'donor interests calling for protection are not at issue'; therefore, withdrawal of consent need only be responded to with anonymization (Nationaler Ethikrat, 2004). The idea behind this solution is simply that if harms arise due to the spreading of information about specific individuals, then the risks of harm are eliminated altogether by irreversibly destroying the tie between information and individual (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005). Information derived from tissue or blood samples cannot be used to ones disadvantage if no one knows, or can find out, that the information concerns him. One has the right to end his participation, but since it can be of importance to keep his sample for research, de-identification is performed. It is no longer 'him' who participates, and research can still be performed – all is well (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

2.7.14.3 Limited value of anonymization - However, anonymization has a limited value in protecting participants' interests in the following ways:

2.7.14.3.1 It may not decisively cut the link to specific individual - anonymizing samples in this context means making them irretrievably unlinked to sample donors by having all identifications removed. This can be done by destroying the code keys. We now know this is not enough to guarantee anonymity, as it may still be possible in some cases for individuals possessing sufficient knowledge to identify a donor (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

Further, as soon as genetic information is stored in medical journals, a supposedly anonymous sample can be run against a search of these journals, which may reveal whose sample it is. The publication of databases on the Internet, free for researchers to use, also presents dangers in this respect. If you have access to an identified sample, you can find more samples from the same person by searching databases consisting of

anonymous samples and comparing them with yours. This is no far-fetched fantasy but rather something easily performed with the aid of available technology (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

Therefore, anonymization is not enough but must be accompanied by further measures to be fully effective, such as requiring previous authorization for all searches for matching samples or limiting access to samples (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

2.7.14.3.2 It prevents the use of samples for purposes such as diagnostics - if a sample is de-identified, it can no longer be used for diagnostic purposes. Individuals have an interest in being protected from the dispersal of sensitive information regarding them, but they also have an interest in having their samples available to medical services when needed. Anonymization prevents this. If proper safeguards are in place, the availability interest should carry greater weight than the interest in having additional protection by anonymization (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

2.7.14.3.3 It may not prevent harms to groups - even if no single individual is indicated in research material; there is still a risk that research on an identified group may lead to undesirable consequences for group members. Researchers need to consider this risk before publishing their results. Much has been done regarding these matters in the work on ethical guidelines for research on indigenous populations and the like (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

2.7.14.3.4 It does not rule out wrongdoing - imagine that all these obstacles have been taken care of. Even then, the issue of wrongdoing remains. Consider autonomy: Assume that you have two test tubes of blood stored in a biobank containing 30,000 other blood samples. Also assume that, as a response to your request that your samples be destroyed, those responsible for the biobank instead remove your name from all labels and lists within the premises, as well as any other material used to tie your samples to your name. In what way can their reaction be said to be a proper response to your request? (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

It certainly seems that anonymization does not address the problem in cases like this, as it does in relation to other kinds of harm. The matter no longer concerns risks tied to the use of your samples – risks that may be more or less eliminated – but the very use

itself. If someone says 'Do not use my samples', that person's request has simply not been respected by the use of anonymization (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

For many types of studies, such as longitudinal and epidemiological research, it is absolutely essential that researchers, or at least those in charge of the biobank, have access to the identity of the samples so they can be linked to medical journals and register data as well as data from previous analyses. For quality reasons, researchers may also need to return to the original repository (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

Thus, the 'anonymization tool' does not do much moral work. A model in which continued use of identified samples is impossible if withdrawal is requested, and where a request to have one's sample destroyed results in something else (namely anonymization) is hardly satisfactory. On the one hand, donors' arbitrary requests to have their samples destroyed are allowed to hinder important research. On the other hand, no matter what reasons people may have in requesting the destruction of a sample or how strong these reasons may be, their request can be met with a denial and continued research on that sample. Thus, anonymization involves a double moral limitation (Eriksson & Helgesson, 2005).

2.8 Dissemination of results, risks and stigmatisation

Results of a study may differ on different levels. It may be the statistical characteristics of the test: sensitivity, specificity, positive or negative predictive values. It may also be the actual result of the test on a given individual, when not yet validated, at the beginning of the research. Or the individual result together with its interpretation from its statistical evaluation, at the end of which is often a complex aggregate (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007).

The guiding principle for the dissemination of results is one of comprehensive information prior to any participation in a project, but there may be strong differences between a patient based study and projects conducted on a scale of population, between a clinical trial form of research and a genetic study of complex diseases that can last for many years (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007).

The right to know and the right not to know, a classical concept in genetic research, takes on new complexities in the context of population databanks due to the diversity of the data produced or processed. These data could simply be of statistical interest without any useful individual elements, or they could be of clinical interest with the possible need for genetic counselling and careful interpretation. Individual research results derived from population databanks are often of no clinical interest and can lead to misinterpretations due to the fact that they are based on incomplete information (often, biobanks are not accompanied by access to the participant's complete medical record) (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007).

In addition, the rare cases in which validated individual results are provided to participants, there may be the need for genetic counselling measures, which are not anticipated in the research context. Therefore, in many cases, individual reporting is not planned for, since the results are usually aggregated and considered to be of purely scientific interest, but the right to be aware of information about ones self is a counterbalancing principle (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007).

The individualistic trend of classical ethics is questioned in the biobank context (Williams, 2005). The individual usefulness (or not) of results, the consideration of potential risks and the stigmatisation merit careful consideration. Due to the sensitive nature of certain genetic data, such data can entail risks of discrimination or stigmatisation within populations or communities. These risks must be recognised, both with respect to recruitment and interpretation of results, by properly informing

participants and by taking action to avoid or minimise their occurrence (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007).

Non-physical harm can result in the form of, for instance, stigmatization and discrimination at work as well as anxiety and disturbed relationships with spouses, children, relatives, and friends. Not all risks of harm are related to specific individuals (Clayton, 1995).

However, informing participants of the risks of stigmatisation combined with "misinformation" on the nature of biobanks can have a negative impact on recruitment and can even introduce biases. Providing participants with too many details on the remote possibility of stigmatisation may alarm them and lead them to question the legitimacy and true nature of the proposed research (Cambon-Thomsen et al., 2007).

2.9 Ethical and Legal Frameworks

Different logics of regulation for the use and procurement of biological samples and data have appeared both at the national and international levels, sometimes through specific legally binding instruments or by general regulatory texts (Knoppers, 2005b; Joly et al., 2005; Uranga et al., 2005). For example, the Council of Europe's Steering Committee on Bioethics stated in an explanatory memorandum that:

When biological materials of human origin and personal data are collected it is best practice to ask the sources for their consent to future use, even in cases where the specifics of the future research projects are unknown (CDBI, 2006).

The NCI Best Practices and other guidelines documents do not establish new policies, but rather provide guidance to biospecimen resources concerning the critical factors to consider when establishing and using a biospecimen collection. At the international level, the International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC, 2008) has developed a set of policies for informed consent, custodianship, data access and sharing, and

intellectual property that provides a framework for large, multicentric studies focused on genetics and genomics. Nigerian National Code for Health Research Ethics (2007) focused on research with no mention of biobank research.

However, guidance on these issues is constantly evolving due to advances in technology that make it difficult to assure that biospecimens cannot be used to identify a person, changes in the public perception of the appropriate use of human tissue for research, and considerations on the stringency of informed consent policies regarding future unexpected research uses of biospecimens (Vaught et al., 2010).

It is pertinent to get the perspectives of Nigerians on informed consent for the collection of samples for biobanking, confidentiality; secondary use of samples and data over time; return of results; and data sharing for biobanking for the non-communicable diseases research, and future research use of this specimens and data can be described in the consent form so that prospective participants can make informed decisions on how they wish to participate and how their body biological samples as well as data will be used in this research.

Precedence suggest that these issues need to be given careful consideration in order to avoid past mistakes as seen in recent controversy surrounding the use of banked biological samples from the Havasupai tribe in Arizona by Arizona State University researchers (Mello & Wolf, 2010), of which tribal members who provided biospecimens for diabetes research sued the university and the researchers when they discovered that their biospecimens had also been used for schizophrenia and ancestry studies.

2.10 Non-communicable disease research

The major non-communicable diseases (NCDs) are cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, cancer, chronic lung disease, and depression. In Africa, along with the rest of the developing world, the prevalence of non-communicable diseases is increasing and their etiology may interact with the prevailing epidemic of communicable diseases in yet unknown ways making research into them imperative (Adebamowo & Akarolo-Anthony, 2009). In addition, given the "out of Africa" theory of human evolution, understanding the African genome is a prerequisite to elucidating the genetic etiology of diseases in other populations (Campbell & Tishkoff, 2010). Efforts such as PaCT (a multinational prospective epidemiology cohort study of 500,000 persons in Nigeria, Tanzania, Uganda and South Africa) and Human Heredity for Health in Africa H3Africa led by NIH/NHGRI and Welcome Trust are being developed to increase the number and range of non-communicable disease research projects in Africa and support this with necessary training and infrastructures.

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

3.1 Research Design

Qualitative research was conducted in Kano State - a State in the predominantly Muslim North and 2 States (Oyo and Enugu) in the predominantly Christian Southern part and the Federal Capital Territory of Nigeria among members of the general public.

The fieldwork was carried out between 12th January and 17th February 2011.

3.2 Research Setting - the research was carried out in Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and the Federal Capital Territory.

3.2.1 Enugu State

Enugu State is in the South East Geo-Political Zone of Nigeria. Its capital town is Enugu from which the state derives its name. It was carved out of the old Anambra State on 27th August, 1991. The State is located between 7° 10′N and 7° 45′N of equator, and on longitude of 7.4878°E and latitude of 6.4231°N. It is bounded on the North by Kogi/Benue States, on the South by Abia/Imo states, on the East by Ebonyi State and West by Anambra State. Igbo and English are the medium of communication. Most, 98% of the populations are Christians while the remainder belongs to other religious sects. The state is noted for its coal deposit, the largest in Africa. Other mineral resources found in the state include limestone, iron-ore and bauxite. The state is the headquarters of the former Eastern Region of Nigeria. This is the **Coal City State** of Nigeria. In the 2006 Population and Housing Census, Enugu State is made up of 1,596,042 males and 1,671,795 females.

3.2.2 Kano State

The state is located in the North West Geo-Political Zone of Nigeria. Its capital is Kano City. The state is historically a commercial and agricultural state known in the past for its groundnut pyramids. It has many tourist and cultural centres which include the colourful Annual Durbar, museums, monuments, leather works and craft. Some notable dams in the state are Challewa and Tiga Dams. The State is known as **Centre of Commerce**. In the 2006 Population and Housing Census, Kano State is made up of 4,947,952 males and 4,453,336 females. Kano State was created on May 27, 1967 from part of the Northern Region, Kano State borders Katsina State to the north-west, Jigawa State to the north-east, Bauchi and Kaduna States to the south. Hausa is the major language of communication. Islam is the religion that dominates the State with a little percentage of Christians, who are mainly found in the cities.

3.2.3 Oyo State

The State is located in the South West Geo-Political Zone of the country. Its capital town is Ibadan, once reputed as the largest city in Africa. It is bounded on the South by Osun State, on the East by Ogun State, on the North by Kwara State and on the West by the Republic of Benin. The Yoruba are overwhelmingly the major ethnic group, although some minorities such as the Hausas, Igbos, and Fulanis live peacefully with the indigenes. The state is predominantly Christians. In the 2006 Population and Housing Census, Oyo State is made up of male 2,802,432 female 2,778,462 Major towns in the state are Oyo of the famous Oyo Empire, Ogbomoso, Iseyin and Saki. The tourist attractions include Agodi Botanical Garden, Mapo Hall, Ado-Awaye Suspended Lake, Ido Cenotaph and Igbeti Hills. Some of the mineral resources found in the state are marble, clay, kaolin, iron ore, cassiterite and dolomite. This is the **Pacesetter State** of Nigeria.

3.2.4 Federal Capital Territory (FCT), Abuja

The Territory is located in the North Central Geo-Political Zone of Nigeria. FCT Abuja is the capital of Nigeria. It occupies a land area of 7,753.9 Sq. Km. The Territory shares boundaries with Kaduna, Kogi, Nassarawa and Niger States. It took over formally from Lagos in December 12, 1991 when the Federal Government, then under General I.B. Babangida, relocated it to Abuja and signed into law, documents formally proclaiming the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja as the capital of Nigeria.

On the world map Abuja lies between latitude 8°25": and 9°20": North of the Equator and longitude 6°45": and 7°39": East of the Greenwich Meridian. This geography places it at the centre of Nigeria and within the region generally referred to as the middle belt zone and covers about 8000km it is located in the North Central Zone of Nigeria. And it lies north of the Niger-Benue trough. Abuja is bordered on the north by Kaduna State, Plateau State to the east and south east, Kogi to the south west and to the west. It is deliberately shaped like a heart to signify its position as the heart of Nigeria. The dominant religion in the FCT is Christianity, followed by Islam. A few people however, still practice their traditional religion. There are many Churches and Mosques scattered in various parts of the territory. In the 2006 Population and Housing Census, the FCT is made up of male733,172 female 673,067.



Figure 3.1: Map of Nigeria showing the sampled states and the FCT

3.3 Methodology

3.3.1 Focus Group Discussions-Sixteen Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) were conducted with members of the general public, including people from major and minority ethnic groups, and from people of wide-ranging ages, socio-economic groups, using agreed topic guides and prompt statements that outline general issues on biobanking of biospecimens, informed consent; confidentiality; secondary use of samples and data over time; return of results; and data sharing in biobanking research. The principle was to explore unprompted knowledge and understanding, then elicit response to facts spelled out in the prompt material. The material comprised statements describing human biological samples and their use, and the proposed sample collection for biobanking research on non communicable diseases.

One FGD was conducted for males and a separate one for females in 2 settings; one rural, one urban in **Enugu**, **Kano** and **Oyo** States as well as the **FCT**as shown in tables 3.1 and 3.2. The participants were selected by a contact person in the states prior to the interview. The FGD participants were select by contact persons in the states. Each FGD consisted of 8 to 10 participants and were balanced in terms of gender, age (Adults older than 18 years only), socio-economic status and religious affiliation. The FGDs were moderated by the researcher with interpretation by a native of Gbagi, Hausa, Igbo and Yoruba. The FGDs were audio-taped and lasted an average of one hour. Copy of the FGD guide is attached as appendix 1.

All participants in the FGD gave informed consent after they had been adequately informed about the study. The consent form is appendix 2.

Table 3.1: Matrix of FGD participants' selection among the males general population in 2 LGAs each of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT.

Level of	1 Urban LO	GA	1 Rural L	GA	Total
Literacy	Young	Adult	Young	Adult	persons
	Male	Male	Male	Male	
Literate	2	2	2	2	8x4States=32
Illiterate	2	2	2	2	8x4States=32
Total	4	4	4	4	64

Table 3.2: Matrix of FGD participants' selection among the females general population in 2 LGAs each of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT.

Level of	Urban LGA	L	Rural LGA		Total
Literacy	Young	Adult	Young	Adult	persons
	Female	Female	Female	Female	
Literate	2	2	2	2	8x4States=32
Illiterate	2	2	2	2	8x4States=32
Total	4	4	4	4	64

3.3.2 Key Informant Interviews (KII) - were conducted to elicit information about informed consent; confidentiality; secondary use of samples and data over time; return of results; willingness to participate; specimens and data sharing in biobanking research among spokesperson/opinion leader (male and female) of the communities; community leaders, Christian and Muslim religious leaders, government officials, administrators scientists, ethicists, teachers, students, medical doctors, nurses, pharmacists, people with non-communicable disease, and relatives of patient with non-communicable disease.

Purposive sampling method was used to select the KIIs participants to represent a broad range of views and experiences, using the concept of maximum variation (Crabtree & Miller, 1999). The purposive sample size was determined on the basis of theoretical saturation, when new data no longer bring additional insights to the research topic (Mack et al., 2005). Experience has shown that a sample size of 12 to 20 is commonly needed when looking for disconfirming evidence or trying to achieve maximum variation (Crabtree & Miller, 1999). The purposive sampling method is often used in qualitative studies to identify groups of people with specific characteristics or circumstances (Patton, 2002). Table 3.3 – 3.5 below shows the distribution of categories of KIIs that were conducted in **Enugu, Kano, Oyo** States and the **FCT**. The interview guides was semi-structured and scenario-based and updated after the FGDs to elicit more in-depth responses, using follow-up questions, prompts and probes. See the guide which is attached as appendix 3.

The key informant interviews were conducted by the researcher, with interpretation in the local language (Gbagi, Hausa, Igbo, and Yoruba) where necessary. The key informant interviews were audio-taped and lasted an average of 30 minutes.

All KII participants gave consent after being adequately informed about the study. The consent form is appendix 4.

Table 3.3: Matrix of KII participants' selection among the general population in 2 LGAs each of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT

Category	Urban LGA	Rural LGA	Total
Community leader	1	1	2x4States=8
Spokesperson/Opinion	1	1	2x4States=8
leader (male)			
Spokesperson/Opinion	1	1	2x4States=8
leader (Female)			
Christians &	1	1	2x4States=8
Christian religious			
leader			
Muslim & Muslim	1	1	2x4States=8
religious leader			
Traditionalist	1	1	2x4States=8
Total	6	6	48

Table 3.4: Matrix of KII participants' selection among the middle and upper level income population and health professionals in one Urban LGAs of Enugu, Kano, Oyo States and FCT.

Category	Urban LGA	Total
Govt. official	1	1x4States=4
Administrator	1	1x4States=4
Scientist	1	1x4States=4
Ethicist	1	1x4States=4
Teacher	1	1x4States=4
Student	1	1x4States=4
Medical Doctor	1	1x4States=4
Nurse	1	1x4States=4
Pharmacist	1	1x4States=4
Patient with non-	1	1x4States=4
communicable		
disease		
Relative of patient	1	1x4States=4
with non-		
communicable		
disease		
Research	1	1x4States=4
participant in the		
past		
Total	12	48

Table 3.5: Matrix of KII participants' selection considering educational levels in the population in one Urban LGAs of Kano, Oyo Enugu States and Federal Capital Territory.

Education	Number	Total
Secondary school/ no	2	2x4States=8
degree		
Diploma	2	2x4States=8
Bachelor's degree	2	2x4States=8
Master's degree	2	2x4States=8
Doctorate or	2	2x4States=8
professional degree		
Total	10	40

3.4 Consequences and benefits of the study for the local community, environment and participants

This study is beneficial to society because it elicits the public's attitude to biobanking and provides a rational basis for the specification of the ethical guidelines for biobanking. This kind of research does not come with a duty of beneficence toward specific individuals, only an obligation to assure confidentiality and produce as much useful generalizable knowledge as possible (Forsberg et al., 2009). Thus, the benefits to the participants are indirect.

3.5 Risk/Harm

The major risks in this study are breach of confidentiality, the time of respondents and the risk that participants may find some of the questions uncomfortable. In order to reduce these risks, all questions were asked in such a way that they were not offensive to the participants. Records were kept under lock and key and no personal identifiers were collected. Other measures that were employed to safeguard information included encrypting computer databases, limiting geographic detail, and suppressing cells in tabulated data.

3.6 Justice and Fairness

Participation in this study is non-discriminatory of any category of people or community member.

3.7 Responsibility/Litigation

It is hoped that no litigation will arise as a result of the research, as the names of the participants were not collected and exposed to the public that could lead to stigmatization and or otherwise. Codes were used instead of names.

3.8 Method of Data Analysis

The audio-taped FGDs and KIIs were transcribed by the researcher who was also the interviewer, immediately on return from the field and verified prior to analysis which was done manually to facilitate thematic coding, evaluation and analysis. The recorded voices have been exported into the computer hard disk and kept confidential by the researcher and will be destroyed in due course.

3.9 Dissemination of Result of Study

Part of the result was presented at the Joint Conference of the African and Southern African Societies Human Genetics in Cape Town, South Africa from 6 - 9th March, 2011, and the Joint Meeting of National Health Research Ethics Committee (NHREC) and Research Ethics Committees (RECs) in Nigeria – November 26, 2011. The results shall be presented at other scientific fora in future. The thesis shall be kept at the library of the University of Ibadan and Institute of Human Virology Nigeria for reference purposes, while the findings of the study will be disseminated through publication in a reputable journal.

3.10 Ethical approval

The research protocol for this study was approved by the NATIONAL HEALTH RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE, FEDERAL MINISTRY OF HEALTH, ABUJA, just because the research was carried out in other states in addition to Oyo State were the University of Ibadan is located.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 FINDINGS

4.1 Key Informant Interview demographic characteristics

There were 66 participants. The age of the participants ranged from 19 to 75 years (mean was 43.4 years). There were 51 (77.3%) males and 15 (22.7%) females. Twenty four (36.4%) were Muslim and 42 (63.6%) were Christians. Their occupations were Medical Doctors (3), Nurses (5) Pharmacist (1), Ethicists (2), Scientists (4), Government officials (4), Administrators (2), Teachers (4), Students (4), Muslim leaders (4), Christian leaders (4), lawyers (3), Male spokesperson/Opinion leaders (7), Female spokesperson/Opinion leaders (7), Community leaders (7), Traditionalist (1), Patient with NCD (3) and relatives of patients with NCD (1). See table 4.1

Table 4.1: Key Informant Interview demographic characteristic

S.	State	LGA	Village	Setting	Tribe	Number	Sex	
No.						sampled		
1	Enugu	Nkanu	Ojiagwu	Rural	Igbo	5	Male	3
		West	Agbani				Female	2
		Enugu	Enugu	Urban	Igbo	14	Male	9
		North					Female	5
2	Kano	Kura	Azoren	Rural	Hausa	4	Male	3
			Waje				Female	1
		Ungogo	Gayawa	Urban	Hausa	12	Male	11
							Female	1
					Others	1	Male	1
3	Oyo	Oluyole	Idi	Rural	Yoruba	5	Male	3
			Ayunre				Female	2
		Egbeda	Manatan	Urban	Yoruba	10	Male	9
			Arolu				Female	1
4	FCT	Bwari	Ushafa	Rural	Gbagi	4	Male	3
							Female	1
		AMAC	Karu	Urban	Gbagi	7	Male	6
							Female	1
					Others	4	Male	3
							Female	1
	Total	8	8	8		66		66

4.2 Attitude of the Key Informant Interviewees to biobank and other related issues

4.2.1 Medical Doctors, Pharmacist and Nurses

4.2.1.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

The respondents were told, through statements on the inform consent form, that the Biobank just established in Nigeria will be collecting human biological samples for use in non-communicable disease research and future researches. They saw it as a welcome development. From the first probe, only one Medical Doctor knew something about biobank, while the others and the nurses knew little about biobank research. However, after given them an overview of biobanks, in their own words, they related it to the commercial bank and defined it from that perspective.

Biobank is a machine that stores specimen for accessing what is wrong with people.

Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

We all know the meaning bank, bank is a storage pot. When you say bio it has to do with blood tissues or any chemical issue stored in the bank.

Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

Biobank is storage facility for biological samples.

Female Pharmacist urban D18 - Enugu

4.2.1.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

The knowledge of and attitudes to medical research and non-communicable diseases varied widely among these health personnels. They have good understanding of the subject and are very willing to participate in the biobank research.

Non-communicable diseases as the name goes, are diseases common to the upper echelon or classes of people, they are diabetes and the

likes. Research is about studies, try to find out one or two things and gaining inference from that.

Male Medical Doctor urban C2- FCT

Research is something that people or researchers do to get something that they want. Non-communicable diseases are not transferable. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

Research is wanting to know about something, like if there is a health or social problem or condition. You get in-depth to know why this thing happened, how it happened, what will be done to manage that condition. And non-communicable diseases are diseases that are not transmitted by vectors, they are diseases of multifactoral courses that also require more than one intervention to control.

Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

Non-communicable diseases are usually pathological response by the body to our physiological systems. They also have some genetic connotation to some extent. They are equally as serious as communicable ones.

Female Pharmacist urban D18 - Enugu

Research is something to be done about a particular thing, the way to use that thing, to know more about that thing.

Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

Their sources of information and influence on knowledge and attitudes surrounding medical research and non-communicable disease research were the media – television, newspapers, magazines, journals and informed scientists. Journal and television documentaries were the most widely used.

4.2.1.3 Consent for the biobank research

Asking consent showed the value the participants have. The majority of these participants preferred restricted consent as compared to broad and/or tiered consent. However some of them that would give the restricted consent said they may eventually give broad consent if they are given feedback.

I prefer the restricted consent of which you have to come for another consent if you want to use my specimen for other researches. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

I think the broad consent is total consent and the restricted is partial consent. I will choose the broad consent.

Male Medical Doctor urban C2 - FCT

I prefer the tiered consent, but may thereafter give a broad consent if I am given feedback on what has been done with my specimen.

Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

*I will pick restricted consent as my option.*Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

I prefer the consent that will be for the immediate and forget about it (i.e tiered consent).

Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

4.2.1.4 Feelings about having the donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research.

Most participants in these group of respondents wouldn't like the sharing of their specimens with other researchers without re-consenting. Only few individuals wouldn't mind the sharing of their specimen with other researchers provided the non-communicable disease researchers trust what the other researchers would do with their specimens.

Provided you trust them you can go ahead and give other researchers my specimen.

Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

If I did not give a broad consent then I do not permit you to share my specimen with other researchers.

Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

My consent has to be obtained again before you share my specimen with other researchers. Am a health worker I know what am heading to

Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

You can share my specimen with other researchers, I do not have problem with that. You may also take the samples to others countries as long as it is not used for human cloning and things that Christianity will frown at.

Female Pharmacist Urban D18 - Enugu

No, do not give my specimens to other researchers. Since you are the one I trust in and gave my sample to, do not give to others. You are free to take it outside the country for further analysis. Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

4.2.1.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

The participants that will inform their spouses before participating in the biobank research were in the majority. They are of the belief that their spouses will not be happy when they get to know of it later. Only a few respondents said they do not have to let anybody know.

I will not participate in the research if I did not tell my husband. Female Nurse urban C1 - FCT

My wife will feel bad if I do not let her know before participating. Male Nurse/Spokesperson urban C7- FCT

I will tell my husband, and he will feel bad if I did not do so. Since I am under him, he need to know all about what I want to do. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

I do not need to inform anybody before I participate in the research, except if it a drug trial. This is because of our experience during the Pfizer drug trial in Kano.

Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

For medicolegal reasons I do have to tell anybody before I participate. There's an age you will reach that you do not need to tell anybody before you do so.

Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

*I don't have to inform anybody before I take part in the research.*Male Medical Doctor urban C2 - FCT

I will notify my husband and my children of my interest to participate. There's no way I will not tell them, they will not like it if they get to know later.

Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

4.2.1.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

The participants in this group felt that access to individual research results had significant implications. Several of them thought it would be very important to receive

feedback and general news about studies done through the biobank, though with precounselling. A few participants were not bothered.

I would like to be given feedback, especially my personal results because through telling me I will know what to do. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

I should be given counselling before am given any feedback. It should involve pre-counselling.

Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

It is important for me to know, if the biobank discover something serious about my health, they should let me know. Female Pharmacist Urban D18 - Enugu

I should be give feedback even when it is discovered that I have a serious case. I could be given news as well. Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

4.2.1.7 Perception of benefits of participating in biobank research

The majority view of the respondents was that the research will lead to drugs discovery that could help in the management of diseases. A few participants said the research will help them get medication if they are discovered to have health problems. The benefits accruing to the participants need to be clearly stated, since in many cases, there's no direct benefits to patients from donation of biospecimens for biobank research.

Biobanking can be lead to discoveries that can enhance and improve the management of diseases. It can help you to be more careful. Male Medical Doctor urban C2 - FCT

If I have one of the conditions, a cure or its management can be found which I or people around me will benefit from.

Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

It is a one step access to specimens for research and experiments. If there's problem in my family, it might be traced to my genetic coding or lineage, and it might be through my specimens or that of my family member collected over time.

Female Pharmacist Urban D18 - Enugu

If my specimen is tested and I have disease, the direct drugs to be used could be given to me.

Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

If a patient that has a health problem can get medication from this research I am indirectly helped as I am part of the community. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

4.2.1.8 Future use of the specimens from the biobank research

Majority of the participants were sceptical on the kind of research that will be carried out in the future as no examples of future uses could be given. A few were not bothered on the use of their samples for future research.

I do not mind if the sample will be kept and used indefinitely. Male Medical Doctor urban C2 - FCT

I may not want to be involved in future researches as I do not know the type of researches that will be carried out. Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

4.2.1.9 Concerns about the Biobank research

The majority of the concerns of these respondents included misuse of information, confidentiality and the possibility of discovery of deadly disease on them. A few of them could not express what their concerns were as they do not have detail information on the operations of biobanks.

A participant was particularly uncomfortable about research that will involved human cloning which she said is unethical. Another participant said if the blood is not collected in the hospital setting he will not donate as he was worried that his blood could be used for rituals.

The issue of confidentiality has to be put into consideration, also if any, you inform the participant of a possible deadly disease or worsening of his situation.

Male Medical Doctor urban C2 - FCT

I do not know the risk of biobank research now. I need further knowledge about it to be able to say the risk involved. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

There may be some risk. If you are someone who want to know what happens to your specimen you may feel disturbed. Any breach of confidentiality can make me change my mind. That is if someone meet me somewhere and said I learnt you gave your sample for a research. Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

Everything has its own risk. I think biobank has its own risk. One can be infected by those tissues stored in the bank. There can be occupational hazards.

Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

I do not have any concern, I think it does not have any risk. Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

My fear and concern is that the samples may be used for unethical practices in the future such as human cloning, thereby deviating from the intended purpose of the biobank.

Female Pharmacist Urban D18 - Enugu

If my specimen will not be collected at the hospital I will not give it, because collecting it in the hospital will assure me that you will not use it for ritual.

Male Nurse/Spokesperson urban C7- FCT

4.2.1.10 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

One of the participants was bothered if the biobank will carry out research on human cloning that is contrary to her religious belief. Others do not think biobank is against their religion or culture.

Anything related to health, my Muslim religion is not against it. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

Like I mentioned before, the samples may be used for unethical practices such as human cloning which will interfere with my Christian belief. Uncertainty on this and limited knowledge on the religious implication on my action can make me change my mind of participating in the research.

Female Pharmacist Urban D18 - Enugu

I don't think there's any religious or cultural view that is against biobank research.

Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

4.2.1.11 Access to medical records for the biobank research

A majority of interviewees said that permitting access to their medical record would not affect their decision of participating. Some participants believed it will help them get clarifications on some things about themselves.

Access to my medical records wouldn't change anything. Male Medical Doctor urban D9 - Enugu

You are helping me so I will not feel bad. There are some things which I may not understand, but through the research it will become clear. Female Pharmacy Technician/spokesperson urban B3 - Kano

It depend on how you use my medical records, since it is not an issue of identification, no problem.

Male Medical Doctor urban B6 - Kano

Having access to my medical records won't change anything. Male Medical Doctor urban C2 - FCT

You know that medical record is supposed to be something secret, so it has to be with my consent.

Female Nurse rural A12 - Oyo

4.2.2 Religious Leaders and Members

4.2.2.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

A majority of the respondents showed interest in the proposed sample collection for biobanking and some of then found it much easier than others to understand and say what it is all about.

*Biobank is where they keep blood for research.*Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

*Biobank is where blood is stored for researching on infections.*Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

Biobank is used for carrying out research on non-communicable diseases like cancer and diabetes.

Male Muslim Leader urban B6 - Kano

4.2.2.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

The knowledge of, and attitudes of the participants to medical and non-communicable disease research varied widely. The majority of the participants had good knowledge of research. They believe it will help to gain insight into the unknown, discover new things and to solve problems.

Specifically when they are talking about research, it is all about quest for something that is not glaring yet. It is to acquire the real fact about it, if it is possible and the necessary solution, and ways of making such a thing materialised. I feel research is part of discovering new things. I will participate in the research, but it depends on the quantity of blood they may need. I feel if it is a research to discover something tomorrow, it is not a problem to me, I can donate free.

Male Christian Leader urban C11 - FCT

Research has to do with in-depth searching, analysis, collation of data for a particular purpose, especially for finding solution to a particular problem.

Male Christian leader rural C13 - FCT

Research is finding out what happens before a solution is gotten. Male Muslim Leader urban C6 - FCT

Research is something you don't know and you want to know more. Male Muslim Leader urban A9 - Oyo

Non-communicable disease are diseases that cannot be transferred from one person to another through contact, such as diabetes, cancer, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, like congestive heart failure and depression.

Male Christian Leader rural D3- Enugu

I do not know what non-communicable diseases is. Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

Research is to clarify about what is secret. Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

I am well aware of non-communicable diseases Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

Their sources of information and influence on research were the media – television, newspapers, magazines and public enlightenment – were their main source of

information and influence on knowledge and attitudes surrounding medical and noncommunicable disease research.

I get information from people that come from ministry of health that enlightens us.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

4.2.2.3 Consent for the biobank research

The majority of the respondents said they will give broad consent. An individual would not participate, while another participant believed that the biobank researchers will still go ahead and use his specimen for other researches even if he chooses the restricted consent.

I think that the broad consent you mentioned is okay by me, which is for as long as it is going to be of help to humanity.

Male Christian Leader urban C11 - FCT

Informed consent has to do with me giving my consent or making what we call informed choice that is based on knowledge. I will give the broad consent for the research.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

Even if I did not allow them they will still go ahead and use my specimen. What is the need choosing a particular consent.

Male Muslim Leader urban C6- FCT

I do not want to participate in the biobank research, and my reasons are personal to me.

Male Muslim Leader Urban B7 - Kano

*I will give the restricted and the broad consent.*Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

I will ask you to continue using my specimen for other research if it will not harm me.

Male Muslim Leader urban A13 - Oyo

I will give the restricted consent.

Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

Only a few of the participants tend to show some disagreement on the sharing of their sample with other researchers. The majority wouldn't mind the sharing of their specimens. A participant expressed confidence on USA as the only country he would like his specimen to be sent to based on what he had heard about their meticulous way of handling medical problems and researches, and the value they have on human lives, which most Africans don't have.

I particularly defer, the person I gave the authority over my blood should also be able to use my blood and be confidential about it, it shouldn't be extended to another researcher.

Male Christian Leader urban C11 - FCT

I will not feel bad if you share my specimen with other researchers provided it will be for a good purpose. Some people may come from other west African country, I will not give them my sample as I do not know what they will do with it. Now we are afraid people take blood for a different things.

Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

You may share my specimen with other researchers. You can send it to any country that does well in research or are competent in research, for example USA. My reason is based on the little I have heard about their meticulous way of handling medical problems and on researching, and what I heard about the value they have on human lives, they value human lives a lot, most Africans don't value human lives.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

If I have given my specimen, it is wholehearted. Why should I worry myself about which researcher is using it or the country of shipment. Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

You should not share my sample, other researchers should do their own work and collect their samples.

Male Muslim Leader urban A13 - Oyo

If I am told before time you can go ahead and share. You may also send it abroad, it could be any country.

Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

A major proportion of the respondents said they must let their spouses know. Others mentioned their children and parents. A few of them do not think it is necessary to inform anybody.

As a family man, I should be able to consult my wife. My family will feel bad if I do not tell them.

Male Christian Leader urban C11 - FCT

I will give my consent since it has to do with health. It is immaterial to tell any body, because I am independent, I am autonomous. Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

I will inform my wife, children and my parents before giving consent to participate in the research. This is because if something negative happens as a result of my participation, they will get to know it and blame me.

Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

Not until I consult anybody before I give consent, am old enough to give consent.

Male Muslim Leader urban C6 - FCT

I will inform my father before I participate in the research.

Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

A majority of the participants would like to be given feedback on the research and would want to know if it became apparent that they had some serious diseases. Though it would be unwelcome news, it would be preferable to hear it earlier rather than later. It would allow more time to prepare for the outcome, and the more warning the better. One of the participant believed that feedback could be a motivation to enlighten others about the biobank research.

I will appreciate feedback, because it will add to my own knowledge base. I think you should give me my result but if you feel you will not give it to me there's no problem.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

They should give us feedback on the research. That's why we gave them our sample. It will also help us to enlighten others about the biobank research.

Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

I would like to receive feedback. And when my result is favourable, it will encourage me to continue my participation.

Male Muslim Leader urban C6 - FCT

I am however interested in the general news on the biobank, even though I do not want to participate.

Male Muslim Leader urban B7 - Kano

*I will need feedback of the research.*Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

*I will require feedback.*Male Muslim Leader urban A13 - Oyo

I should be given feedback and news about the research. If something serious about my health is discovered I should be informed, including news. I will not be happy if I am not given my individual result.

Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.7 Perception of benefits of participating in the Biobank research

The participants believed that the biobanking research will help in the effective management of non-communicable diseases. Some participants mentioned the benefit of keeping the specimens for a long time for future use and how they stand to benefit indirectly from the research.

The research can help me if they find sickness in me, and if I am cured I have been helped.

Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

The specimens can easily be reached and research upon, and could be stored for a long period of time. Though, I do not have noncommunicable diseases there are those who are related to me that have it. By the time there's positive outcome of the research, I stand to benefit indirectly, because my relations or sibling who may be affected could be treated.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

Biobank research can be beneficial, if peoples' specimen are used for research, and there's success.

Male Muslim Leader urban B7 - Kano

It is for future prevention. It will help me in the future. Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

With this research I will get to know what is happening to me. Male Muslim Leader urban A13 - Oyo

The research will help in the management of some of this serious diseases(non-communicable). The specimens can be kept for a long time for future studies.

Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.8 Concerns about the Biobank research

The few participants that were a bit knowledgeable on research had some concerns, while others who were less informed often do not have concerns. There were concerns about possible deviation from the objective of the research. The issue of confidentiality was emphasised. Overall, the religious leaders believed their followers will be willing to take part in the research.

If they take your blood and there's no feedback you won't know what they did with the blood. The disadvantaged part of it is if they didn't do the work very well, or they are not doing the work they way it supposed. If people get to know about it they will be discouraged. Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

Some of those samples if they are not well managed or well stored or well preserve they could infect people who are lethal. For instance if they are expose to bacterial contamination while in the biobank, they could be a source of infection to those who are lethal. If the researchers are not diligent enough to sought out the solution to the diseases, but just collected data and not making use of them that could be a source of concern.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

Biobank is new to me, I wouldn't know if it has risk. Male Muslim Leader Urban B7 - Kano

If I discover any wrong step that is taken in the course of the research I will withdraw my participation.

Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

Since I do not know much about biobank, I wouldn't know the risk involved in it. I will have concern if you sell my blood.

Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.9 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

No single participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

A participant said the bible has some aspects that laid emphasise on how to help people out of their condition which is what the biobank does.

I think the thing the bible emphasised is how to help people out of their condition, so the bible specify things in helping people much, so God has given them the wisdom, I don't think there's any thing wrong with the research. It will help people out of problems.

Male Christian Leader rural C13 - FCT

I have not found anything that contradict it (biobank research). Am not a cultural practitioner, I don't partake in most of the culture because of my Christian belief because most of the cultural belief contradicts the Christian beliefs and ethics.

Male Christian Leader rural D3 - Enugu

My refusal to participate is not due to religious or cultural issues. Male Muslim Leader urban B7 - Kano

My religion is not against it, but there's divine healing. Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

My religion is not against biobanking research. Male Muslim Leader urban A13 - Oyo

My religion is not against this kind of research. Male Muslim Leader rural B14 - Kano

4.2.2.10 Access to medical records for the biobank research

A majority of interviewees said that providing access to their medical record would not affect their decision about participating. A participant said he does not go to the hospital and so do not have medical records.

I will not feel bad if you have access to my medical records. Male Christian Leader urban A13 - Oyo

*I do not have any medical record.*Male Muslim Leader urban A13 - Oyo

I will not be worried if you have access to my medical records.

4.2.3 People with non-communicable diseases and their relatives

4.2.3.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

Individuals suffering from diseases and those individuals' relatives tended to be better informed and more accepting of the use of biological specimen in the biobank research.

Bank is where we store things, money or anything you want to store. Biobank is were we store specimens that are collected from human being for study in order to benefit human kind.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

4.2.3.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

In their understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research, they perceived research as that which focused on finding cures, solving problems and discovering drugs for diseases. In broad terms, they believed its purpose was focused on improving the health of the humanity.

In my understanding of research, it can be considered in two ways; I. Re-means looking at it again; 2. Search-means study. When you combine the two it means you are studying something that was there before either to put it in a proper way to get result. Non-communicable diseases are like neglected diseases because not much is known or being done about them by the government, even though they are very dangerous. Infact, they are all silent killers.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

Research is used to determine the fact on something and how it will be done to achieve an objective. I know about non-communicable diseases. When I was tested, I was told that I am hypertensive. Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

Research is to test someone that is not well to ascertain what is wrong with him.

Relation of hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

Their Sources of information and influence on research were the media – television and newspapers.

4.2.3.3 Consent for the biobank research

A majority of the participants supported giving restricted consent for the proposed biobank research.

I do not want to participate in the research just because of my health condition. I am always very careful.

Male Diabetic patient urban C10 - FCT

Each time you want to conduct other studies with my specimens I would prefer you re-contact me (i.e tiered consent).

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

I will give the restricted consent.

Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

*I will give the broad consent.*Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.3.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

A majority of the participants would permit the sharing of their specimens with other researchers. Only a participant would like re-consenting before his specimen is taken abroad for further studies and would like to know the outcome of such a shipment.

I will not feel bad if my specimen is shared, but I should give consent if you want to send abroad, and it doesn't matter whether the researcher is local or international. I would like to know the outcome of the international shipment.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

You may go ahead and give my specimen to other researcher. You may also take it abroad.

Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

If you believe there's no problem giving my sample to other researchers, you can go ahead. You may also send my sample abroad. But if you want to use my sample for HIV research I should be told. Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.3.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

These respondents do not think they are obliged to tell anybody before participating in the research.

It is a personal thing. I will not discuss with anyone before participating in the research.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

I do not need to tell anybody before I participate in the research. Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

*I won't tell anybody before I participate.*Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.3.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

Personal feedback was also seen to be important and could be given to their relations if giving them directly could have negative effects. If people were voluntarily donating samples it was only fair to give them information that came to light about themselves as a result of the samples being used.

I would like to be given news and information on the biobank research.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

I am sure I will be given feedback especially my result. Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

If it is possible for me to know the result it is OK. But if you feel it will be a problem to me, you may tell any of my relations that you feel should know.

Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.3.7 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research

A majority of the respondents believe that the research will lead to drugs discovery that could assist them or their family members in the future. Some participants said the research will help in informing them on some potentially unknown diseases. In many

cases, there will be no direct benefit to patients from donation of biospecimens for research. This needs to be made clear.

The research is for further improvement of mankind, and drugs can be manufactured through the research. It will bring about discovery. Since I am a victim of this non-communicable research, I will benefit personally.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

Certainly, I will benefit from the research and possibly get cured of this hypertension.

Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

If I have any infection it can be known through the research. Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.3.8 Concerns about the biobank research

These participants with diseases and their relatives were more supportive and had fewer reservations. A participant mentioned loss of confidentiality or privacy as the only concern he had.

If confidentiality is not kept, and the information I gave is used against me I will withdraw my participation.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

I do not have any worry about the biobank as it does not have any risk.

Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

I do not have any concern on biobank. I also do not know if it has any risk

Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.3.9 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

No single participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

It is not because of any religious or cultural reasons that I said I will not participate. It is just because of the health condition I am passing through.

Male Diabetic patient urban C10 - FCT

I personally do not have any religious or cultural belief that is against it. But some religious groups do not believe in donation of blood.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

There's no any religious or cultural belief that is against the biobank research.

Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

4.2.3.10 Medical record access for the biobank research

A majority of the discussants said that the researchers can have access to their medical records. The rationale for collecting information was understood by these respondents, especially people with diseases.

Collection of information from my medical record will not affect my participation, because I know it is something that I need to do.

Male Hypertensive patient/student urban C3 - FCT

You can go ahead to access my medical records. Male Hypertensive patient urban B8 - Kano

I have no problem allowing you access to my medical records. Relation of Hypertensive patient urban B9 - Kano

4.2.4 Spokesperson/opinion Leaders and Lawyers

4.2.4.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

Biobank research was not known, but had meaning and associations for most of the respondents. Many of these respondents were enthusiastic about biobank research. Generally the better it was understood, the more positive their view. The more informed and positive view was that it could be of great importance in identifying health problems, and treatment of disease. Some of their perception of biobank after an overview, which was expressed in their own words are mentioned below;

In biobank, information are gathered for further use. Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

Biobank is just like collecting blood and keeping it somewhere for research. It is different from medical research in that they will not give you treatment like what the doctors do in hospital when you go there.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

The term bio means life, the bank is a kind of storage. The biokank might connote organic materials that are kept in a specialized place for storage. Those organic materials can include diseases, blood samples and biomaterials.

Male Lawyer (1) D11- Enugu

I do not have anything to say about biobank, since I have not seen it. Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

I know about bank where I can deposit my money, I do not know about biobank.

Male Spokesperson urban A7 - Oyo

4.2.4.2 Understanding of, and attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

Their understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research were different based on personality and outlook on life. Majority of them were knowledgeable on research. Some of them said they would have no concerns if asked to donate samples; others seemed more anxious and would want to know how soon the research would start. They regarded research as a tool in medicine to get solution to problems, and felt it might have long-term benefits for themselves and their relatives. For some it was overdue but nevertheless welcome. A few were not knowledgeable in non-communicable diseases. For example, one of them said HIV and TB were non-communicable diseases. One of them believed that one way a non-communicable disease can be transferred is through blood transfusion.

Non-communicable diseases are diseases that cannot be transferred from one person to another.

Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

What I understand about research is that, may be you have a particular problem that has no solution, so with research it will assist you to be able to get solution. Research is all about findings. Finding

out about something you did not know before. And non-communicable disease cannot be transferred to another person.

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

May be you have a particular problem that has no solution. With research you be able to get solution to your problem or what you are looking for. Non-communicable diseases are diseases that you cannot get just like that except by blood transfusion, or any contact, such as ulcer and fever, unlike TB which is communicable.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

Research is where they store the blood for researching infections. Research is to bring out something inside something. Male Spokesperson urban D8 - Enugu

Research is something which a person can use in order to know something which is worrying somebody and health. An example of non-communicable disease is headache.

Male Spokesperson rural D1 - Enugu

Research is collecting data and information for a purpose. Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

Research is an advanced study. Finding out something that is in existence but is not known by man".

Male Lawyer (1) D11 - Enugu

Research is something you want to know deeper of it. Female Spokesperson urban A5 - Oyo

Research is an in-depth study about a particular subject, coming with specific answer about a specific subject. Non-communicable is a disease that a carrier cannot give to another person.

Male Lawyer urban (2) D12 - Enugu

I do not know what you meant by research. Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

Research is grass root development. Male Spokesperson urban A7- Oyo

Research in the area of human health is to find out what is wrong with the person, to know the steps to take, the drugs that could be used to cure it. Non-communicable diseases are things like HIV, TB, cancer and diabetes.

Male Spokesperson rural B15 - Kano

Their sources of information and influence on research were by chatting with their colleagues and the media such as television, newspapers, and magazines.

4.2.4.3 Consent for the biobank research

A majority of the participants would want re-contact for another consent for any future research with their specimens. Some of them reluctantly gave go ahead that samples can be used for further studies only if they cannot be reached again.

I will prefer that the researchers come to me for another consent for future use of my sample. I will give consent for non-communicable diseases research only (i.e. tiered consent).

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

I should be re-contacted if my sample will be used for another research, this is because it gives me more security (i.e. tiered consent). Male Lawyer urban (2) D12 - Enugu

Informed consent means to have my consent. If I give my consent for non-communicable disease research, and you people want to carry out another research you should come and meet me for another consent (i.e. tiered consent). But if I cannot be reached, you can go ahead.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

I would like to be informed before my specimen is used for another research (i.e. tiered consent). Even when I have moved away from my previous location, inquiries should be made at my previous location for my where about.

Male Spokesperson rural D1 - Enugu

I cannot tell you now of the type of consent I will give for the research, until I get details of the research, because blood can be used to do another thing. In the alternative I will seek further clarification from someone who is more knowledgeable.

Male Spokesperson urban D8 - Enugu

My specimen can be used for as many researches as possible since it is for good.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

If you collect my specimen you can use it for anything. Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

I will give consent for both the restricted and broad consent. Male Lawyer (1) D11 - Enugu

I will give consent for the restricted consent. Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

I will give broad consent.

Female Spokesperson urban À5 - Oyo

I will give the broad consent since it is research on human health. Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

A majority of the participants would permit the sharing of their specimen with other researchers. A majority were also not bothered if their samples are taken to other countries for further research. A few respondents did not want their samples sent to other African countries as they do not have faith on them. A participant would like to know the purpose, and the person that will benefit from taking the specimens abroad. Another participant would like an undertaken to be written before his specimen is taken abroad.

As long as it will bring progress to people you can share my specimen with other researchers. If it is sent abroad and something is discovered I would like to know.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

If the researchers are from one of the west African countries for example I will not give them my specimen, because we are not from the same country and I don't know what they will do with my blood there. But as far as Nigeria is concerned and you are one of my brother I know there is nothing that you discover that you will not let us know. I am afraid since people take blood for other things. They can however take my sample abroad (outside Africa).

Male Spokesperson rural D1 - Enugu

For me there no problem if you share my specimen with other researchers. For example when I was doing my diploma programme, I went to another place to obtain my data and they agreed to share with me. If I have a disease and they want to take my specimen abroad, they should let me know. Though my reason is to get the information so that I can seek for solution.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

I will like you to share my specimen with other researchers because it is not only one person that knows everything.

Male Spokesperson rural D1- Enugu

I have to get further advise from my senior brother before I permit you to take my specimen abroad or share it with other researchers.

Male Spokesperson urban D8 - Enugu

You can go ahead and share my specimen with other researchers provided you maintain confidentiality. If you take my specimen to advanced countries I have more confidence, because I know some Africans does not report research findings correctly. There's a kind of falsehood embedded in some of African science which is not based on facts and figures nor based on empiricism. But before sending my God given parts abroad, you should tell me the purpose, and the person that will benefit from this arrangement.

Male Lawyer (1) D11 - Enugu

If you want to take my specimen abroad for a good purpose, no problem. It is when you are taking for ritual purposes that I will not be happy.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

That is why I say I will not give absolute consent because you may want to do anything you want. I need a bit of information for me to allow you share with other researchers and to take it abroad.

Male Lawyer (2) D12 - Enugu

If you trust the researcher, you can go ahead and give them my specimen. You may also take it abroad.

Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

I will allow you to take it abroad and to share with other researchers. Female Spokesperson urban A5 - Oyo

You should not share my specimen with other researchers since I did not know them as I know you. I should be told when you want to take it abroad, so that you will write an undertaking.

Male Spokesperson urban A7 - Oyo

I won't feel bad if you share my specimen with other researchers or take it abroad for further analysis. It doesn't matter the country you take it to.

Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

If you think it necessary to share my specimen with other researchers you can go ahead. When I give my specimen it is whole heartedly. You can also take it abroad.

Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

Majority of the respondents said they will let their spouses, parents, brothers and relations know before they participate in the research. They are of the opinion that if

the research has a negative boomerang they will be blamed for not consulting before participating.

The first person I will inform is my husband, the people around me comes second; either my chief and people around me. Because if it bounds back on me, they will get to know and will not be happy. Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

I will inform my senior brother before I participate, because he knows more than me.

Male Spokesperson urban D8 - Enugu

I will tell my mum and my uncle before I participate. As their child, if I want to do anything like that I supposed to inform them, though am now a grown up woman.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

I will inform my wife and my children before I participate, and if possible my parents, because if any thing happened and they get to know about it, they will feel bad that I did not tell them before participating.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

By now I have a partner, I will discuss such a research with her, and I will gain from her. She will feel somehow if I did not tell her. There's nothing different between her and me.

Male Spokesperson rural D1- Enugu

No, as an adult I don't think I will discuss with anybody before I participate.

Male Lawyer urban (2) D12 - Enugu

I will let my parents know before I participate.

Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

I will tell my husband that is closer to me before I participate. Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

There were demand for feedback by majority of the participants. They felt that it would be important for donors to have the right to feedback on anything that emerged from their own sample, and felt that this would have to be handled carefully. There was also interest in getting feedback on the discoveries or developments made as a result of the research.

It should be established when the donor agreed to take part whether he or she wanted to be informed about any disease or condition he or she might have. Allied to this, some people felt that a mechanism should be in place to provide support for those who were discovered to have certain diseases or conditions.

I will feel bad if no feedback is given to me, because I want to know my result. If you know what your problems are you will look for solution.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

Even if I am not given any feedback I should be told when the specimen will be taken abroad. Let it be that they are taking the specimen abroad for a good thing (research).

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

If something serious is discovered about me I should not be given feedback on it.

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

I would like to be given feedback on the research as it will help me to take precautionary measures. It will help me to know the type of food I will eat, know how to manage myself appropriately to lengthen my life. They should also make available publications that will inform me. Male Lawyer (1) D11 - Enugu

I would like to be given feedback of the research. I will not however feel bad if I am not given any feedback.

Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

I should be given feedback of the research even when something serious is discovered about me.

Female Spokesperson urban A5 - Oyo

You should tell me of any serious discovery about me if there's rescue. Male Spokesperson urban A7 - Oyo

I want feedback about the research and I would like you people to tell me if you discover something serious about my health. Though I will not feel bad if you do not give me feedback, but it will be good you give me feedback.

Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

I should be informed if there's something serious about my health and if you can help you go ahead and do so. I should be given news of the research as well. There's no problem if am not given my personal result.

Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.7 Perception of benefits of participating in Biobank research

The perception of benefits were to do with the advances in the area of drugs development for cure and preventative treatments.

Biobank can be used for health matters, for future development and so on. The specimens in it can be used tomorrow to save my life and that of my children.

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

If there's a problem that has no solution, through biobank research the doctors or researchers can get a solution. They will be able to come up with drugs as well. There are diseases that we may not know about them personally, but through the research we will know about them and their solution.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

It will be of benefit to me if they take my blood and find out the disease that I have. I will also benefit from the medicine that will be produced which will be used to cure the disease. Like now I am somebody who is having arthritis on my two legs if they can use my specimen and give me cure it will be a benefit to me.

Male Spokesperson rural D1 - Enugu

Just as they say that people with sickle cell anaemia do not have malaria, I do not know whether it is AS or SS that will not have the malaria. It is by comparing cells that researchers know that people with sickle cells don't have malaria. It is from research that we know that the white men are prone to some diseases than the blacks. It is when you have the biodata of the black and white men that you can know their immunity or weaknesses to some diseases.

Male Lawyer (2) D12 - Enugu

The benefit of biobank research is that it can be used for testing blood. If there are other benefits I wouldn't know now.

Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

I do not know any benefit that one can get from it". Female Spokesperson urban A5 - Oyo

By using the biobank it will be very easy to detect diseases that has come my way.

Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

I am helped if I am research upon on non-communicable disease. Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.8 Concerns about the Biobank research

The main concern was the general issue of donors' anonymity when information is being made available in the public domain. Some of the participants would not like the biobank to use their specimens for something that is out of God's way, or will not please God. Another participant wouldn't like his specimen to be used for cloning or stem cells research. Another participant would not donate semen, tissue from his eyes or tissue from his anus. A participant referred to research that could lead to the production of biological weapon or a strain of virus that could be used to destroy human beings as negative and would not like his specimen to be used for it.

If the researchers are not sincere it is a risk. If they keep to their words, it is an achievement.

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

Provided the biobank will not be used for something that is out of God's way, but for as long as it is for our own good I wouldn't have any problem.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

My concern is that they may use the biobank for something that will not please God, for example occultism. From the research, those that did not know they had disease will get to know it. It may be HIV/AIDS and it will affect them psychologically. I will feel bad if they keep our specimens without carrying out research on them, because I believe they will get back to one of us as a feedback if they carry out research on our specimen. If there's segregation whereby they give some people feedback and I am not given I will not be happy.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

I cannot tell if biobank has risk or not as I have not used it before. This is the first time I am hearing of biobank.

Male Spokesperson urban D8 - Enugu

I may have objection if you want to use my specimen for cloning or stem cells research. Nobody would like to hear any secret information he has given in confidence being broadcasted somewhere. Lets say you are now watching TV and they are having a programme on national geographic, and it is about a research that was done and your name comes up. They used your real name, used everything just to show that the programme was authentic, meanwhile, the doctors call it confidential information.

Male Lawyer urban (2) D12 - Enugu

I will worry if the biobank research has to do more with my private life, say I am asked to bring my semen, to collect a tissue from my eye or tissue from my anus. I don't know when someone may want to exploit me for his own gain.

Male Lawyer (2) D12 - Enugu

I will be concerned if the biobank research will have a negative effect on my parents.

Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

Everything about life has risk, so biobank has risk but I do not know the risk now.

Male Spokesperson urban A7 - Oyo

I don't think biobank has any risk, instead it helps to cure people. I will change my mind of participating if there's not specific outcome that can be used to cure the people.

Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

If the researchers are unfaithful and broadcast information about us, I will withdraw my participation. If they do not keep information they collect from us secret I can withdraw.

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

It is a risk if they use the specimens for something else other than what they obtained consent to do.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

If I have admitted that biobank can be used to store a germ, a microbe, and some of them can be terrible and dangerous when they get into man, unless there's safety and security of that bank, it is a problem. If Newcastle disease or a germ causing Newcastle disease is stored in the bank for further studies or a virus is stored in the bank and it is not well stored within a given ambient temperature required and it escapes into a farm it is a problem. It can cause epidemics. If the researcher is irresponsible and does not obey the code and conduct of the profession and he leaks secret, and does not maintain high degree of confidentiality I will file out from participating. I wouldn't allow you to use my specimen for everything they call research some research could be negative. Somebody could carry out research to produce biological weapon to kill other human being. I won't permit this. If my specimen is used to produce a strain of virus to destroy human beings, I wouldn't like it.

Male Lawyer (2) D12 - Enugu

I do not think I have any concern that will make me withdraw my participation.

Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.9 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

The participants had no view on religion or culture. They assume that biobank in

Nigeria is new and they do not know if religion and culture will be against it.

Since biobank is not widespread, in future we will know if religion and culture will reject it.

Female Spokesperson urban C9 - FCT

We go to the hospital, so I do not think it is against my culture and religion.

Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

Am a free thinker. My religion cannot prevent me from participating in biobank research.

Male Lawyer (2) D12 - Enugu

Anything that does not go contrary to the constitution, religion is not against it. Culture is not also against it. That's why we go to hospital for help.

Male Spokesperson rural D1 - Enugu

Biobank research does not affect my culture or religion because it is for good.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

I do not have any cultural or religious belief that is against biobank research.

Male Spokesperson urban B10 - Kano

Biobank research is not against my religion.

Female Spokesperson urban A5 - Oyo

Am a Christian, biobank is not against my religion.

Male Spokesperson urban A7 - Oyo

I do not have any cultural or religious view on biobank.

Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

There no religious or cultural view against the biobank.

Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.4.10 Medical record access for the biobank research

Respondents were told that information gathered on volunteers would be stored on computer. When the rationale for gathering information on donors was explained, worries tended to dissipate. Though, confidentiality was considered a significant issue in light of the need for personal medical records along with the specimens. As some were seriously concerned about confidentiality and felt that if this is handled with kids gloves they might be discourage and may withdraw their participation. The request for information from medical records were seen by many of the participants to be okay. They felt they had nothing to hide. For many it caused little worry, for several reasons, they believed that if information is properly encoded or encrypted it will not be accessible to people unauthorized.

I should be informed before you go for my medical records. Male Spokesperson urban A7 - Oyo

There's no problem if you go for my medical records. Female Spokesperson rural C12 - FCT

There no problem if you have access to my medical records, provided it is used to further medical science.

Male Lawyer (1) D11 - Enugu

I will feel bad if I am not informed before they obtain information from my medical records.

Male Spokesperson rural C14 - FCT

I don't think there's anything I may want to hide in my medical records, but there should be a level of confidentiality.

Male Lawyer urban (2) D12 - Enugu

You can have access to my medical records. Male Spokesperson urban B10- Kano

I won't feel bad if you have access to my medical records. Female Spokesperson rural D5 - Enugu

I will permit you access to my medical records. Female Spokesperson rural B12 - Kano

4.2.5 Ethicists and Scientists

4.2.5.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

Donation of biological specimen for research especially biobank research was believed by this participants to be useful in saving lives. Majority of them knew about biobank. In their definition, they associated the biobank with blood bank.

I have heard of it before, but do not know what it was all about. But it is just like blood bank. I think blood sample will be kept in it and used for research. And I will give my sample as it may help other people. Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

Biobank is just like when you talk about bank where you keep things, preserve them, to be used at a later time for other things. Bio means (living tissues, human biological specimens) being kept in a special place preserved over time to enable future use of such things for one thing or the other. Sometimes you can use them for research or another purpose.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

I just could perceive now what biobank means, whereby specimen can be stored to maintained the status of the specimen as longs as the biobank could do it.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

Biobank is a machine used to diagnose blood products. Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

4.2.5.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

Their understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research were positive. They had good understanding of research and were supportive of biobank research and felt that it had many potential benefits.

I'm hypertensive, non-communicable disease research will help me. Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

Research is carrying out a test and knowing the problem affecting the individual.

Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

It is important and key to development and technology. It is a way of solving problems, gaining insight into problems or circumstances surrounding our life and the world.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

Research is the scientific method of getting information.

Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

Research is fact finding to provide improvement on a particular situation. It is a scientific and systematic way of generating data to provide solution to societal problems.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

Their main sources of information and influence on research were the media

television, newspapers, magazines and journals.

4.2.5.3 Consent for the biobank research

A majority of the participants supported broad consent. A participant was sceptical on the type of research that will be done with his specimen and will prefer to give a restricted consent. Another participant would like to give a restricted consent if his specimen will be used for commercial purposes so that the ownership will be clearly defined in terms of the benefits that will accrue to him from the research.

Informed consent should be voluntary, should be genuine, and there should be no form of coercion, manipulation and they should provide me with enough information to enable me understand what you are saying and to enable me give consent, without holding a gun to my head or influencing me with some money to influence my decision. I will give the restricted consent to participate or I may wave that to the IRB if am not around.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

I will give the broad consent for the research.

Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

It is to help humanity, I don't think I will place restriction on the consent I will give.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

I will give the restricted consent because if I give the broad I do not know the type of research you will do with my specimen.

Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

The type of consent I will give will depend on the truthfulness of the researcher. If it is not going to be used for commercial purpose, well I will give the broad consent. Because it will be useful for further research that will enhance health care delivery in the society. But if it is going to be used for commercial purpose I will be interested in the restricted one so that the ownership will be clearly defined in terms of the benefits accruing to me from it.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

All the participants would permit the sharing of their specimens with other researchers provided they were given this option from the onset, and would like to know the outcome of such collaboration. Some were particular on the proper observance of the country's law on material transfer agreement to protect the participants interest.

To share my specimen is OK but they need to inform me so that I can give my consent. If they want to take it out of the country there's no problem but it also depends on why they want to take it out of my country. What else, it is just to give me enough information. Whether they test is in China or the test it in Nigeria, am not sure that should really boarder us much.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

*I won't feel bad if my specimen is shared by other researchers.*Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

You can share my specimen with other researchers, but I would like to know their discoveries on the specimens.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

It doesn't matter if you share my specimen as long as it is for research, and any information coming from such collaboration can broaden my horizon.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

It is OK to take them abroad if the government cannot provide the facilities. It is good to get to the root of the matter if they cannot do it here in Nigeria. But there should be proper agreement about how the samples will be transferred and used here and outside Nigeria. They

should stick to the Nigerian law on material transfer, from that participants interest will be protected. You can give to other researchers once the agreement is able to protect my interest. Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

All of these participants do not think they need to inform anybody before they participate in the research. A participant said he may just ask his spouse opinion which will not prevent his participation. Another participant will possibly raise the issue in the nuclear family for wider participation.

I will not tell my wife, and my family will not mind much if I do not inform them. I am in control of myself.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

I will just discuss with my wife just to get her opinion. That will not prevent me from participating.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

*I do not need to discuss with any one before I give my consent.*Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

I will not tell anybody before I participate. Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

As a man I don't need to tell anybody, except for the fact of my religion that talks about equality and respect for one another in the family it's something that we may have to discuss in the nuclear family, so that all of us will participate together.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

Virtually all of these group of participants said that if they donated their specimen they would appreciate feedback on what the research had discovered or achieved. This would help in assuring them that their involvement had been worthwhile and could also sustain their interest. One of the participant recognized that it may be possible for a participant to know if he/she is likely to have a particular disease in the future.

Some were of the opinion that participants should be given the option to be informed about any disease or condition that is discovered about them in the course of the research, but there should be prior counselling.

I should be given feedback, but you have to find the way of telling me. Any information that is useful to me I wouldn't mind.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

I would like to be given feedback. Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

I should know, you rather know your status, that's when you can manage the situation. If it is possible I would like to receive news and information on the research.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

I should be given my results as it will enable me to take care of the problem. I am also interested in news from the research.

Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

If something serious is discovered about me I should be told. That is the beauty of it. Because that is one of the reasons that biobank is good. You can even project that this individual is likely to have this disease in the future. If I am not given my result I can even go to court. I will enter agreement that you will give me my result.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.7 Perception of benefits of participating in Biobank research

A majority of the respondents believe that the research will benefit them either directly or indirectly. Some participants said the research will help in informing them on some potentially unknown diseases. The biobank research was a welcome idea to all of them.

It can be used to run some test if you want to discover drugs and cure some sickness. It can be used to develop drugs for HIV. Like HIV or hepatitis that do not have drugs, the research could bring out cure. Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

As far as I am concerned, the benefits outweighs the risk. As a person if you have a biobank established in Nigeria I will see myself as a stakeholder. And being in the bioethics world too we know what a biobank mean to those of us in the research world. As a person I stand to gain a lot.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

I cannot perceive any benefit to me as a person, but I think I will benefit from it as a human being, as a Nigerian, if it gets to working, but I cannot perceive any personal benefits from it. There are a lot of non-communicable diseases in Nigeria right now and it is growing by the day.

Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

Because the biobank will provide preventive measures, it is worthwhile to participate in it. It will be useful not only for me as an individual, but for the generation to come.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.8 Future use of the samples collected for biobank research

One of the participants believed that one cannot predict the future use of these specimens, but would be rest assured if the IRB gives approval for such research.

One thing about the future is that you cannot project into the future. For now, I cannot clearly envisage what will make me change my mind. Any research that will be of benefit to mankind I wouldn't mind. But if there's any research that has ulterior or negative effects, I wouldn't like my specimen to be used for such research. Since I will not know which research they will carry out, but once the IRB has approved the research I don't have any problem.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

4.2.5.9 Concerns about the biobank research

A participants brought out the issue of risks and harm as his concerns of which samples used in biobank research may harm the group to which a participant belongs, and thereby harm the individuals concerned. This harm may arise, for instance, if people outside the group regard the group in a more negative way or treat people belonging to that group in a worse way than other. The harm may also be due to people in the group starting to look at themselves in a different, more negative way.

My worry has to do more with the integrity and competence of the researchers.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

My worry is that the samples may not be preserved well. And if nothing is done with the sample for a long time, that can make me to change my mind.

Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

The specimens can place the users to risk, but not the donor. Male Scientist urban D7 - Enugu

Since I am not familiar with biobank research I may not know the risk involved in it.

Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

There's some risk attached to the biobank. The first one is the issue of identity. Because through it the identity of the individual in the family and the generation is at stake. It can reveal about the individual, about the community, the generation that has passed and other things is at stake, and can reveal so many things about the. Secondly, the issue of confidentiality is also important. To what extent will the mangers of biobank keep secret the of the information about the individual, about the family and the community generally. It can easily disrupt the smooth relation in the society, just as it happened within the Jews in the US. I have forgotten the name of the disease that was common among the Jews and they have to detect it through biobanking. It was leading to discrimination in terms of marriage which was a result of inter marriage within the Jews. So it can lead to discrimination. If a disease is common with a particular group, people will not like to marry them. It can also lead to exploitation. If the terms of the use of the biobank is not clearly defined at the beginning you may find out that people will start using it for commercial purpose without the knowledge of the people that donated the samples.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.10 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

A participant stressed the fact that some religion where faith healing hold sway, biobanking will be seen as questioning God since knowledge belong to God. That the traditionalist will look at the researchers as witches or wizards for collecting blood. Other participants do not have any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

Am a Christian I do not know of any cultural restriction. Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

I do not have any religious or cultural views on biobank. Male Scientist urban C8 - FCT

My religion and culture does not stop me from participating in biobank research.

Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

Religion wise it can be a problem. In some religion where faith healing and I believe in God is strong people will be asking why do I have to question God? The knowledge belong to God. We do not know how the traditionalist will look at it especially the issue of blood letting in Africa, where they think that the persons that collect blood are witch.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.5.11 Access to medical records for the biobank research

Some participants would want to be informed before having access to their medical record, while other interviewees said that providing access to their medical record would not affect their decision about participating.

If the option of access to my medical records is brought up and I give my consent for that, there's no problem.

Male Ethicist urban D6 - Enugu

You can have access to my medical records, no problem. Male Scientist urban B2 - Kano

I will not feel happy for you to have access to my medical records without my knowledge. I need to be consulted that my record is going to be used for that purpose. It is a respect for my person.

Male Ethicist urban A10 - Oyo

4.2.6 Teachers and Students

4.2.6.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

Biobanking was not a familiar term to the participants, but it was appreciated and referred to as a source of development in the area of health.

Biobank is a situation where information is gathered for future health matters and development.

Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

Biobanking is the collection of sample of blood from individuals which will be used to develop a nation healthically.

Male Teacher urban C5 - FCT

Biobank is used to carry out researches on very serious diseases and their cure.

4.2.6.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

The majority view and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research of the participants were in support of non-communicable disease research.

The concept research means findings, trying to find out the possibility of things, going out in length in other to get variables, like one is given topic to identify and find out certain situation or event within a geographical region or place. Finding out something and getting solution.

Male Teacher urban C5 - FCT

Research is when you did not know about a particular thing and you want to know more about it and how to conquer that thing. Non-communicable disease cannot be easily gotten from another person.

Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

Research is a particular course of something. Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

A communicable disease is what is transferred from one person to another, just like a parasite that feed on another person. A non-communicable disease can not be transferred to another person.

Male Teacher urban C5 - FCT

Research is about finding out what is going on. Female Student urban D10 - Enugu

Their sources of information and influence on research were the media – television, newspapers, magazines and journals.

4.2.6.3 Consent for the biobank research

The majority of the participants thought it appropriate to permit a restricted consent.

Only few of the participants were in support of broad consent.

*I prefer the restricted consent for the research.*Male Teacher Urban C5 - FCT

I would give the restricted consent. Female Student urban D10 - Enugu

Restricted consent is the one I prefer.
Male Teacher urban B5 - Kano

I will give the broad consent. Male Student Urban B6 - Kano

*I prefer restricted consent.*Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

I will give a broad consent which is to say beyond this particular research.

Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

4.2.6.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

A majority of the participants said it was okay to share their specimen with other researchers. One of those who would not like a sharing of their specimen with other researchers mentioned UK and America as the countries he wouldn't like his specimen to be sent to.

If it is for the progress of the nation and to improve individuals too, you can share my specimen with other researchers, there's no problem.

Male Teacher Urban C5 - FCT

I do not permit you to share my specimen with other researchers. They should come to be for their own samples. And I wouldn't like you to send my specimen abroad because I do not know their plans. But if it is because you want to use a better technology abroad, I should give my consent before you take it there. I won't want you to take the specimen to England and America. That is my personal decision.

Male Teacher urban B5 - Kano

I would not like you to share my specimen with other researchers. They should come and explain there research to me and collect their own samples. You may go ahead and send my specimen abroad.

Male Student Male B6 - Kano

If that is the only way that we can get better result, there's no problem, you can share with other researchers and also send the specimen abroad.

Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

You can share my sample with other researchers.

Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

4.2.6.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

This participants mentioned an array of persons they will tell before participating in the biobank research. They mentioned their spouses, brothers, sisters, parents and relations.

What God has ordained or what God has joined together there's no separation. Therefore, our mind must always move at the same time and our thinking should work together. If am doing something I have to let my spouse know. Am using the Christian religious views. I need to discuss my privacy with my wife.

Male Teacher Urban C5 - FCT

My relations will know before I participate. Female Student urban D10 - Enugu

*I will consult my parents before participating in the research.*Male Teacher Urban B5 - Kano

I will tell my parents. Male Student Urban B6 - Kano

I will tell my immediate brother and sister before I participate. Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

4.2.6.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

Majority of the respondents were of the opinion that they should be given feedback, especially their individual results.

I would like to get my result. Female Student urban D10 - Enugu

I should be given feedback. That is the objective of research. And I will not feel happy if am not given my result.

Male Teacher Urban B5 - Kano

*I would like feedback on the research.*Male Student Urban B6 - Kano

I will need feedback because that is the essence of giving my sample. Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

*I will not be happy if I am not given my result. I want my result.*Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

4.2.6.7 Perceptions of benefits of the biobank research

All the participants believed it will help in identifying problems and possibly give solutions. Some of them were particular about the personal gains they will get from the biobank.

biobank will be useful in the case of accident or deformity in a human being or help either in an immediate accident situation. It will insure immediate medical treatment in times of accident.

Male Teacher urban C5 - FCT.

Biobank has benefits. If someone has a health problem, it can detect it

Male Teacher Urban B5 - Kano

The biobank is beneficial. If I participate, I will know my health status and can treat myself thereafter.

Male Student Urban B6 - Kano

If drugs can be produced to help society it can be one of the advantages or benefit.

Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

It will allow the participant to know the status of his health. Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

4.2.6.8 Future use of the samples from the biobank research

A majority of the participants had no comments about the future use of their specimens, but earlier on choose the restricted consent. A participant who had some fears on the kind of research that might be conducted, felt they would want repeat consent in the event of their sample and information being used in new or different ways.

Am concerned on what my specimen will be used for in the future. I hope they will get us informed on what they are using our samples to do.

Male Teacher urban C5 - FCT

4.2.6.9 Concerns about biobank research

A participant would be concerned if the biobank research will involve him committing a good part of his time that will affect his job.

I will be concerned if my participation in the research will affect my primary assignment or stress me up.

Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

*I do not think it has any risk.*Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

4.2.6.10 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

No single participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

I do not know of any religion and culture issue that is against biobank research.

Male Student Urban B6 - Kano

I do not have any religion and culture issue against biobank research, since it is something that can help to advance once life and help you about your health. It is when you are healthy that you can practice your religion.

Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

My culture or religion is not against biobank research. Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

Religion even teach about health, because a healthy person is a Godly person. We cannot run away from health and religion. A healthy person will be able to participate in religious activity. We are now in a modern world, issues of culture are getting buried.

Male Teacher urban C5 - FCT

My religion and culture is not against biobank research. Male Teacher Urban B5 - Kano

4.2.6.11 Medical record access for the biobank research

A majority of interviewees said that providing access to their medical record would not affect their decision about participating.

There no sacred cow on anything like that, it is my medical history. Male Teacher Urban C5 - FCT

You are free to use my medical records.

Male Teacher Urban B5 - Kano

I do not have problem allowing you access to my medical records. Since it will lead to the betterment of my health, I have no problem. Male Student urban A2 - Oyo

You can use my medical history as it will help you to know more about me even when I am giving you false information.

Male Teacher urban A6 - Oyo

4.2.7 Community Leaders and Traditionalist

4.2.7.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

None of the community leaders knew about biobank research, but expressed their views of biobank after an overview.

Biobank is new to me and I do not have any information about it, if not now that you are telling me about it.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

Biobank is a place where you put the specimen of someone's problem for a number of years so that when the result comes you will find a solution to this problem.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

I am grateful for your explanation on biobank research which you came for. Previously some individuals came and interviewed us, later they came to collect our specimen. We later discovered that they took our specimen for HIV test. Is it right to do so without telling their objectives.

Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

As regards their understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research their views varied widely. Some were clearly very knowledgeable, while others were relatively uninformed. They were eager to participate in the biobank research.

Non-communicable disease is a disease that doesn't affect another person from a carrier.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

I am aware about non-communicable disease because I have a relation that is diabetic.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

Research is when something happen to somebody like disease, you want to know what caused it.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

I do not know anything about research, not until you come to me. You are here for a research.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

Research is finding out something that was not well known to you. It may be in the area of drugs research or obtaining knowledge that will be useful to the nation.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

Research is just to acquire knowledge.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

*I do not know what research is.*Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

Their sources of information and influence on research was the television.

4.2.7.3 Consent for the biobank research

A majority of the participants supported giving the restricted consent for the proposed biobank research. The few of them that gave the broad consent felt that once specimens had been taken they would have no chance in how they were used, and seemed to trust the biobank researchers to use them properly.

I do not know anything about informed consent before now. I will give consent for the continues use of my sample for other researches other than this one.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

I will give the restricted consent because I do not know the research that will be carried out in the future.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

I will give the restricted consent, because I will require feedback before it is used for future research.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

I will give broad consent if the research will not harm me.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

I will give consent for the restricted consent, because I would like feedback.

Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

A majority of the participant will not feel bad if their specimen is shared with other researchers or sent abroad, but some would want to re-consent, while others would like to know the outcome.

I won't feel bad if you share my specimen with other researchers or send my it abroad, since it is for the benefit of all Nigerians. But it will be nice you let me know before sending it abroad.

Male Community leader rural D2 - Enugu

Since I did not give broad consent, I will not permit a sharing of my specimen. The other group of researchers are supposed to approach me for their own specimens. I will have no objection if you want to take it abroad for analysis, provided other participants allow that. Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

I wouldn't like you to share my specimens with other researchers. It should be analysed in Nigeria and not taken outside the country. I know we can do things without outside influence.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

You can share my specimen and also take it to any country. I would also like to know the progress you are making.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

You may give other researchers my specimen for their research. Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

A majority of the respondents said they will not consult anybody before participating in the research, only an individual would let his spouses know. Others mentioned their uncle and people around them as a way of creating awareness.

There no need discussing with anyone before I participate. It is best known to me.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

I will first of all, find out from my uncle before I participate, since my father is late.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

I will let my wife know before I participate. Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

I will tell people around me, even outside my family, as a way of creating awareness.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

I will give my specimen without consulting any body.

Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

The participants response was that they would want personal feedback, particularly if important information were discovered about their health. A few participants would not want to know; for example, they would not wish to be told about an incurable disease that they might have.

I would like you people to come and tell me so that I know how to find the solution.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

Receiving news and my personal result from the research is important to me since I will be more aware of my health and be informed about health issues.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

I should be told if something serious is discovered about me. I will feel bad if I am not given my result.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

I need feedback on my result. Since I will give you my specimen on trust, I will require feedback, and if it is not done I will be worried. Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

I wouldn't like feedback on any thing that is serious on my health, but I would like general feedback or news.

Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.7 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research

A majority of these group of participants believe the biobank has some potential benefits.

I don't think it has any risk but benefit. When the research is done and a solution is found, it can be used to take care of the problem.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

I am convinced that the biobank has benefits. Though I wouldn't say what the benefits are.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

If there's an infection that has no cure, a cure could be discovered from the research.

Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.8 Future use of the specimens from the biobank research

A participant gave a condition that if future research will not contradict his religion, his specimen could be used.

If my specimen will be used in a way that will not contradict my religion, it can be used in the future.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

4.2.7.9 Concerns about the biobank research

A participants would be concerned if there's no trust in the research. Another would be worried if the specimen will be used for another research other than non-communicable disease.

I have not seen a biobank and I do not know much about it and so do not know if it has any risk.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

We have never seen it before we do not know how it is going to work. If it is something that we are conversant with we would know the risk involved.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

If there's no trust I will change my mind.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

I do not think it has any risk or things of concern. I will only get worried if you use it for something else other than what you told me. Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.10 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

No single participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

My religion and culture does not distract me from participating in biobank research.

Male Community Leader rural D2- Enugu

My Muslim religion is not against research. Muslim religion involves research. I am not aware of any cultural issue against biobank research.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

In the account of health, nothing forbids biobank research.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

My religion is not against biobank research.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

There's no religion or culture that said you should not give your blood for research.

Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.7.11 Access to medical records for the biobank research

A majority of interviewees said they will allow access to their medical records. A participant said he does not go to the hospital and so do not have medical records.

I won't feel bad if you have access to my medical records.

Male Community Leader rural D2 - Enugu

I have no problem with allowing you access to my medical records.

Male Community Leader urban B4 - Kano

It is not so much nice to have access to my medical records but there's nothing we can do.

Male Community Leader urban A4 - Oyo

I do not go to hospital, so I do not have any medical records.

Male Traditionalist and previous research participant urban A8 - Oyo

There's no problem if you have access to my medical record. But let me ask, If I do not have medical records, what will you do? Male Community Leader rural B13 - Kano

4.2.8 Government officials and Administrators

4.2.8.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

Four Government officials and 2 Administrators took part in the research. They were not well informed about the issues surrounding biobank research and the issues surrounding the use of human biological samples for research. Non of the participants have heard of biobank before, but defined it in their own words after they were given an idea of what it is. All the Government officials and Administrators were basically in favour of the use of human biological samples for medical research.

Biobank is used for storing specimen like tissues and used for research to know more or find a cure for a particular disease.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

Biobank is an attempt to obtain a kind of information and things that will be helpful to further human life. They could be blood or tissues. Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

biobank is just like a bank where information is stored about life, whether genotype analysis.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

I don't know much about biobank. But when you say bio, it has to do with biology. When I heard about it I began to think about biodata, bio this and bio that. May be it has something to do with humans? Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

Bio is life, bank is where you keep something, as a place you want to secure something for a long period.

Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research.

The understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research was high, majority of the participants defined and explained research and non-communicable diseases well. They were all willing to participate in the non-communicable diseases research.

I know a little bit about research because I participated in many health related and other researches. And it is the process of finding out something. Either attitude or knowledge or a kind of situation in a given environment.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

I participated in non-communicable disease research some years back, so I know about it. It is something that is hereditary and not contagious.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

Research is to carry out something that you did not know, that you want to know more of it. When you want to get new technique or something that is going on or you want to get breakthrough in what is happening in a situation that is bothering people around you.

Male Government Official urban A1 - Oyo

Research is a step towards improving human life. Non-communicable disease are disease that are a problem in the society today.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

Research means to have new ideas relating the object of the study. It means you want to probe further. A non-communicable disease does not pass over to another person by staying in the same room with that person. Or may be a virus that gets into another person. They are disease like cancer. The non-communicable diseases are troublesome diseases.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

Research is very important and key to development of science and technology. And without research we cannot produce remedy to many of the disease. Without research there cannot be machinery to improve the livelihood of man. It is from research that we are able to discover transport and machinery and medicine.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

The sources of information and influence on research of the government official were the media – television, newspapers, magazines and friends.

4.2.8.3 Consent for the biobank research

One of the respondents choose the tiered consent. This model would allow him to maintain control over how his specimen will be used. The majority were in support of the broad consent, with one of them not totally confident that the biobank researchers will respect the views of persons who want the restricted or tiered consent.

I prefer the tiered consent, because it will make me relevant in what is going on. At least I will know each time what they want to do, and if I am interested in that particular segment of the research I will say go ahead. So that anyone I am not interested in or if it doesn't please me, if it is frivolous for instance I will not give my consent for such a research.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

Once I have given consent, I have given consent. It is to improve human lives.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

As far as it is for the pursuit of human development, I will give broad consent.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

*I will give the broad consent. Holistically I give the sample.*Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

Who am I to know that you are not using my blood for other research. Since my identity will not be disclosed, I will give broad consent. I even heard that a professor that died recently gave his body for research.

Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

All the participants were in support of sharing their specimen with other researchers and sending them abroad for further studies.

My specimen can be shared with other researchers or sent abroad for further studies.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

If the researchers will be faithful and will not deviate from the good objectives of the research and possibly publish the finding for the general public, they can go ahead and share with other researchers. If there's good collaboration and the specimens will be properly handled by labelling them very well it is OK.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

We are still talking about consent. I have given you my consent to share and send my specimen abroad.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

When I give my specimen you can share and take abroad no problem. Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

A majority of respondents do not think it is necessary to inform anybody before they participate in the biobank research. Only an individual would like to tell his spouse and children.

I don't have to tell anybody before I participate in the research. Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

I am old enough to give consent and stand by my words.
Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

There's nobody I need to talk to before I participate in the biobank research.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

I will tell my wife and my children before I participate. Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

The majority of the participants thought it is important for them to receive individual feedback, with prior counselling.

I think there's a professional way of handling this, i.e trough counselling before telling it to the person. If they handle it well I don't mind. If they will not handle it well, I will prefer that they don't tell me at all. Getting news and update is good it will help the public to get aware.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

I will be happy to receive feedback so that I can ask counsel on my health status and getting treatment.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

It is important for me to receive feedback as it will help me understand my health. I may not need general news. I will be in the dark if I am not given my result.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

I preferred to be given feedback. If something positive comes out of the research, I would like to know so that I can take corrective measures.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

You should tell me if there's something serious that is discovered about me.

Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.7 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research

A majority of participants believe that the research will lead to beneficial outcomes now and in the future.

Research helps researchers and humanity in general to know better. Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

I may not know of any benefits of biobank research as such, but I believe it is helpful. It could be helpful to me or my children tomorrow. Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

It can benefit me in the short and long term. It can benefit me and my descendants.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

Whatever one does will have an objective. I believe preserving blood somewhere has a purpose. With further studies on the blood kept will be beneficial. Like what is happening now in the case of diabetes, people are becoming aware to check their sugar level at intervals. If research was conducted on this disease, there will be some way forward to the disease.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

4.2.8.8 Future use of the specimens from the biobank research

The majority are not bothered on the future use of their specimen. A participant would first give the tiered consent and if the outcome of that research was good he will give the broad consent for future researches.

If I am given information on the first research and I judge it to be progressive, I will give you consent for future researches (i.e. tiered consent).

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

4.2.8.9 Concerns about the biobank research

The participants were welcoming of the intention of the use of their specimen to do research on non-communicable diseases, there were however, some reservations expressed about the finer points of the intended use of the specimen. They entertain the fear that the researchers may deviate from the original objectives of the research into something they might find objectionable. Another participant was worried about the epileptic power supply in Nigeria which he believe will affect the research.

We experience power failures here and there in Nigeria. It is important to keep the specimen in the state that they were obtained from the donor. I wouldn't mind if my specimen will be used for non-communicable disease research. But if it is no longer non-communicable disease, them I should mind.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

I will have concern if the motive of the research is not exactly what I was told.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

Biobank has no risk. It is an important aspect of development in medicine. But I will have concern it the researchers deviate from the objectives explained to us.

Male Government Official urban B1 - Kano

If care is not taken with the specimen, there will be contamination or cross infection. If things are not handled in an aseptic way there will be contamination by the workers and maybe infecting participants. I will have concern if the research will expose me. What ever element I have on my health, if I was not informed and I see it on the print media or hear it over the air, that is the only thing that I will be angry about.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

I don't think biobank has any risk, since you are not taking the blood for rituals.

Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

There's nothing that will make me change my mind of participating. Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.10 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

No single participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research. A participant pointed out that if the outcome of the biobank research is favourable, any contrary culture to biobank research will give way.

I do not have any religious or cultural view on biobank. Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

I do not have any religious or cultural view that is against the biobank. I think even in the religious angle you realize that our people once they know that what you are embarking upon is helpful, they will always support.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

Personally I do not have any religious or cultural belief that is against the biobank.

Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

We are just knowing of biobank now but in the future we may know if our religion or culture will be against it. But for now they are not against the biobank.

Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.2.8.11 Access to medical records for the biobank research

All the discussants would allow access to their medical records. In having access a participant again stressed the need for confidentiality.

There's nothing wrong in having access to my medical records, provided there's confidentiality.

Male Administrator urban D13 - Enugu

Having access to my medical records will not in any way affect my opinion to participate in the research.

Male Administrator urban C4 - FCT

I will not feel unhappy for you to have access to my medical records. Male Administrator/previous research participant urban B11 - Kano

It is necessary. But due to poverty many don't go to hospitals for them to have medical records.

Male Government Official A1 - Oyo

4.3 The Focus Group Discussant Demographic Characteristics

There were 123 participants. Their ages range from 18 to 70 years (mean 36.2 years). 61 (49.6%) were males and 62 (50.4%) females. 39 (31.7%) were Muslim and 84 (68.3%) Christians. Their occupations were students (19, 15.5%), housewives (20, 16.3%), business persons (24, 19.5%), farmers (18, 14.6%) and civil servants (21, 17.1%). The rest (21, 17.1%) belonged to a wide variety of occupations. See table 4.2 These were categorized into:

Literate and illiterate urban males; Literate and illiterate rural males; Literate and illiterate urban females and Literate and illiterate rural females.

Table 4.2: The Focus Group Discussant Demographic Characteristics

S.No.	State	LGA	Village	Setting	Ethnic	Number
					group	sampled
1	Enugu	Nkanu	Ojiagwu	Rural male	Igbo	8
		West	Agbani	Rural female	Igbo	8
		Enugu	Enugu	Urban male	Igbo	8
		North		Urban female	Igbo	8
2	Kano	Kura	Azoren	Rural male	Hausa	8
			Waje	Rural female	Hausa	8
		Ungogo	Gayawa	Urban male	Hausa	8
				Urban female	Hausa	8
3	Oyo	Oluyole	Idi	Rural male	Yoruba	9
			Ayunre	Rural female	Yoruba	9
		Egbeda	Manatan	Urban male	Yoruba	8
			Arolu	Urban female	Yoruba	8
4	FCT	Bwari	Ushafa	Rural male	Gbagi	7
				Rural female	Gbagi	8
		AMAC	Karu	Urban male	Gbagi	5
				Urban female	Gbagi	5
5	Total				•	123

4.4 Attitude of the Focus Group Discussants to biobank and other related issues

4.4.1 Literate and illiterate urban males

4.4.1.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

Biobank research was well accepted by these participants. Some participants from the northern part of the country that had the Pfizer trial experience said that since it is not drugs trial like the one conducted by Pfizer, they were ready to participate in the research. They perceived the biobank to be a good instrument for preserving specimens for biomedical research.

Biobank is where specimens are kept for later use. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

Biobank is where you store blood. For example blood for transfusion. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

Another meaning I read from your biobank is that it is a place where you can keep specimens for your research, in case there is a disease that occurs and you want to cure it. You can take some specimens from the biobank and research to take care of the problem.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

In biobank, the blood can be kept for a long time without deteriorating.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I have heard about biobank before. I have not been asked anything about it not until today. It is different from blood bank and money bank, this one is for research.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

Biobank is used to store blood and used for research to get positive result.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

Biobank is used for preservation of blood and tissues, which ordinarily if you keep them in a cold box there's duration of time that it can be preserved, but for the biobank it can be preserved for a long period of time. Whatever time a specimen is taken out it will be fresh as if it was just taken from a persons body.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Biobank will find out diseases that we did not understand.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable

disease research

Their understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research was quite varied. Some had good perception of non-communicable diseases, while others thought them to be malaria. They believed that research is for solving problems.

Non-communicable disease cannot affect another person.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

An example of non-communicable disease is malaria.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

Research means investigating and finding out either disease medicine or what.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

Research means testing several times until the correct thing is found. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

By the concept research it means finding out, so that a solution can be administered.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

Non-communicable disease are not transferable but are difficult to heal.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

Research can be defined as fighting things that are happening in our environment, or to know deeply about something.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

If there's no problem there's no research. Research is for problems. FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

Research is the various steps taken to understand sickness. For the biobank research, individuals will not be given their results, but a general outcome will be derived.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Non-communicable disease is not communicable, even from blood or urine contact.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.3 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

All the participants accepted the sharing of their specimen with other researchers, provided the researchers are genuine and competent. A participant would like other researchers to meet him for their specimen. Some were worried that sharing the specimens with other researchers outside Nigeria could possibly make them discover things about Nigerians that could lead to stigmatization and discrimination.

If you are sure that they are genuine researchers, you can give them my specimen. The specimen can be sent to other countries, but they should not use my specimen for animal research.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

Other researchers should make their efforts to meet us for their own specimen.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

If I give my specimen the researchers are free to take it to any country abroad for analysis.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

You can take it anywhere for analysis, and the specimen can be used in future studies.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

Since the research is for the development of Nigeria, you should use the specimen within the country. Other countries are not giving us their specimen, as such you should not give them our specimen.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

My opinion is that the other researchers should be competent and from reliable sources. Be sure their objectives are okay.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

I wouldn't like you to give them our specimen as they will discover things about us and begin to discriminate against Nigerians.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

You the researchers should do what you think will benefits Nigeria as regards the sharing and shipping of specimen.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.4 Consent for the biobank research

The majority of the discussants lend their support for the broad consent. A few were for the restricted and the tiered consent. One of those that supported the broad consent said that if the Federal Ministry of Health deems it fit to approve the research, he will give the broad consent.

I will prefer to give broad consent so that the aim and objectives of keeping it there can be achieved. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

- -- ------

I will give you the broad consent. FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I will give the restricted consent. FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I will give the broad consent. FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I should be re-informed before they use my specimen for other researches.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

They can use my specimen indefinitely and for any research.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I will give the restricted consent.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

I will give the restricted consent. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If the Federal Ministry of Health believe that the research is beneficial and they gave their permission, then I will give the broad consent. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Since I have faith in the research and gave my specimen, I will also give the broad consent.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.5 Someone they will tell before giving consent for the biobank research

The majority of the participants would like to inform their spouse and children. Others would like to tell their parents and brothers. Some of the participant prefers the accent of the community leader instead of individual consent.

I will inform my wife and children. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I will discuss with my dad. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I will have to inform my senior brother. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I will discuss with my wife. FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I will inform my wife and my children. FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

I will inform my parents. FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

I will tell my father, if he permit me I will participate. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

The community leader and the community health officer should be inform on behalf of the community. The moment they permits the research, all the community members will respectfully participate. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Like my colleague just mentioned. It is the explanation of the community leader and health worker that will be well taken when you come for such a research.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

I will tell my wife before I participate. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.6 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

The majority of the participants expected some feedback on their individual health and developments in the research on a more general scale. That it was better to know about their health rather than finding out by surprise, and that care could be given by the

researchers in the event of being given bad news. They also reiterated the need for counselling before feedback is given.

If you collect my blood, it will hungry me to get my result. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I want to get feedback on the research. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I will want feedback, for example if they discover HIV on me, I will get myself prepared for death or take precautions so that I will live longer than the time I would have died.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I will not feel happy if I am not given my result. FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

I should be given my individual result as well as general feedback, but with prior counselling. The feedback will show the progress that the researchers are making.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If someone is not given feedback, what is the benefit of the research? FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If it is discovered that I have a serious disease I should be helped with medication as well.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

I would like feedback with counselling. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

I should not be given my personal result.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

The researchers should study someone's mood and to see if he can accommodate the news before telling him.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.7 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research.

The participants believed the biobank has benefits which included drugs development that could help us now and future generations.

After the biobank researchers have carried out the research and drugs was able to be developed, it can impact positively on the society. FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

Though we have not seen the biobank, but I believe it has benefits.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

I can benefit from the research in the long run if I do not have the disease now.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

It can help us know our problems, it can help generations to come.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If I donate for the research and there's outcome, I have help and the research has helped the society.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.8 Concerns about the biobank research

The concern of these participants were centred on fear of use of their specimens for animal research. Other concerns express by the discussant in the study typically revolve around confidentiality, and benefit-sharing. Others were worried that the individual results or community feedback may be leaked or published by the researchers that will place someone or the community in danger of discrimination. Some would be concerned if the research will be against their religious beliefs.

My concern is that they may use my specimen to carry out research on animals.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

I will be concerned if the information gathered from us will not be kept confidential.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I don't have any concern since I do not know if biobank has risk.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I do not have concern. Biobank does not have risk.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT.

My concern is that they may ask me for tissues, which I am not ready to give. I will give only blood.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

I do not have any concern as the biobank do not have any risk.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

My concern about the biobank research is that it may involve repeated visits, which will affect my job as a civil servant.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

What will be the benefits that will accrue to us if we participate? FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

Biobank does not have any risk. FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

My perceived risk is that secret may not be kept. Take an instance if someone is diabetic and someone else got the information, he may be affected psychologically.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If individual results will be disclosed to other persons, it could lead to stigmatization of such individuals.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Provided the individual results or community feedback will not be leaked or published by the researchers that will place someone or the community in danger of discrimination in time of employment.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If there's anything that will be against my religion, then I will have concern.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Any part of the research that contradicts my religion will be a source of concern that will cause my withdrawal.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If the researchers have persons that do not have good human relations will cause us to withdraw our participation.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.9 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

The participants had no religious or cultural view on biobank research.

No, my culture and religion is not against biobank research. FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

As a traditionalist, I have nothing against the biobank. FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

There's no religious or cultural view on biobank.

FGD Male urban A13 - Oyo

My religion is not against research.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

There are portions in the Quaran were we were told to go and obtain health

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

Our culture and religion is not against biobank research.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

If one is not well he cannot worship God properly.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.1.10 Access to medical records for the biobank research

Some participants were initially cautious and wanted to know more on what the medical records will be used for. With some explanations, the participant had no problem allowing access to their medical records. They understood the need for medical records and other information.

I will not feel bad if you will use my medical records.

FGD Male urban D17 - Enugu

Having access to my medical records is okay by me provided it is something that will save other peoples life.

FGD Male urban C16 - FCT

It will be good if you have access to my medical record. It is possible that in the records, the treatment that I am given by my doctor may not be the appropriate one, the researchers can advise my doctor to use the appropriate medication.

FGD Male urban B19 - Kano

4.4.2. Literate and illiterate rural males

4.4.2.1 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable

disease research

These participants had some good understanding of research and non-communicable diseases. They also lend their support for the biobank research.

Research is the way something is done to find out particular problems. It can be blood or urine that will be used. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

Research is used to find out the infections that are worrying people which ordinarily cannot be seen except through research. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

Examples of non-communicable diseases are cancer and paralysis. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

Researching is for knowledge. FGD Male rural A15 - Oyo

Research is digging deep. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

Research is finding out details of something. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

Research is getting an information on what you do not know. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

Non-communicable diseases cannot be transmitted through the air. FGD Male rural C18 - FCT

4.4.2.2 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

The participants accepted to share their specimen with other researchers, provided that there's guarantee that unethical research will not be done with their specimens, and that those running the biobank are trustworthy.

I do not want you to share my specimen with other researchers. I will prefer that the other researchers approach me for their specimen. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

If the researchers will be faithful, you can go ahead and give them my specimen. You can also take the specimen abroad. Just be sure of their competence. It can be any country. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

4.4.2.3 Consent for the biobank research

The majority of participants preferred the broad consent compared to the restricted consent. Though, some of those that gave the broad consent said they will also give the restricted.

I will prefer the restricted consent, because it will enable me have a grip of the situation and receiving of feedback. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

I will prefer the broad consent for the biobank research. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

I will give the broad consent for the research. FGD Male rural B21- Kano

I prefer the restricted consent. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

Restricted consent is preferred by me. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

I will give both broad and restricted consent. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

I will give both broad and restricted consent. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

I will choose the broad consent. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

4.4.2.4 Someone they will tell before giving consent for the biobank research

Some of these participants said they will inform there parents. The majority will not need to tell anybody before participating.

I will tell my father before I participate in the research. FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

I will tell my parents before I participate. FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

4.4.2.5 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

A majority of the participants would want feedback.

I would want to be given feedback. FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

If we are given feedback, it will enable us to take care of our problem. FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

If I am not given feedback there's no problem. FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

4.4.2.6 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research

A majority of the respondents believe that drugs can be developed from the research which could assist them or the members of their family.

With the biobank research, a person's health status will be known and taken care of.

FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

At present we do not have true cure for cancer, hypertension and paralysis, but with the biobank research it is possible to develop the drugs that will cure them.

FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

Biobank will be useful in storing samples for a long time without their deterioration.

FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

Biobank will help discover diseases and their cure.

FGD Male rural C18 - FCT

The medicine for non-communicable disease can be discovered. FGD Male rural A13 - Oyo

The benefit of biobank that I know is that the specimen will be collected once and for all.
FGD Male rural A13 Oyo

4.4.2.7 Concerns about the biobank research

One the concerns were that researchers might use the samples to make money. They entertained the fear that the biobank might not be sustained.

My concern is that the researchers can build our hope and later abandon the research. They may be unable to maintain the equipments. I am advising that adequate care should be taken on the equipments. FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

My concern is that the biobank researchers may just preserve the specimens without doing anything with them.

FGD Male rural C18 - FCT

I hope the research is not to achieve personal interest but the interest of the public. There was a time I donated blood free, but it was sold by the hospital. I hope this will not be the same thing.

FGD Male rural C18 - FCT

4.4.2.8 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research.

This group of participants had no religious or cultural issues on biobank research.

Sincerely, I have no religious or cultural belief that is against the biobank.

FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

Biobank is not against my religion or culture.

FGD Male rural B21 - Kano

4.4.3 Literate and illiterate urban females

4.4.3.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

The participants were not aware of biobank, but after given them an overview of biobank, they were able to defined it the way they perceived it.

Biobank is a machine used for doing research.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

Biobank is used for storing specimen for a long time.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

Biobank is not like blood bank, but blood is preserved in it for research and not for donation.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable disease research

This respondents were very willing to participate in the non-communicable disease research. They saw it as a worthwhile venture. Their knowledge of, and attitudes to research and associated issues varied widely. Some were clearly very knowledgeable, while others were not.

Research is to find out and know the problems disturbing somebody. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Research is to investigate what is wrong with someone.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Non communicable disease are not transferable unlike HIV, measles TB.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Non-communicable diseases are not passed from one person to another, and they do not have definite cure.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Non-communicable diseases are not transferable Others FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Research is a means of finding better way of maybe doing things. Most effective ways of doing things.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

Research is that you want to know the true colour and nature of that thing

FGD Female urban A14 - Oyo

One of the non-communicable disease is AIDS.

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

Research is finding out a particular thing that has not been known before.

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

4.4.3.3 Consent for the biobank research

The majority of these participants preferred the broad consent as compared to tiered consent.

I will choose the broad consent for the research. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I prefer the broad consent. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will choose broad consent. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will prefer broad consent. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I would prefer you come back to me for another consent, because you may not be doing something that will favour me (tiered consent). FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will prefer that you come back for another consent (i.e. tiered consent).

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will give the broad consent. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

If they want to use my specimen for another research they should get back to me (i.e. tiered consent).

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I would want them to come back for another consent (i.e. tiered consent).

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will give consent for the broad. FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

I will give the broad consent FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

I too will give the broad consent FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

I will give the broad consent. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

I will give the broad consent. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.3 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

They said they would be prepared to donate specimens for biobank research since it will be used to improve their conditions and that of others. They would also permit the sharing of the specimen and data with other researchers provided they are competent. Some will prefer the sharing to be done with Nigerian researchers only.

No, my specimen should not be given to another researcher. The other researchers should come directly to us for their specimens. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

It can be taken to any country, provided they are competent. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

You can share my specimen with Nigerian researchers only. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

We need feedback on the specimens that may be taken outside Nigeria for further analysis
FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Since it is for progress, you can share with other researchers. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.4 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

Among the participants, only one participant said she will tell her sister before participating. All other respondents would like to let their spouses know before they participate.

I will tell my husband before I participate. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will let my husband know before I participate. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will let my husband know. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will tell my husband before I participate. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will tell my sister before I participate. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will tell my husband before I participate. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will not participate without telling my husband.

FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

I will inform my husband before I participate.

FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

I will tell my husband and children.

FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

I will tell my parents.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

I will tell my husband before I participate.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

I will tell my husband before I participate in the research.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

I will tell my husband before I participate. Infact he will not be happy if I hide it from him.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.5 Feedback and receiving news from the biobank research

A majority of the participants thought it would be very important to receive feedback and general news about studies done through the biobank. A few were not bothered.

A few of them were of the opinion that participants should be given their individual results. One of the them would not like to receive her results for reasons of fear.

If we will not be given individual results, whatever you are seeing in the research should be disseminated, so that we will know that it is yielding results.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

If something serious is discovered about me, I should be told so that I will know when am dieing.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I would not like to know my result because I will die of fear.

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I would like to know my result. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I should be given my result. FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

I will need my result. FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

We should be given feedback, it will help us. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

We need feedback especially my results. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

We need our results and other information Others FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.6 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research

A majority of the discussant have the deep seated feelings that biobank research is beneficial and could lead to drugs discovery that would benefit them or their family members. One of them had the belief that if someone has a problem he/she can approach a nearby biobank to research on the problem. One of the participant ask of the benefits that they will get for participating in the research.

If I participate in the biobank research, when the remedy comes I will be one of the beneficiary.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

Biobank will benefit our future generation. It will bring out a better way of managing the problem of non-communicable diseases. So directly and indirectly we are benefiting.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

Biobank can help save life. If you have biobank close to you and you have a problem, you can approach them to research on your problem. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I have not seen a Biobank I cannot say if it has risk. FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

What are the benefits that we will get for participating in the research?

FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

When somebody's blood is put in the biobank, it helps to find the drugs that can be used to cure diseases.

FGD Female urban D16 – Enugu

biobank has benefits, it can be used for research for the purpose of development of drugs for non-communicable diseases.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

It can benefits not only use that are living now, but will also benefit our generation yet unborn

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

It will help to reduce the incidence of non-communicable diseases FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.7 Concerns about the Biobank research

The concerns that the majority of these respondents expressed included the problem of erratic power supply, inadequate maintenance culture, unfaithfulness, breach of confidentiality and deviation from the original plans of the biobank research on non-communicable diseases into unethical research. They will also be worried if there's no outcome of the research.

my concern about the biobank research is the erratic power supply in Nigeria.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

My concern is that the researchers will not allow me access to my result.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

My worry is that if you go to most health facilities in Nigeria there are many equipment that are not maintained or put to use. I hope it will not be the same thing with the biobank. Are we matured to handle the biobank?

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will be worried if we are not seeing the effectiveness of the research. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

My concern is how you can maintain the biobank with the poor light situation we have in Nigeria.

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

My concern is that the workers in the biobank, how faithful are they? FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

I will have concern if the researchers will not do what they tell us from the beginning.

FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

Biobank has no risk but benefits, so there's no cause for alarm.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

We will be worried if there's no outcome of the research.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

If the research will maintain confidence there's no problem.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Provided everything will be kept secret, I won't have any concern.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.8 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

Non of the participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

Biobank is not against my religion or culture. But the Jehovah witnesses will not give blood.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I have no religious or cultural belief against biobank.

FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

No cultural or religious issue on biobank.

FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo

Our religion even require us to do research.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

Sincerely, our culture is not against biobank research.

FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.3.9 Access to medical records for the biobank research

The majority of the discussants were ready to provide access to their medical record.

Only one participant would like to be contacted again to give another consent for her medical record access.

The fact that I have given you my consent, I should not worry, you can have access to my medical records.

FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

Collecting my medical history, I should give you consent, isn't it?. FGD Female urban D16 - Enugu

I will not feel bad if you have access to my medical records. FGD Female urban C17 - FCT

There's no problem, you can have access to my medical record. FGD Female urban A13 - Oyo I will permit access to my medical records, but what if I do not have medical records? FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

You can have access to my medical records. FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

*You can use my medical records.*Others FGD Female urban B18 - Kano

4.4.4 Literate and illiterate rural females

4.4.4.1 Knowledge of biobank and collection of human biological specimens for non-communicable disease research.

The participants viewed biobank as something that will help improve human health and bring about scientific, technological and medical sciences advancement. After an overview they had these to say;

Biobank helps to bring out what type of disease a person is suffering from.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Through the biobank, a drug can be known for the cure of disease. FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Biobank is used to find out the cause of the persons disease, so as to find out the cure.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

When somebody's blood is put in the biobank, it helps to find the drugs that can be used to cure diseases.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I was not aware of biobank before now.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

I do not know any thing about biobank before now.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

I do not know any thing about biobank before now.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

4.4.4.2 Understanding of, and Attitudes to research and non-communicable

disease research

Majority of these participants had good understanding of research and noncommunicable disease research.

What I understand about research is that it is aimed at getting to know the type of diseases affecting the people, so as to know how to treat the diseases.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Research is about trying to know the type of disease we have and how the people can be treated.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Research helps us to know the type of disease we have and the drugs to be produced for the treatment.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Research is just to find details of something.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

Research can help us to know information that we did not know before.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

Research is to find out what is wrong with someone's health.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

I agree with the definition above.

Other Females FGD rural B20 - Kano

I know of cancer which is a non-communicable diseases, I have seen body suffering from it.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I have seen someone's with breast whose cancer was cut and the cover it with cotton wool.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I know two types of cancer. The one inside the body and the one on somebody's breast.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

know that cancer is a non-communicable disease.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

An example or non-communicable disease is ulcer.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

An example or non-communicable disease is hypertension and malaria.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

4.4.4.3 Consent for the biobank research

Majority of the discussants supported giving restricted consent to use their blood and tissue samples for the proposed biobank research. A participant would first give the tiered consent, and if she is pleased with that initial research will go ahead to give the broad consent or withdraw if not satisfied.

I prefer the tiered consent of which I have to give you another consent. FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I prefer the restricted consent for the research.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will choose restricted consent. FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will prefer restricted consent.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will give the broad consent.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

I will give the broad consent.

Other Female FGD rural B20 - Kano

Use my sample for only non-communicable disease research. The reason is that I may decide to withdraw my participation (tiered consent).

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

I will choose the restricted consent for the research.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

I will choose the restricted consent.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

4.4.4.4 Feelings about having their donated specimens and data shared by different researchers or shipped for further research

Most do not mind the shipment of their samples to other countries for further research, but would want to receive feedback on the result of any analysis done. Only a respondent prefer America believing the are more competent. A few of them preferred local researchers to international for reasons of proximity.

My fear is that my specimen may be given to somebody who is not a competent researcher. The result of such a person cannot be trusted and it can cause me anxiety.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Let my specimen be shared with other researchers, I do not mind. FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I prefer my specimen to be given to a local researcher. He is nearer to me, and he will be able to relate with me. I can also ask him of my result.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

If my sample is taken abroad, I would like to know the outcome. FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

My specimen can be taken to any country, provided they are competent.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I prefer that my specimen be taken to America because they can best discover causes of sicknesses.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Only biobank ask my permission, the other researchers should also make effort to contact me for their sample. They can be taken abroad, I have no problem with that.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

No, do not want you to share my specimen, let the other researchers approach us. You can take the specimen abroad.

Other female FGD rural B20 - Kano

Since it is for good, you can share my specimen with other researchers, and take abroad for further studies.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

You can share my specimen with other researchers. You can also take it abroad for further analysis provided it will not be used for something that is against my Christian religion.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

Do not give other researchers my specimen. Do not take my specimen outside Nigeria for further studies.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

If other research come and meet you, do not give them my specimen. You can however take it outside Nigeria for further analysis.

Other FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

4.4.4.5 Someone they must tell before giving consent for the biobank research

A majority of these women respondents said they must let their spouses know. Others would tell their sisters, brothers and family members. Others intend to publicise it in the churches.

I will tell my sister and my brother before I participate.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will not let anybody know because it is going to be my decision to participate.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will not seek anybody's opinion before I participate, because what is good is good. It is good for the world.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will not ask someone's opinion before I participate. When I get to the church I will spread the news.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

If I tell my family that I want to participate, they will be happy because it is not a bad thing at all. It is to help us.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

My people will be happy about this whole research. They will not be worried if I want to participate.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I will seek the consent of my husband to participate.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

I will seek the consent of my husband to participate.

Other female FGD rural B20 - Kano

I will inform my husband so that he will know what I want to do.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

4.4.4.6 Feedback and receiving news from the research

With the probe on whether they would like to be contacted if something serious was

discovered about them during the course of the research, a large majority of the

discussants answered in the affirmative. Reasons for their decisions included the

possibility of access to beneficial new medical knowledge. A large majority of the

participants said it would be very important to receive general news about studies being

done through the Biobank. Some participants would like the feedback which will help

then to know if the research is contributing to society health.

I would like to be given my result.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I want to know my results.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I would like to know my result, whether it is good or bad.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I would like to know my result.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

I would like to know my result, because you don't hide disease. The

research can even be published.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

We should be given feedback whether good or bad.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

With the feedback if there's drug we can be given.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

If you are not given feedback you will not know the position of things

regarding your health.

145

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

If diseases are discovered, people should be made to know about them.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

If something serious is discovered about me I should be told. I would also like to receive news about the biobank. I will not feel happy if you do not give me my results.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

If something serious is discovered about me I should be informed. Other FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

I should be given feedback even if it is something serious about my health.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

*I should be given feedback and news.*Other FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

4.4.4.7 Perception of benefits of participating in the biobank research.

These group of participants had good perception of the benefits of biobank research.

Biobank can be lead to development of drugs. For instance, the whiteman who developed paracetamol used some people in their research.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

biobank is of benefit not to me alone, but for the whole world. It is not for one persons benefits.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Biobank can help us to know about the diseases we are suffering from and the drugs to cure it.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Biobank can help us to know about the diseases we are suffering from and the drugs that can make it go.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

You may not know of something but the biobank research may reveal it.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

Biobank will bring awareness on diseases.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

biobank is used for researches on other diseases that have not been discovered and for curing them.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

If there's faith on the biobank research and cooperation between the researchers and the participants it bring about benefits.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

If my specimen is taken for research, the disease that I may not know about can be discovered and treated.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

Drugs can be developed for diseases from the biobank.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

As a person, if a disease is discovered on me in the course of the biobank research, I could be treated.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

There are more advantages than disadvantages of the biobank research.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

4.4.4.8 Future use of specimens from the biobank research.

The participants would like to re-consent before their specimens are used for future studies. This was why they earlier on said they will choose the restricted consent. They want to be sure of the kind of research that will be done before they give consent.

I should be informed before other studies are done on my specimen in the future.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

I am also of the opinion that I should be informed before other studies are done on my specimen the in future.

FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

4.4.4.9 Concerns about the biobank research

When the discussants were asked what their concerns were, some were concerned on the sustainability of the project and if their samples will be used for other research other than non-communicable research. Those that could not say what will make them change their mind were few. I will have concern when this biobank research that I hope will be of benefit to humanity is terminated half way.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

*I do not have any concern on biobank research.*Other female FGD rural B20 - Kano

I would like to know what my blood is being used for in the biobank, if not I will be disturbed.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

4.4.4.10 Religious or cultural issues on biobank research

No participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research.

The biobank is not against my religion or culture.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Any research that has to do with human health, I do not think religion or culture is against it.

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

We do not know of any religious or cultural belief that is against the biobank research.

Other female FGD rural B20 - Kano

I do not have any religious or cultural view that is against the biobank research.

FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

4.4.4.11 Access to medical records for the biobank research

A majority of the discussants said that the researchers can have access to their medical records.

I will not be annoyed if you have access to my medical records.

FGD Female rural D14- Enugu

I will not feel bad if you have access to my medical records.

FGD Female rural D14 - Enugu

Since it is part of the research no problem if you have access to my medical records

FGD Female rural B20 - Kano

You can have access to our medical records.

Other Female rural B20 - Kano

I have no problem with you having access to my medical records. FGD Female rural C19 - FCT

You can have access to my medical records. FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

You can use my medical records. FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

There's no problem you can use my medical records. Other FGD Female rural A16 - Oyo

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

This is the first study on prospective research participation perspectives on the collection, storage and use of blood samples for biobank research in Nigeria which elicited the perspectives of a diverse group of individuals.

- 1. Knowledge and attitude to biobanking research and non-communicable disease
- Participants in this study had limited knowledge of biobanking research, but had good knowledge of non-communicable diseases.
- 2. Willingness to participate The results of this study showed that majority of the respondents were willing to donate their samples for non-communicable disease research and for future research. Previous studies in Western countries (eg, USA, UK, Sweden, Japan, Iceland) and one from Uganda, a resource-limited country in Africa (Wendler et al., 2005) showed that most individuals were willing to donate their blood sample for future research (Kettis-Lindblad et al., 2006; Nilstun & Hermeren, 2006; Guqmundsdottir, 2007; Goodson & Vernon, 2004; Bryant et al., 2008).

Only a few participants would not like to participate in the biobank research and it agrees with other studies (Chen et al., 2005; Goodson & Vernon, 2004). The groups most likely to abstain were those with higher education. In other studies the social group most likely to abstain differ between national contexts; for example, in the US ethnic minorities and people with poor education will typically abstain (Wendler & Emanuel, 2002), while in Sweden it seems to be younger men with higher education who are least likely to participate (Hoeyer et al., 2004; Kettis-Lindblad et al., 2007).

3. **Informed consent and consent types** - Majority of the discussants in the study supported giving broad consent to use their blood and tissue samples for the proposed biobank research. While a minority of the participants would like to initially consent

to the restricted and later give consent for the broad if the researchers demonstrates that they are virtuous custodians of donated samples. The support for broad consent in this study agrees with a study carried out in Durham, North Carolina of which 85% of the respondents endorsed broad consent (Beskow & Dean, 2008). Germany, Iceland, the UK, Switzerland, Estonia, Japan and Latvia largely recommend broad consent models (Maschke, 2005).

A few participants prefer the Specific or "Narrow" or restricted informed consent and it agrees with Italy, France and Sweden which explicitly require specific informed consent (Salvaterra et al., 2008).

- 4. Specimens and data sharing over time a few participants were particular on the proper observance of the country's law on material transfer agreement to protect the participants interest about how the samples will be transferred and used here and outside Nigeria. This dependence on government approval as a guarantor reflects the perception that the individual is not able to monitor usage of donated samples on their own, but had the strong belief that the government is in the best position to ensure proper usage of the banked materials. They would like to know the outcome of such collaboration. A minority of the respondents in this study did not want their samples sent to other African countries. They do not believe that other African countries were competent enough to work on their samples. The finding contrast with the opinions of the Ugandan, most of whom stated that they would allow their samples to be sent to a neighbouring countries (Tanzania or Kenya) or to the UK or the USA (Wendler et al., 2005).
- **5. Return of result and feedback** the majority view is to be given general feedback and their individual results even if something serious were discovered about their health, but with pre-counselling. This would help in assuring them that their

involvement had been worthwhile and divulging of the results could also sustain their interest. Some said, though it would be unwelcome news, it would be preferable to hear it earlier rather than later. It would allow more time to prepare for the outcome. Another study involving Ugandan individuals showed that half of the respondents wanted the results of the research to be shared with them (Wendler et al., 2005). In a study of American (Wendler & Emmanuel, 2002) and Irish (Cousins et al., 2005) participants, they seem to want research results irrespective of the availability of treatment options in contrast to Swedes and in particular rural Swedes, who prefer getting individual results only when they are of validated clinical use (Hoeyer et al., 2004; Kettis-Lindblad et al., 2006).

The traditional practice of not giving research participants any information from a study that relates specifically to them is being re-evaluated in the context of genetic research (Maschke, 2010). Many commentators now argue that there are ethical and legal obligations to give individuals their test results under some circumstances (Kohane & Taylor, 2010; Kohane et al., 2007). For instance, when results could have an impact on their health or reproductive decisions.

6. Secondary use of samples - A few participants that are knowledgeable on research would want the biobank to specify the future uses of their samples. They entertained the fear that the researchers may deviate from the original objectives of the research into research that might be against their religious belief such as the production of biological weapon or a strain of virus that could be used to destroy human beings and for cloning or stem cells research. Those that were not comfortable would like to reconsent to be sure of what they will allow. This agreed with other studies, of which reconsent was reported to be the clear expectation in these studies (Korts et al., 2004)

Another study showed that a large majority of African-Americans would permit unlimited future research with their biological samples (Chen et al., 2005).

There has been a lack of consensus regarding the type and quality of informed consent needed to collect and store samples for future, unspecified research (Johnstone et al., 2001). Although it is agreed that consent documents should address future use, it is often difficult to fully explain the scope of what that use may encompass.

The repeated reference to this issue highlights the high level of religious observances in the study population. Biobank research can create moral harm when samples are used for research that the participants would object strongly to.

7. Confidentiality - A few participants expressed concern on the possible loss of confidentiality, privacy and information and would like the anonymity of the participants and data will be ensured. It agrees with UK-based studies which found that donors have a number of worries relating to confidentiality (Levitt & Weldon, 2005). About half of the participants thought there were no risks involved in biobank research, while a few brought out the issue of harm to the group to which a participant belongs, and thereby harm the individuals concerned. This harm may arise, for instance, if people outside the group regard the group in a more negative way or treat people belonging to that group in a worse way than other. The harm may also be due to people in the group starting to look at themselves in a different, more negative way.

Also, the risk of identifying individual solely by genetic materials in the future cannot be ruled out. Such technology may emerge, potentially making de-identified specimens and their associated data identifiable in the future. Much like fingerprints, biospecimens may one day be traceable back to the individuals who donated them (Baer et al., 2010).

8. Autonomy - A large proportion of the respondents expressed their desire to let their spouses know before they participate, and those that are not married mentioned their

parents, brothers, sisters and relations. Respecting someone's autonomy is respecting that person's right to decide and act.

- **9.** Concerns several concern were raised which include the following;
- (a) benefits sharing: a few participants would like to know the benefits or personal gains that will accrue to them from the biobank. They rarely want money in return, but care. Many, but not all, view participation as a duty, as a chance to help. It agrees with other studies in U.S., Canada, the UK, Norway, Sweden, Austria and France (Hoeyer, 2010). Other studies have highlighted how people in the European welfare states see participation as a sort of obligation that is part of benefiting from universal healthcare and medical science (Busby, 2006; Hoeyer, 2003).
- (b) ownership and commercial interests issues: A few participants would like to get some clarification on ownership and commercial interests issues surrounding the biobank resources. Some years ago, discussion in the literature on ownership largely stemmed from the infamous Moore case in California where unauthorized research uses of bodily materials led to a property claim by the donor (*Moore v. Regents of California* 1990; *cert denied* 1991). While Mr. Moore lost his property claim, the principle of obtaining an informed consent to research uses of samples and genetic information was established. Such a requirement exists irrespective of the "property" or "person" characterization and allows a person to exercise a right of control. In the case of a "gift" however, ownership passes upon donation (*Washington Univ. v. Catalona* 2007). The quest for clarification in relation to commercial interests in this study agrees with another study in UK (Levitt & Weldon, 2005). The participants do not find themselves in a position to personally control this issues and do not find informed consent helpful in reaching this end as was seen in other studies (Barr, 2006; Hoeyer, 2004).

- **(c) sustainability:** A few participants were bordered that the project might be abandoned half way just as many laudable projects have been abandoned in Nigeria.
- 10. Religious or cultural issues on biobank: No single participant had any religious or cultural view on biobank research. The participant pointed out that if the outcome of the biobank research is favourable, any contrary culture to biobank research will give way.
- 11. Access to medical records: confidentiality was considered a significant issue in light of the need for personal medical records along with the specimens. The request for information from medical records were seen by many of the participants to be okay. They felt they had nothing to hide. For many it caused little worry, for several reasons, they believed that if information is properly encoded or encrypted it will not be accessible to people unauthorized. Most surveys in Sweden and USA, seem to find that a majority of potential donors expect to have a say about usage of tissue and medical records (Eriksson, 2007; Hull et al., 2008) though exceptions exist (Nilstun & Hermerén, 2006). The success of large-scale population genetic databases depends on individuals being motivated to freely donate samples and to allow access to their medical records. People therefore need to trust those responsible for the collection, storage and use of their personal data (Levitt & Weldon, 2005).

5.1 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. Knowledge and attitude to biobanking research and non-communicable disease
- Since the participants in this study had limited knowledge of biobanking, biobank scientists need to incorporate significant initiatives for population engagement and education about biobanks and its value in modern research, through campaigns using the services of medical doctors, community and religious leaders.
- **2.** Willingness to participate The proposed biobank sample collection was well accepted in principle, largely because biobank research was understood to have benefits, although it is clear that many of them do not think through the implications fully as they were presented with the idea.
- 3. **Informed consent and consent types** Consent is an important issue for the biobank's at the start and in the future for its continuing success. The participants should be given enough information that will enable them make informed decision on the type of consent they would like to give (broad, restricted, tiered, etc).
- **4. Specimens and data sharing over time** The sharing of data is usually desired by researchers and participants alike, but both the advantages and possible risks need to be explained to the participants.
- 5. Return of result and feedback Biobank should devise ways to provide feedback on individual results by stating who should give the feedback to the participants and possibly set up machinery and resources for pre and post-counselling for the feedback. Explanation of the specific information or type of feedback the participants have right to know should be given at the outset, which will include the type of diseases or conditions. The feedback on results accruing to an individual's health should be handled with utmost care. There should be information to participants on when publications will

be available on the general outcome of the studies either trough the print media or the Web sites established for this purpose for use by the participants with Internet access.

- **6. Secondary use of samples** it will be appropriate to addressed the topic of future use of specimens and provide on the consent form, specific information about the storage and future use of biological materials, the treatment of related data and the right of donors to refuse consent to the storage or future use of the collected samples. The dependence on government approval as a guarantor before samples are sent to other countries for further research which reflects the perception that the individual is not able to monitor usage of donated samples on their own, calls for government strong regulation or guideline on the usage of donated samples and control of biobanks activities in Nigeria.
- 7. Confidentiality It is important that the biobank researchers discuss with the participants on the nature of any risks involved including risk of physical harm and any risks related to privacy and confidentiality and uncertainties. A unique degree of confidentiality should be kept to assure the privacy of participants through adherence to legally defined principles and rules.

8. Concerns

- (a) benefits sharing: Since in the study, a few participants would like to know the benefits that will accrue to them in terms of treatment if found to have diseases, effort should be made to clearly state in the consent form the likely benefits that the participant will get as recompense and recognition of donors' altruism in participating in the study.
- **(b) ownership and commercial interests issues:** It is important to clarify in the consent process, ownership issues surrounding biobank resources whether it is a national or private property. Participants should be clearly informed that they will not

receive financial gain from any new treatments developed through research conducted on their specimens.

- (c) sustainability: there is the need to ensure sustainability of the biobank and to provide mechanisms for equitable and appropriate access to biospecimen.
- 9. The result of this study highlight the need to carefully document population attitudes to elements of modern scientific research and its impact on consenting process.
- 10. A further study is recommended using quantitative research methods to explore more fully the knowledge, and attitudes of Nigerians on biobank research.
- 11. The strength of our study included, diversity of the study sample and the geographical spread of respondents. We ensured adequate representation of sexes, age, religions and tribes.
- 12. The number of participants of this study was relatively small. The reason for this was the time limit of the project since it is a research for the award of M.Sc. in Bioethics in the University of Ibadan.
- 13. The findings from this study are enlightening and useful, but should be treated as a snapshot of current opinion of Nigerian public on biobanking.

REFERENCES:

- Abou-Zeid, A., Silverman, H., Shehata, M., Shams, M., Elshabrawy, M., et al. 2010. Collection, storage and use of blood samples for future research: views of Egyptian patients expressed in a cross-sectional survey. *Journal of Medicine and Ethics* doi:10.1136/jme.2009.033100.
- Adebamowo, C. A. & Akarolo-Anthony, S. 2009. Cancer in Africa: opportunities for collaborative research and training. *African Journal of Medical Science* 38 Suppl 2:5-13.
- Anderlik, M. R. & Rothstein, M. A. 2001. Privacy and confidentiality of genetic information: what rules for the new science? *Annual Review of Genomics Human Genetics* 2:401–433.
- Andrews, L. B. 2005. Harnessing the benefits of biobanks. *Journal of Law and Medical Ethics* 33:22-30.
- Appelbaum, P. S., Roth, L. H., Lidz, C. W., Benson, P. & Winslade, W. 1987. False hopes and best data: consent to research and the therapeutic misconception.

 Hastings Centre Report 17:20–24.
- Ashburn, T. T., Wilson, S. K. & Eisenstein, B. I. 2000. Human tissue research in the genomic era of medicine: balancing individual and societal interests. *Archives of International Medicine* 160:3377-84.
- Ashcroft, R. 2000. The ethics of reusing archived tissue for research. *Neuropathology* and *Applied Neurobiology* 26:408-411.
- Auray-Blais, C. & Patenaude, J. A. 2006. Biobank management model applicable to biomedical research. *BMC Medical Ethics* 7:E4.

- Australian National Health and Medical Research Council. 1999. *Guidelines for Genetic Registers and Associated Genetic Material*. Canberra, ACT, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Azarow, K. S., Olmstead, F. L., Hume, R. F., Myers, J., Calhoun, B. C. & Martin, L. S. 2003. Ethical use of tissue samples in genetic research. *Military Medicine* 168: 437-41.
- Baer, A. R., Smith, M. L., Collyar, D. & Peppercorn, J. 2010. Issues surrounding biospecimen collection and use in clinical trials. *Journal of Oncology Practice* 6.4:206-209.
- Barnes, R. O., Parisien, M., Murphy, L. C. & Watson, P. H. 2008. Influence of evolution in tumor biobanking on the interpretation of translational research. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Preview* 17:3344-3350.
- Barr, M. 2006. 'I'm not really read up on genetics': biobanks and the social context of informed consent. *BioSocieties* 1:251–262.
- Bauer, K., Taub, S. & Parsi, K. 2004. Ethical issues in tissue banking for research: a brief review of existing organizational policies. *Theoretical Medical Bioethics* 25:143-55.
- Bellivier, F., Noiville, C., & Ghestin, J. 2006. Eds. Contrats et vivant. Les droits de la circulation des ressources biologiques. [Contracts and Living Elements: Rights on Circulation of Biological Resources.] LGDJ, France.
- Beskow, L. M. & Dean, E. 2008. Informed consent for biorepositories: assessing prospective participants' understanding and opinions. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Preview* Jun,17.6:1440-51.

- Boggio, A., Adorno, N. B., Bernice, E., Mauron, A. & Capron, A. M. 2007. comparing guidelines on biobanks: Emerging consensus and unresolved controversies.
 Geneva, Switzerland: Réseau Universitaire International de Genève.
- Boyle, P. & Levin, B. 2008. World Cancer Report. Geneva: International Agency for Research on Cancer.
- Bryant, R. J., Harrison, R. F., Start, R. D., Chetwood, A. S. A. & Chesshire, A. M. 2008. Ownership and uses of human tissue: what are the opinions of surgical inpatients? *Journal of Clinical Pathology* 61: 322–326.
- Busby, H. 2006. Biobanks, bioethics and concepts of donated blood in the UK. Sociology of Health Illness 28:850-865.
- Cambon-Thomsen, A. 2004. The social and ethical issues of post-genomic human biobanks. *Nature Review Genetics* 5: 6-13.
- Cambon-Thomsen, A., Rial-Sebbag, E. & Knoppers, B. M. 2007. Trends in ethical and legal frameworks for the use of human biobanks. *European Respiratory Journal* 30:373–382.
- Campbell, M. C. & Tishkoff, S. A. 2010. The evolution of human genetics and phenotypic variation in Africa. Current Biology 20.4:R166-73.
- Capron, A. M., Mauron, A., Elger, B. S., Boggio, A., Ganguli-Mitra, A., et al. 2009.
 Ethical norms and the international governance of genetic databases and biobanks:
 findings from an international study. *Kennedy Institute Ethics Journal* 19:101-24.
- Caulfield, T., & Outerbridge, T. 2002. DNA Databanks, public opinion and the law. Clinical and Investigative Medicine 25.6: 252-256.
- Caze de Montgolfier, S. 2002. Collecte, Stockage et Utilisation des Produits du Corps Humain dans le Cadre des Recherches en Génétique: État des Lieux Historique,

- Éthique et Juridique; Analyse des Pratiques au Sein des Biothèques. Thesis, Univ. René Descartes, Paris.
- CCNE. Ethical Problems Raised by the Collected Biological Material and Associated Information Data: 'Biobanks', 'Biolibraries' http://www.ccneethique.fr/english/pdf/avis077.pdf (French National Advisory Bioethics Committee, Paris, 2003).
- CDBI. (Steering Committee on Bioethics). Draft explanatory memorandum to the draft recommendation on research on biological materials of human origin. Strasbourg, France: Council of Europe Steering Committee on Bioethics 2006.
- Chadwick, R. 2001. Informed consent and genetic research. In *Informed Consent in Medical Research* eds. L. Doyal and J. Tobias, pp 203-210. London: BMJ Books.
- Charo, R. A. 2004. Legal characterizations of human tissue. In *Transplanting human tissue: Ethics, Policy and Practice* eds. S.J. Youngner, M.W. Anderson and R. Schapiro, pp 101-119. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Chen, D. T., Rosenstein, D. L., Muthappan, P., Hilsenbeck, S. G., Miller, F. G., et al. 2005. Research with stored biological samples: what do research participants want? *Archives of Internal Medicine* 165:652-5.
- CIOMS. (Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences). 2005 Revised version of the 1991 CIOMS International Guidelines for Ethical Review of Epidemiological Studies. Geneva, Switzerland: Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences.
- Clayton, E. W. 1995. Panel comment: why the use of anonymous samples for research matters. *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 23: 375–377.
- Clayton, E. W. 2005. 'Informed consent and biobanks', *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 33.1: 15-22.

- COE. (Council of Europe). 1997. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with Regard to the Application of Biology and Biomedicine. Strasbourg, France: Council of Europe.
- COE. (Council of Europe). 2005. Treaty Series No. 195, Human Rights and Biomedicine. Protocol on Biomedical Research. Strasbourg, France: Council of Europe.
- COE Rec 2006/4. (Council of Europe. Recommendation) of the Committee of Ministers to Member States on Research on Biological Material of Human Origin.

 Strasbourg, 2006. www.coe.int/t/e/legal_affairs/legal_co-operation/bioethics/
 texts_and_documents/Rec_2006_4.pdf Date last accessed: July 15, 2011.
- Commission de l'éthique et de la technologie. Les Enjeux Éthiques des Banques d'Information Génétique: pour un Encadrement Démocratique et Responsible http://www.ethique.gouv.qc.ca/fr/ftp/AvisBanquesGen.pdf (Gouvernement du Québec, Montréal 2003).
- Conference on Harmonising Biobank Research: *Maximising Value MaximisingUse*.

 The conference was co-organised by three interrelated initiatives—PHOEBE, P3G,
 BBMRI—working in tandem to further biobank science and research. March 2527,2009.
- Cousins, G., McGee, H., Ring, L., Conroy, R., Kay, E., et al. 2005. Public Perceptions of Biomedical Research: A Survey of the general population in Ireland. Dublin Health Research Board.
- Crabtree, B. F. & Miller, W. L. 1999. *Doing Qualitative Research*. Newbury Park: Sage.

- Deschenes, M., Cardinal, G., Knoppers, B. M. & Glass, K. C. 2001. Human genetic research, DNA banking and consent: a question of 'form'? *Clinical Genetics* 59, 221–239.
- Dickenson, D. 2004. Consent, commodification and benefit-sharing in genetic research.

 *Developmental World Bioethics 4:109-24.
- Dickenson, D. 2005. Human tissue and global ethics. *Genomics Society Policy* 1:41-53.
- Ducournau, P. 2007. The viewpoint of DNA donors on the consent procedure. *New Genetic Society* 26:105–116.
- Dushenes, M. & Salle, C. 2005. Accountability in population biobanking: comparative approaches. *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics* 33(1):40-53.
- Eiseman, E. & Haga, S. B. 1999. editors. Handbook of human tissue sources: a national resource of human tissue samples. Santa Monica (CA): RAND Corp.
- Eiseman, E. 2000. Stored tissue samples: an inventory of sources in the United States. In National Bioethics Advisory Commission, Research involving human biological materials: Ethical issues and policy guidance, Vol II pp D1–D52. Rockville, MD, USA: National Bioethics Advisory Commission.
- Elger, B. S. & Caplan, A. L. 2006. Consent and anonymization in research involving biobanks: Differing terms and norms present serious barriers to an international framework EMBO Report, July, 7. 7: 661–666.
- Emmanuel, E. J. & Weijer, C. 2000. Protecting communities in biomedical research. Science 289:1142-4.
- Emmanuel, E. J., Wendler, D. & Grady, C. 2000. What makes research ethical. *JAMA* 283:2701 11.

- Emmanuel, E. J., Wendler, D., Killen, J. & Grady, C. 2004. What makes clinical research in developing countries ethical? The benchmarks of ethical research. JID. 1 Mar,189:930 7.
- Eriksson, S. 2004. Should results from genetic research be returned to research subjects and their biological relatives? *Trames Journal of Humanities Social Sciences* 8: 46–62.
- Eriksson, S. & Helgesson, G. 2005. Anonymization and withdrawal from biobank research. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 13:1071–1076.
- Eriksson, K. E. 2007. Sweden; in Häyry M, Chadwick R, Árnason V, Árnason G (eds):

 The Ethics and Governance of Genetic Databases. European Perspectives

 Cambridge. Cambridge, University Press pp 59–65.
- European Society of Human Genetics. 2001. Data Storage and DNA Banking for Biomedical Research: Technical, Ethical and Social Issues, www.eshg.org/ESHGDNAbankingrec. pdf. Date last accessed: July 5, 2011.
- Forsberg, J. S., Hansson, M. G. & Eriksson, S. 2009. Changing perspectives in biobank research: from individual rights to concerns about public health regarding the return of results. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 17: 1544 1549.
- Frazier, L., Sparks, E., Sanner, J. E. & Henderson, M. 2008. Biobanks and biomarker research in cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nurses* Mar-Apr 23, 2:153-8.
- Gassner, U. M. 2007. Legal aspects of tissue banking. *Pathobiology* 74:270–274.
- Gibbons, S. M., Kaye, J., Smart, A., Heeney, C. & Parker, M. 2007. Governing genetic databases: challenges facing research regulation and practice. *Journal of Law and Society* 34:163–189.

- Gibbons, S. M. 2008. From principles to practice: implementing genetic database governance. *Medical Law International* 9:101–109.
- Gibson, E., Brazil, K., Coughlin, M. D., Emerson, C., Fournier, F., et al. 2008. Who's minding the shop? The role of Canadian research ethics boards in the creation and uses of registries and biobanks. *BMC Med Ethics* 9:17.
- Goodson, M. L. & Vernon, B. G. A. 2004. Study of public opinion on the use of tissue samples from living subjects for clinical research. *Journal of Clinical Patholology* 57:135-8.
- Godard, B., Schmidtke, J., Cassiman, J. J. & Ayme, S. 2003. Data storage and DNA banking for biomedical research: informed consent, confidentiality, quality issues, ownership, return of benefits. A professional perspective. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 11 (Suppl 2):S88–S122.
- Gottweis, H. & Zatloukal, K. 2007. Biobank Governance: Trends and perspectives. *Pathobiology* 74:206-211.
- Greely, H. T. 2001. Informed consent and other ethical issues in human population genetics. *Annual Review Genetic* 35:785–800
- Gustafsson, S. U., Liss, P-E., Svensson, T. & Ludvigsson, J. 2002. Attitudes to bioethical issues: A case study of a screening project. *Society Science and Medicine* 54:1333–1344.
- Guqmundsdottir, M. L. & Nordal, S. 2007. Iceland; in: Hayry M, Chadwick R, Arnason V, Arnason G (eds): The Ethics and Governance of Human Genetic Databases: European Perspectives.Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hagen, H. E. & Carlstedt-Duke, J. 2004. Building global networks for human diseases: genes and populations. *National Medicine* 10:665–7.

- Hall D: Reflecting on Redfern: What can we learn from the Alder Hey story? *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2001, 84:455-456.
- Hansson, M. G., Dillner, J., Bartram, C. R., Carlson, J. A. & Helgesson, G. 2006.
 Should donors be allowed to give broad consent to future biobank research? *Lancet Oncology* 7:266–269.
- Hapgood, R., McCabe, C. & Shickle, D. 2004: Public Preferences for Participation in a Large DNA Cohort Study: A discrete choice experiment: Sheffield Health Economics Group Discussion Paper Series. Sheffield: The University of Sheffield, School of Health and Related Research.
- Harris, J. & Woods, S. 2001. Rights and responsibilities of individuals participating in medical research; in Doyal L, Tobias JS (eds): Informed consent in medical research. London: British Medical Journal Books pp 276–282.
- Helminski, F. 1994. Formalities, good faith, and tissues donation. *Mayo Clinical Proceedings* 69:985-986.
- Hoeyer, K. 2003. 'Science is really needed that's all I know': informed consent and the non-verbal practices of collecting blood for genetic research in northern Sweden. *New Genetic Society* 22:229–244.
- Hoeyer, K., Olofsson, B. O., Mörndal, T. & Lynöe, N. 2004. Informed consent and Biobanks: A population-based study of attitudes towards tissue donation for Genetic Research. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 32: 224-229.
- Hoeyer, K. 2010. Donors perceptions of consent to and feedback from biobank research: Time to acknowledge diversity? *Public Health Genomics* 13:345–352.
- HUGO. (Human Genome Organisation) 1999. Ethics Committee. Statement on DNA sampling control and access. *Genome Digest* 6, 8–9.

- Hull, S. C., Sharp, R. R., Botkin, J. R., Brown, M., Hughes, M., et al., 2008. Patients' views on identifiability of samples and informed consent for genetic research.
 American Journal of Bioethics 8:62–70.
- Human Genetics Commission. 2002. Inside information: Balancing interests in the use of personal genetic data. London, UK: UK Department of Health.
- ICGC. (International Cancer Genome Consortium). goals, structure, policies and guidelines. Available from: http://www.icgc.org/files/ICGC April 29 2008.pdf.
- Jack, A. & Womack, C. 2003. Why surgical patients do not donate tissue for commercial research: review of records. *British Medical Journal* 327, 262.
- Johnstone, E., Doyal, L., Grubbs, A., Povey, S., Quirke, P., et al. 2001. Human tissue and biological samples for use in research: operational and ethical guidelines. London, UK: Medical Research Council.
- Joly, Y., Knoppers, B. M., & Nguyen, M. T. 2005. Stored tissue samples: through the confidentiality maze. *Pharmacogenomics Journal* 5:2–5.
- Kaiser, J. 2002. Biobanks. Private biobanks spark ethical concerns. *Science* 298: 1160.
- Kaiser Permanente Division of Research. Research program on genes, environment, and health. Available at:http://www.dor.kaiser.org/external/Home_Default.aspx. Accessed June 29, 2009.
- Kapp, M. B. 2006. Ethical and legal issues in research involving human subjects: do you want a piece of me? *Journal of Clinical Pathology* 59:335–339.
- Kaufman, D., Murphy, J., Scott, J. & Hudson, K. 2008. Subjects matter: a survey of public opinions about a large cohort study. *Genetic Medicine* 10:831-9.
- Kaye, J., Helgason, H. H., Nõmper, A., Sild, T. & Wendel, L. 2004. Population genetic databases: a comparative analysis of the law in Iceland, Sweden, Estonia and the UK. TRAMES: *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences* 8: 15–33.

- Kaye, J. 2007. Regulating human genetic databases in Europe; in Häyry M, Chadwick R, Árnason V, Árnason G (eds): The ethics and governance of human genetic databases. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, pp 91–95.
- Kettis-Lindblad, A., Ring, L., Viberth, E. & Hansson, M. G. 2006. Genetic research and donation of tissue samples to biobanks. What do potential sample donors in the Swedish general public think?. *European Journal of Public Health* 16:433–440.
- Knoppers, B. M. 1997. (ed.) *Human DNA: Law and Policy. International and Comparative Perspectives*. Kluwer Law International, Boston.
- Knoppers, B. M. 2005b. Biobanking: international norms. *Journal of Law and Med Ethics* 33: 7–14
- Knoppers, B. M. 2005a. Consent revisited: points to consider. *Health Law Review* 13: 33–38.
- Knoppers, B. M. & Saginur, M. 2005. The babel of genetic data terminology. *National Biotechnology* 23:925–927.
- Knoppers, B. M., Joly, Y., Simard, J. & Durocher, F. 2006. The emergence of an ethical duty to disclose genetic research results: international perspectives. *EJHG* 14:1170–1178.
- Kohane, I. S., Mandl, K. D., Taylor, P. L., Holm, I. A., Nigrin, D. J., et al. 2007. Medicine: reestablishing the researcher-patient compact. *Science* 316:836–837.
- Kohane, I. & Taylor, P. L. 2010. "Multidimensional results reporting to participants in genomic studies: getting it right," *Science Translational Medicine* 2, no. 37: 1-4.
- Korts, K., Weldon, S. & Gudmundsdóttir, M. L. 2004. Genetic databases and public attitudes: a comparison of Iceland, Estonia and the UK. *Trames* 8:131–149.

- Levitt, M. & Weldon, S. 2005. A well placed trust? Public perceptions of the governance of DNA databases. *Clinical Public Health* 15:311–321.
- Lindblom, C. E. 1959. The science of "muddling through". *Public Administration Review* 19: 79-88.
- Lipworth, W., Ankeny, R. & Kerridge, I. 2006. 'Consent in Crisis: the need to reconceptualize consent to tissue banking research', *Internal Medicine Journal* 36:2, 124-128.
- Loft, S. & Poulsen, H. E. 1996. Cancer risk and oxidative DNA damage in man. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 74:297–312.
- Lundberg, L. & Lindblad, A. 2001. Empirical research on informed consent and biobanks. In *The Use of Human Biobanks. Ethical, Social, Economical and Legal Aspects*, Hansson MG (ed), pp 53–54. Uppsala, Sweden: Uppsala University.
- Mack, N., Woodsong, C., MacQueen, K. M., Guest, G. & Namey, E. 2005. *Qualitative Research Methods: A Data Collector's Field Guide*. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina: Family Health International.
- Mager, S. R., Oomen, M. H., Morente, M. M., Ratcliffe, C., Knox, K., et al. 2007. Standard operating procedure for the collection of fresh frozen tissue samples. *European Journal of Cancer* 43:828-834.
- March, J. G. & Olsen, J. P. 1976. Organizational Choice under Ambiguity. In *Ambiguity* and *Choice in Organizations* eds. J.G. March and J.P. Olsen, pp 10-23. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Maschke, K. J. & Murray, T. H. 2004. Ethical issues in tissue banking for research: the prospects and pitfalls of setting international standards. *Theoretical Medicine* 25:143-55.

- Maschke, K. J. 2005. Navigating an ethical patchwork—human gene banks. *National Biotechnology* 5:539–545.
- Maschke, K. J. 2010. "Wanted: Human biospecimens," *Hastings Center Report* 40.5: 21-23.
- Mello, M. M., & Wolf, L. E. 2010. The Havasupai Indian Tribe Case-Lessons for Research Involving Stored Biologic Samples. The New England Journal of Medicine. This article (10.1056/NEJMp1005203) was published on June 9, at NEJM.org.
- Merz, J. F. 2003. On the intersection of privacy, consent, commerce and genetic research. In *Populations and Genetics: Legal Socio-Ethical Perspectives*, Knoppers BM (ed), pp 257–268. New York, NY, USA: Kluwer Legal International.
- Merz, J. F., McGee, G. E. & Sankar, P. 2004. "Iceland Inc."?: On the ethics of commercial population genomics. *Social Science and Medicine* 58.6: 1201-1209.
- MRC. (Medical Research Council). 2001. Human Tissue and Biological Samples for Use in Research. Operational and Ethical Guidelines. London, UK: Nationaler Ethikrat (2004) Biobanken für die Forschung. Stellungnahme. Berlin, Germany. Nationaler Ethikrat.
- Moore v. Regents of California 793 F 2d 479 [Cal.]; cert denied (1991) 111 S. Ct. 1388. 1990.
- Murphy, J., Scott, J., Kaufman, D., Geller, G., LeRoy, L. & Hudson, K. 2009. Public perspectives on informed consent for biobanking. *American Journal of Public Health* 99, 12:2128-34.
- National Bioethics Advisory Commission USA. (NBACa). 1999. Research Involving

 Human Biological Materials: Ethical Issues and Policy Guidance, Vol I.

 Rockville, MD, USA: National Bioethics Advisory Commission.

- National Bioethics Advisory Commission USA. (NBACb) 1999. The use of human biological materials in research http://bioethics.gov/briefings/index.htm#jan99>
- National Code of Health Research Ethics. August, 2007
- Nationaler Ethikrat. Biobanks for research.

 http://www.nationalerethikrat.de/_english/publications/Opinion_Biobanks-for-research.pdf (German National Ethics Council, Berlin, 2004).
- Nilstun, T. & Hermeren, G. 2006. Human tissue samples and ethics: attitudes of the general public in Sweden to biobank research. *Medical Health Care Philosophy* 9:81–86.
- Nordal, S. 2007. Privacy. In *The Ethics and Governance of Human Genetic Databases* eds. M. Häyry, R. Chadwick, V. Árnason and G. Árnason, pp 181-189. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- NUgene Project Web site. Available at: www. nugene.org. Northwestern University. Accessed June 29, 2009.
- O'Brien, S. J. 2009. Steweardship of human biospecimens, DNA, genotype, and clinical data in the GWAS era. *Annual Review of Genomics Human Genetics* 10:193-209.
- OHRP. (Office for Human Research Protections). 2004. Guidance on Research Involving Coded Private Information or Biological Specimens. Rockville, MD, USA.
- Patton, M. Q. 2002. Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage.
- Potts, J. 2002. At Least Give the Natives Glass Beads: An Examination of the Bargain Made between Iceland and deCODE Genetics with Implications for Global Bioprospecting. *Virginia Journal of Law and Technology* 7.8:1-40.

- PRIM&R Human Tissue/Specimen Banking Working Group: Report of the Public Responsibility in Medicine and Research (PRIM&R) Human Tissue/Specimen Banking Working Group, Part I Assessment and Recommendations. 2007.
- Radetzki, M., Radetzki, M., Juth, N. 2003. Genes and insurance. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Renegar, G., Webster, C. J., Stuerzbecher, S., Harty, L., Ide, S. E., et al., 2006. Returning genetic research results to individuals: points-to-consider. *Bioethics* 20, 1: 24-36.
- Retained Organs Commission. 2002. Retained organs. *Bulletin of Medical Ethics* 8-11.
- Riegman, P. H., Morente, M. M., Betsou, F., de Blasio, P. & Geary, P. 2008. the Marble Arch International Working Group on Biobanking for, Research B: Biobanking for better healthcare. *Molecular Oncology* 2:213-222.
- Rothstein, M. A. 2002. The role of IRBs in research involving commercial biobanks. *Journal of Law and Medicine Ethics* 30:105–108.
- Sade, R. M. 2002. Research on stored biological samples is still research. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 162:1439–1440.
- Salvaterra, E., Lecchi, L., Giovanelli, S., Butti, B., Bardella, M. T., et al. 2008. Banking together. A unified model of informed consent for biobanking. *EMBO Report* Apr 9, 4:307-13.
- Schweizer Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften. 2006. Biobanken:

 Gewinnung, Aufbewahrung und Nutzung von menschlichem biologischem

 Material für Ausbildung und Forschung. Medizinisch-ethische Richtlinien und

 Empfehlungen. Basel, Switzerland: Schweizer Akademie der Medizinischen

 Wissenschaften.

- Shancheti, 2009. What does blanket consent mean?. AIPPG.com, www.aippg.net
- Simm, K. 2005. Benefit-sharing: An inquiry regarding the meaning and limits of the concept in human genetic research. *Genomics, Society and Policy* 1, 2: 29-40.
- Stegmayr, B. & Asplund, K. 2003. Genetic research on blood samples stored for years in biobanks. Most people are willing to provide informed consent [In Swedish]. *Lakartidningen* 100: 618–620.
- Steinberg, K., Beck, J., Nickerson, D., Garcia-Closas, M., Gallagher, M. *et al.* 2002. DNA banking for epidemiologic studies: a review of current practices. *Epidemiology* 13:246–254.
- Sugarman, J., McCrory, D. C., Powell, D., Krasny, A., Adams, B., et al., 1999. Empirical research on informed consent. *Hastings Center Report* 29:S1-S42.
- Sutrop, M. 2007. Trust. In *The Ethics and Governance of Human Genetic Databases* eds. M. Häyry, R. Chadwick, V. Árnason and G. Árnason, pp 190-198. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- The Nuremberg Code. (1947). BMJ 1996; 313: 1448.
- The Swedish National Biobank Program. http://www.biobanks.se/ (accessed in November 2009).
- UK Biobank UK. Biobank Consultation on the Ethical and Governance Framework.

 London, UK: People Science & Policy Ltd.2003.
- UK Biobank Web site. Available at:http://www.ukbiobank.ac.uk. Accessed June 29, 2009.
- UNESCO: Bioethics Committee. International Declaration on Human Genetic Data. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0013/001312/1312 04e.pdf#page=27> (2003).
- UNESCO: International declaration on human genetic data. European Journal of Health Law 2004; 11: 93–107.

- Uranga, A. M., Arribas, C. M., Jaeger, C., Posadas, M. 2005. 'Outstanding Legal and Ethical Issues on Biobanks: An overview on the regulations of member states of the EuroBioBank Project', *Law and Human Genome Review* 22:103-114.
- Ursin, L. O. 2008. Biobank research and the right to privacy. *Theoretical Medical Bioethics* 29:267–285.
- Vaught, J. B. 2006. Biorepository and Biospecimen Science: A New Focus for CEBP.

 Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Preview 15.9:1572 3.
- Vaught, J. B., Caboux, E., & Hainaut, P. 2010. International efforts to develop biospecimen best practices. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers Preview* 19(4); 912–5.
- Wang, S. S., Fridinger, F., Sheedy, K. M., Khoury, M. J. 2001. Public attitudes regarding the donation and storage of blood specimens for genetic research.

 Community Genetics 4:18-26.
- Washington Univ. v. Catalona, United States Court of Appeals, June 2007 (No. 06-2286).
- Watson, P. H., Wilson-McManus, J. E., Barnes, R. O., Giesz, S. C., Png, A., et al., 2009. Evolutionary concepts in biobanking the BC BioLibrary. *Journal of Translational Medicine* 7:95.
- Weiss, C. H. 1986. Research and Policy-making: A Limited Partnership. In *The Use* and *Abuse of Social Science* ed. F. Heller, pp 214-235. London: Sage.
- Wendler, D. 2002. What research with stored samples teaches us about research with human subjects. *Bioethics* 16.1:33-54.
- Wendler, D. & Emanuel, E. 2002. The debate over research on stored biological samples: what do sources think? *Archives of Internal Medicine* 162:1457–1462

- Wendler, D., Pace, C., Talisuna, A. O., Maiso, F., Grady, C., et al. 2005. Research on stored biological samples: The views of Ugandans. *IRB Ethics & Human Research* 27:1-5.
- White, M. T. & Gamm, J. 2002. Informed consent for research on stored blood and tissue samples: a survey of institutional review board practices. *Accountability in Research* 9: 1–16.
- Whyte, B. 2003. National tumour bank set up in United kingdom. *Journal of National Cancer Institute* 95: 706.
- Williams, G. 2005. Bioethics and large-scale biobanking: individualistic ethics and collective projects. *Genomics, Society and Policy* 1: 50–66.
- Wong, M. L., Chia, K. S., Yam, W. M., Teodro, G. R., Lau, K. W. 2004. Willingness to donate blood samples for genetic research: a survey from a community in Singapore. *Clinical Genetics* 65:45-51.
- World Health Organization. Proposed international guidelines on ethical issues in medical genetics and genetic services. Available at: http://www.who.int/genomics/publications/en/index1. html. Accessed June 29, 2009.
- World Medical Association. 2000. *Declaration of Helsinki*, adopted by the 52nd World Medical Association General Assembly, Edinburgh, Scotland.
- World Medical Association. 2004. Declaration of Helsinki, Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects, latest version available electronically at http://www.wma.net/e/policy/b3.htm.
- Yu Y-Y. & Zhu, Z-G. 2010. significance of biological resource collection and tumour tissue bank creation. World Journal of Gastrointestinal Oncology January 15, 21:5-8.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX 1

Samples specification.

- 1. Participants from Oyo State
- A1- Male Government Official urban
- A2 Male Student urban
- A3 Male Christian Leader urban
- A4 Male Community Leader urban
- A5 Female Spokesperson urban
- A6 Male Teacher urban
- A7 Male Spokesperson urban
- A8 Male Traditionalist/previous research participant urban
- A9 Male Muslim Leader urban
- A10 Male Ethicist/hypertensive
- A11 Male Scientist rural
- A12 Female Nurse rural
- A13 Male FGD urban
- A14 Female FGD urban
- A15 Male FGD rural
- A16 female FGD rural
- 2. Participants from Kano
- B1- Male Government Official urban
- B2 Male Scientist urban
- B3 Female Pharmacy Technician/Spokesperson urban
- B4 Male Community Leader urban

- B5 Male Teacher urban
- B6 Male Student urban
- B7 Male Muslim Leader urban
- B8 Male Hypertensive patient urban
- B9 Male relative of hypertensive patient urban
- B10 Male Spokesperson urban
- B11- Male Administrator/previous research participant urban
- B12 Female Spokesperson rural
- B13 Male Community Leader rural
- B14 Male Muslim Leader rural
- B15 Male spokesperson rural
- B16 Male Medical Doctor urban
- B17 Male Nurse Christian urban
- B18 Female FGD urban
- B19 Male FGD urban
- B20 Female FGD rural
- B21- Male FGD rural
- 3. Participants from the federal capital territory (FCT)
- C1 Female Nurse urban
- C2 Male Medical Doctor urban
- C3 Male Hypertensive patient/Student urban
- C4 Male Administrator urban
- C5 Male Teacher urban
- C6 Male Muslim Leader urban
- C7 Male Nurse/Spokesperson urban

- C8 Male Scientist urban
- C9 Female Spokesperson urban
- C10 Male Diabetic Patient urban
- C11 Male Christian leader urban
- C12 Female Spokesperson rural
- C13 Male Christian Leader rural
- C14 Male Spokesperson rural
- C15 Male Community Leader rural
- 4. Participants from Enugu State
- D1 Male spokesperson rural
- D2 Male Community Leader rural
- D3 Male Christian leader rural
- D4 Patient with NCD
- D5 Female Spokesperson rural
- D6 Male ethicist urban
- D7 Male Scientist urban
- D8 Male Spokesperson urban
- D9 Male Medical Doctor urban
- D10 Female Student urban
- D11 Male Lawyer 1 urban
- D12 Male Lawyer 2 urban
- D13 Male Administrator urban
- D14 Female FGD rural
- D15 Male FGD rural
- D16 Female FGD urban

D17 - Male FGD urban

D18 - Female Pharmacist urban

FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION FOR PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA - Topic Guide

General public and ethnic groups

Instructions: Hand out consent form. Give adequate opportunity for questions.

Collect the informed consent forms.

- Warm-up with personal details (family, employment, spare time interests)
- (briefly) attitudes towards health, treatment of disease and developments in medicine.
- 1. Awareness of research
- 2. Would you like to participate in research?
- 3. Would you want to discuss it with anyone, and if so, who?
- 4. How do you imagine members of your **family** would respond?
- 5. What do you understand by informed consent for biobank research or what would you want scientists to discuss with you before you give permission for your samples to be used in research?
- 6. What type of consent would you prefer?
 - (A) Broad consent If I agree to do the study, I don't want to be contacted each time. I'm going to agree to just give my information and be done with it.
 - **(B)** Tiered consent Use the sample for only non-communicable disease research and call me every single time a researcher wants to do a study with my sample in the future (note: ask of what happens after death, should we keep coming back to the family for permission? Who is the most important person to

- give permission? Supposing there is disagreement among the family members what should the researchers do?
- **(C) Restricted consent** I would rather want you to give me a list of the options of the researches you want to do with the sample.
 - 7. What you know, feel about Non Communicable Diseases (NCD)
 - 8. How keen are you to participate in NCD research
 - 9. Awareness of, and attitudes towards, biobank generally
 - 10. Key association/perceived uses of biobank research
 - 11. Overall, how do you regard biobank research compared with medical research in general? (Note any misunderstandings surrounding medical and biobank research. Is it associated more with general biological investigation or more with bigger 'single issue' research {e.g., Cancer, heart disease})? Note their level of understanding of genomics.
 - 12. Perceptions of benefits and risks of biobank research
 - 13. Key concerns about biobank research
 - 14. Sources of information and **influences on perceptions** (probe for health professionals, media, friends and family, scientific community)
 - 15. Do you believe it might have a place in your own lives and if so, how?
 - 16. Did you know that it could be used in work to combat disease and develop more effective drugs?
 - 17. Do you have any **religious or cultural views** on biobank research?
 - 18. How do you feel about the idea that your blood will be kept indefinitely?
 - 19. How does collection of information on your medical history affect your opinion about participating in the Biobank research?

- 20. What kinds of things would make you change your mind about participating in the Biobank research or what do you have as concern?
- 21. If researchers discovered something serious about your health, do you think they should let you know?
- 22. How important would it be to you to be able to get general news about studies being done through the Biobank research?
- 23. How would you feel about being contacted at a later time to participate in additional research?
- 24. How do you feel about having your donated samples shared by different researchers?
- 25. Does your opinion vary depending on whether the researchers are local or international?
- 26. What do you think about having your samples sent abroad for analyses?
- 27. In case of such international shipment, what would you like to know about what happens to the samples?
- 28. Which country would you prefer for you sample to be sent to?
- 29. Would you like to pick research studies your samples can be used in?
- 30. What do you think about the statement, "You should not expect to get individual results from research done with your blood"?

NOTE: Does this remind them of any **news or stories** they have seen or heard?

Reaction to idea in principle – what are their **first thoughts and feelings**?

Understanding of intended use, applications and potential benefits

What issues are raised, and what concerns do people have about it? (Note references to: **anonymity/confidentiality**; **consent**; mechanics of collection, sample collection and **storage**; **future use** of samples; **ownership** of samples; co-production,

involvement of **commercial interests**, the relationship between donors to the owners of the biobank, Trust and distrust, compensation for expenses incurred, provision of medical care).

Health Research Ethics Committee (HREC) assigned number: NHREC/01/01/2007

FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION FOR PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON

BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA - Consent form

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this discussion group. We are interested in

learning about your beliefs and opinions about research, Non Communicable Diseases

biobanking and the donation of specimen for research. We would like to hear what

everyone thinks so please feel free to express your views even if you disagree with the

general views of this group. All comments whether negative or positive are important.

The discussion will be recorded so that none of your comments are omitted and a report

will be prepared from the transcripts.

The study however involved the risk/harm of confidentiality and social injuries due to

the nature of some questions. Records will be kept under lock and key, limiting access

to confidential records, discarding personal identifiers from data collection forms and

computer files. Other measures that will be employed to safeguard information will

include encrypting computer databases, limiting geographic detail, and suppressing

cells in tabulated data.

You may not benefit directly from the outcome of the study but the result will be used

to carry out research on NCDs to improve human life that will be beneficial to society

at large.

Completing this form means that you have given consent to participate in this research.

What are Non Communicable Diseases and the purpose of Biobanks?

185

The purpose of the Biobanks is to collect and store tissue samples (such as blood) and health information for use in medical research. Researchers can do many kinds of studies using these materials to learn more about cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, cancer, chronic lung disease, and depression which are the major non-communicable diseases (NCDs). Some may use the samples and information to look for new ways to diagnose, treat, and maybe even prevent or cure these health problems. Others may use them to study how genes affect health and disease, or how genes affect response to treatment (genes, which are made of DNA, give the instructions for building all the proteins that make our bodies work). Some of these studies may lead to new products, such as drugs or tests for diseases.

Researchers often study tissue or blood from people who have health problems and from people who do not. The research is meant to gain knowledge that may help people in the future.

Confidentiality:

All information collected in this study will be given code numbers and no name will be recorded. This cannot be linked to you in anyway and your name or any identifier will not be used in any publication or reports from this study.

Voluntariness:

Your participation in this research is entirely voluntary.

Consequences of participants' decision to withdraw from research and procedure for orderly termination of participation:

You can also choose to withdraw from the research at anytime. Please note that some of the information that has been obtained about you before you chose to withdraw may have been modified or used in reports and publications. These cannot be removed

anymore. However the researchers promise to make good faith effort to comply with your wishes as much as is practicable.

Statement of person obtaining informed consent:

I have fully explain	ned this research to	and
have given suffic	cient information, including about risks and benef	its, to make an
informed decision		
DATE:	SIGNATURE:	
NAME:		
Statement of pers	son giving consent:	
I have read the des	scription of the research or have had it translated int	to the language I
understand. I have	e also talked it over with the doctor to my satisfacti	on. I understand
that my participation	on is voluntary. I know enough about the purpose, m	ethods, risks and
benefits of the reso	earch study to judge that I want to take part in it. I u	understand that I
may freely stop b	being part of this study at any time. I have receive	d a copy of this
consent form and a	additional information sheet to keep for myself.	
DATE:	SIGNATURE:	
NAME:		
WITNESS' SIGN.	ATURE (if applicable):	
WITNESS' NAM	E (if applicable):	
This research has b	been approved by the National Health Research Ethi	cs Committee of
the Federal Minis	stry of Health, Abuia and the Chairman of this Co	ommittee can be

contacted at the Institute of Human Virology, Abuja, FCT. The phone numbers is

08033520571. In addition, if you have any question about your participation in this research, you can contact the principal investigator,

Igbe, Michael Adikpe

West African Bioethics Training Programme,

Department of Surgery,

Faculty of Clinical Sciences,

University of Ibadan, Nigeria.

EMAIL: igbemichael@yahoo.com

Mobile: 08055101831

PLEASE KEEP A COPY OF THE SIGNED INFORMED CONSENT.

PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA - Guide for Key Informant Interview for the general population, the middle and upper level income population in 2 LGAs of FCT, Kano, Oyo and Enugu States.

1.	What do you know about research?
2.	Would you like to be a potential participant in it?
3.	What do you understand by informed consent or what would you want scientists
to di	scuss with you before you give permission for your samples to be used in
resea	rch?
4.	What type of consent do you prefer?
(a) If	I agree to do the study, I don't want to be contacted each time. I'm going to agree
to jus	t give my information and be done with it (broad consent).
(b) U	se the sample for only non-communicable disease research and call me every
single	e time a researcher wants to do a study with my sample in the future (tiered
conse	ent).
(c) I	would rather want you to give me a list of the options of the researches you want
to do	with the sample (restricted)
5.	Would you want to discuss it with anyone?
6.	If yes to Q5, who?
7.	How do you imagine members of your family would respond?
8.	What do you know, feel about Non Communicable Diseases (NCD)?

9.	How keen (interested) are you to participate in NCD research?
10.	What do you know about biobanks or repositories generally?
11.	Key associations/perceived uses of biobank research?
12.	What are your perceptions of benefits and risks of biobank research?
13.	If there is benefit, what is the benefit?
14.	What is your sources of information and influences on perceptions
15.	Do you believe it might have a place in your own live?
16.	If yes to Q15, how?
	Did you know that it could be used in work to combat disease and develop more ective drugs?
18.	Do you have any religious or cultural views on biobank research?
19.	If yes to Q18, how?
20.	Overall, how do you regard biobank research compared with medical
	research in general?
21.	How do you feel about the idea that your blood will be kept indefinitely?

22. How does collection of information on your medical history affect your opinion about participating in the Biobank research?		
23. What kinds of things would make you change your mind about participating in the Biobank research or what do you have as concern?		
24. If researchers discovered something serious about your health, do you think they should let you know?		
25. How important would it be to you to be able to get general news about studies being done through the Biobank research?		
26. How would you feel about being contacted at a later time to participate in additional research?		
27. How do you feel about having your donated samples shared by different researchers?		
28. Does your opinion vary depending on whether the researchers are local or international?		
29. What do you think about having your samples sent abroad for analyses?		
30. In case of such international shipment, what would you like to know about what happens to the samples?		

31. Would you like to pick research studies your samples can be used	in?
----------------------------------------------------------------------	-----

32. What do you think about the statement, "you should not expect to get individual results from research done with your blood"?

Health Research Ethics Committee (HREC) assigned number: NHREC/01/01/2007

KEY INFORMANT INTERVIEW FOR PUBLIC PERSPECTIVES ON

BIOBANKING IN NIGERIA - informed consent template

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this discussion group. We are interested in

learning about your beliefs and opinions about research, Non Communicable Diseases,

biobanking and the donation of specimen for research. We would like to hear what you

think so please feel free to express your views. All comments whether negative or

positive are important. The discussion will be recorded so that none of your comments

are omitted and a report will be prepared from the transcripts.

The study however involved the risk/harm of confidentiality and social injuries due to

the nature of some questions. Records will be kept under lock and key, limiting access

to confidential records, discarding personal identifiers from data collection forms and

computer files. Other measures that will be employed to safeguard information will

include encrypting computer databases, limiting geographic detail, and suppressing

cells in tabulated data.

You may not benefit directly from the outcome of the study but the result will be used

to carry out research on NCDs to improve human life that will be beneficial to society

at large.

Completing this form means that you have given consent to participate in this research.

What are Non Communicable Diseases and the purpose of Biobanks?

193

The purpose of the Biobanks is to collect and store tissue samples (such as blood) and health information for use in medical research. Researchers can do many kinds of studies using these materials to learn more about cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, cancer, chronic lung disease, and depression which are the major non-communicable diseases (NCDs). Some may use the samples and information to look for new ways to diagnose, treat, and maybe even prevent or cure these health problems. Others may use them to study how genes affect health and disease, or how genes affect response to treatment (genes, which are made of DNA, give the instructions for building all the proteins that make our bodies work). Some of these studies may lead to new products, such as drugs or tests for diseases.

Researchers often study tissue or blood from people who have health problems and from people who do not. The research is meant to gain knowledge that may help people in the future.

Confidentiality:

All information collected in this study will be given code numbers and no name will be recorded. This cannot be linked to you in anyway and your name or any identifier will not be used in any publication or reports from this study.

Voluntariness:

Your participation in this research is entirely voluntary.

Consequences of participants' decision to withdraw from research and procedure for orderly termination of participation:

You can also choose to withdraw from the research at anytime. Please note that some of the information that has been obtained about you before you chose to withdraw may have been modified or used in reports and publications. These cannot be removed

anymore. However the researchers promise to make good faith effort to comply with your wishes as much as is practicable.

Statement of person obtaining informed consent:

i nave rully explained this research to and
have given sufficient information, including about risks and benefits, to make an
informed decision.
DATE:SIGNATURE:
NAME:
Statement of person giving consent:
I have read the description of the research or have had it translated into the language
understand. I have also talked it over with the doctor to my satisfaction. I understand
that my participation is voluntary. I know enough about the purpose, methods, risks and
benefits of the research study to judge that I want to take part in it. I understand that I
may freely stop being part of this study at any time. I have received a copy of this
consent form and additional information sheet to keep for myself.
DATE:SIGNATURE:
NAME:
WITNESS' SIGNATURE (if applicable):
WITNESS' NAME (if applicable):
This research has been approved by the National Health Research Ethics Committee of
the Federal Ministry of Health, Abuja and the Chairman of this Committee can be

contacted at the Institute of Human Virology, Abuja, FCT. The phone numbers is

08033520571. In addition, if you have any question about your participation in this research, you can contact the principal investigator,

Igbe, Michael Adikpe

West African Bioethics Training Programme,

Department of Surgery,

Faculty of Clinical Sciences,

University of Ibadan, Nigeria.

EMAIL: igbemichael@yahoo.com

Mobile: 08055101831

PLEASE KEEP A COPY OF THE SIGNED INFORMED CONSENT.